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Coal Resources now total  
a massive 13 billion tonnes
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Mozambique Projects

Coal Resources identified by Riversdale in Mozambique now 

total a massive 13 billion tonnes, located on the Benga and 

Zambeze Coal Projects. This confirms the Moatize Basin’s 

status as a coal province of global significance.

At the Benga Coal Mine, a Joint Venture with Tata Steel, 

construction of Stage 1 (ROM 5.3 Mt per year) has commenced 

and is expected to be completed in the second half of 2011. 

With the increase in the Benga Coal Reserve to 502 Mt, the 

recent capital raising and all development approvals secured 

for a 20 Mt ROM per year operation, a Feasibility Study has 

commenced to confirm the economic viability of this  

expanded operation.

Riversdale also completed its first independent coking coal 

quality tests with large steelmakers, which confirmed that 

Benga’s coking coals are equal in quality to Bowen Basin  

coking coal.

At the Zambeze Project, adjacent to the Benga Coal Project, 

a Coal Resource of 9 billion tonnes has been identified. The 

Zambeze Project is similar in structure to Benga with 22 coal 

seams outcropping over a strike length of 14 kilometres  

across the northern portion of the tenement.

In June Riversdale signed a non-binding Memorandum of 

Understanding (MoU) with Wuhan Iron and Steel (Group) 

Corporation (WISCO) and a logistics partnership agreement 

with the China Communications Construction Company  

(CCCC) for the development of the Zambeze Project.

The MoU provides for the acquisition by WISCO of 40% of  

the Zambeze Project for a total consideration of US$800 million 

to be paid in three tranches and subject to achievement of 

certain milestones. Completion of the transaction is scheduled 

for October 2010 and will value the Zambeze Project at  

US$2.0 billion.

WISCO, a steel producer of global significance, will earn the 

right to purchase at least 40% of the coking coal produced  

from Zambeze, and the right to purchase at least 10% of the 

coking coal produced from the Benga Project, in each case  

on market terms. 

The key to unlocking the potential of the Zambeze Project 

is the ability to deliver efficient coal handling logistics and 

infrastructure. Through our agreement with CCCC, we will  

have access to the largest port construction company in China, 

a leading company in road and bridge construction and design, 

a leading railway construction company and the second largest 

dredging company in the world.

Zululand Anthracite Colliery (ZAC)

ZAC generated strong operating earnings of $13.4 million 

(2009: $17.7 million) before interest, income tax and non-

controlling interests. Anthracite markets have improved and 

ZAC sold significant volumes during the year. The EBIT at ZAC 

was impacted by higher operating costs as difficult mining 

conditions were encountered.

The Ngwabe Project is on schedule and budget. The Project 

consists of a new 1,250 meter decline and a vertical shaft, 

allowing access to a new mining area at ZAC and extending  

the mine life to over 13 years.

Financial Performance

The Company has recorded a loss after tax and minorities of 

$779,000 for the year, down on the previous year profit of 

$300,000. The loss reflects the reduced EBIT at ZAC and  

lower interest income.

With the completion of a fully underwritten capital raising which 

raised $337 million in July 2010 and the funding expected from 

WISCO, the Company is well placed and ready to accelerate the 

Mozambique developments. 

I would like to acknowledge and thank the directors, employees 

and contractors who have contributed significantly to the 

development of the Company over the last twelve months. 

M O’KEEFFE 
Executive Chairman

CHAIRmAN’S STATEmENT

Riversdale has had another successful year in 2009/10 and 

is pressing ahead with an aggressive growth plan, which  

now includes the development of two Tier 1 coal projects.

It has been an exciting year with a number of significant 

developments, including the expansion of Coal Reserves  

and Resources in Mozambique, the progressing of funding  

for these developments and the signing of MoU’s with  

WISCO and CCCC in respect to the Zambeze Project.
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ZULULAND ANTHRACITE COLLIERY (ZAC)

The run of mine (ROM) coal production was 753,600 tonnes 

(2009: 809,259 tonnes) for the year ended 30 June 2010,  

a decrease of 7%. The resulting saleable production of prime  

low ash was 493,433 tonnes (2009: 565,377 tonnes) and 

middlings of 151,536 tonnes (2009: 140,971 tonnes). Plant feed 

throughput for the year was 783,337 tonnes (2009: 841,751 

tonnes) and average yield reduced from 84% in 2009 to 82%  

in 2010.

Mining during the year was from the Outcrop, Western Extension 

and Deep E Block using both conventional and continuous 

mining methods. The Deep E shaft has proven to be geologically 

challenging with water, various faults, dykes and other geological 

disturbances being encountered. This resulted in lower ROM 

production compared with the previous year.

ZAC Sales & Production

100% (Riversdale Share 74%)
30 June 2010 30 June 2009

Tonnes Tonnes

ROM 753,600 809,259

Plant Feed 783,337 841,751

Yield 82% 84%

Saleable Coal Production

Prime Low Ash 493,433 565,377

Middlings 151,536 140,971

Total 644,969 706,348

Coal Sales

Prime Low Ash 635,075 505,831

Middlings 218,014 56,965

Total 853,089 562,796
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Product sales for the year amounted to 853,089 tonnes  

(2009: 562,796 tonnes), with sales of both prime and middlings 

significantly up compared to the previous year. The demand for 

high quality anthracite on both the domestic and export markets 

has been favourable. Pricing has started moving upwards  

with this improved demand resulting in the current sales  

levels being achieved.
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Ngwabe Block

The Ngwabe project consists of a new 1,250 meter decline and  

a vertical shaft, allowing access to a new mining area at ZAC  

and extending the mine life.

The project is on schedule and well within the approved budget.  

A number of enhancements have been implemented in the  

shaft design in order to improve the long term functionality  

of the shaft system.

OPERATIONS  
AND EXPLORATION
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MOZAMBIQUE

5

Substantial tenement holding in the Moatize Basin -  

The Next Major Coal Region 

•	 	Tata Steel hold a 35% equity stake in Benga and 

1319 tenements

•	 	All other licences are 100% held by Riversdale 

(Pending definitive agreement on Zambeze Project)

•	 	Globally significant resource companies hold licences 

directly adjacent to Riversdale landholdings, including 

Vale, CAMEC (ENRC), Nippon Steel, Jindal and ETAStar 

•	 	Hard coking coal quality equivalent to the Bowen Basin
Maputo, Mozambique
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BENGA COAL PROJECT (Concession 3365C)

(Riversdale share 65%, Tata Steel 35%)

Presidential Inauguration

The Benga Coal Project was formally approved for development 

by Riversdale and Tata Steel in October 2009. The Project was 

officially opened on 13 April 2010 during a Presidential Ground 

Breaking Ceremony attended by the President of the Republic  

of Mozambique, His Excellency Armando Emilio Guebuza.

The official ceremony follows a series of milestones already 

achieved by the Company in Mozambique, with the first exports 

of Benga coal expected in the second half of 2011.

Government Approvals

The Company and the Minister of Mineral Resources have signed 

the Mining Contract, which governs the regulatory regime of the 

Benga Coal project. This includes the issuance by the Government 

of the Mining Concession for 25 years initially.

Approval for the Environmental Impact Study (’EIS’) on the project 

has been granted by the Ministério para a Coordenação da Acção 

Ambiental (’MICOA’), the regulatory authority for environment 

within the Government of Mozambique, for a 20 million tonne  

per year coking and thermal coal project.

Benga Coal Resources and Reserves 

The estimate of Coal Resources on the Benga Licence was 

significantly upgraded to 4.0 billion tonnes, with Coal Reserves 

increasing to 502 Mt in May 2010. This increase in the Coal  

Reserves base supports the strategy to fast track the 

development of a 20 Mtpa coal mine at Benga.

Major Contracts Awarded

A contract for open pit mining was signed with MCC Contracts 

Pty Limited (’MCC’), which covers the mining and associated 

services required for the initial Stage 1 development of the  

project (5.3 million ROM tonnes per year). MCC is one of Africa’s  

leading mining contractors with an extensive track record in 

surface contract mining and experience in a range of markets  

and operating conditions for coal and hard rock mining. 

The Coal Handling and Processing Plant (’CHPP’) Design,  

Supply and Construction contracts were finalised and awarded  

to Sedgman Limited (’Sedgman’). Sedgman is a leading provider 

of mineral processing and associated infrastructure solutions to 

the global resources industry. 

Both major contractors have mobilised to site and construction 

operations are currently underway.

Mining facilities required to assemble the mining fleet, which 

is due to arrive within the next few months are currently being 

prepared for the earth and civil works to commence.

In accordance with the signed Project Labour Agreement (’PLA’), 

contractors who have been awarded various construction tenders 

have utilised the abundance of basic skills imparted through the 

Riversdale training system.

Infrastructure

Outbound logistic efforts have progressed with headline 

agreements relating to the Moatize rail siding as well as the  

Beira Port being reached with the principal shareholder, Portos  

e Caminhos de Ferro de Mozambique E.P (’CFM’). The Riversdale 

Moatize rail siding option has been agreed to and approved by 

CFM and Vale as well as by local government administration.

Engineering designs, procurement and related activities for the 

refurbishment and upgrading of the port of Beira are progressing 

well with completion and commissioning expected in the second 

half of 2011.

The Company is also working on other transport alternatives for an 

expanded Benga Project and the Zambeze Project. This including 

barging down the Zambezi River with transhipment at Chinde and 

the Nacala railway corridor and port.

President Guebuza and RIV Executive Chairman Michael O’Keeffe

OPERATIONS  
AND EXPLORATION
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Chinde
 (2012)

Zambezi Barging + Transhipment

•  Detailed technical studies continuing

•  Considered technically feasible

• Attractive cost structures

•  Large capacity potential, possibly greater than 

20 Mtpa 

•  Ability to control logistics chain

•  Environmental and Social Impact Assessment 

commenced

•  Technical competencies of CCCC’s available 

through Zambeze MoU

Nacala Railway Corridor & Port
(2016)

Large Capacity, Deepwater Port

•  900km from Benga

•  120km of new track required

•  High volume rail line upgrade required

•  Potential capacity in excess of 40 Mtpa 

•  Funding allocated by donor governments

•  Oct’09 – Government secured a US$500m 

loan towards Nacala construction

7

Option 3
Rail to Nacala

25-7 Mtpa

Option 2
Barge to Chinde

20+ Mtpa

Option 1
Rail to Beira
24-30 Mtpa

National capital

Provincial capital

Town, village

Airport

International boundary

Provincial boundary

Main road

Railroad

Approx. Location of 
Benga Licence Area
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Barging

Riversdale undertook detailed bathymetric and hydrology 

surveys of the full length of the river from the Benga mine site 

at Tete, to 10 kilometres beyond the mouth of the river. The 

results of this survey together with other work are encouraging 

and the Company commenced a full feasibility study of barge 

transportation. River surveying and channel design studies are 

continuing. 

Work on the Environmental and Social Impact Assessment 

(‘ESIA’) is progressing in accordance with the project schedule. 

During June 2010 the ESIA Scoping Study Report was submitted 

for review and comment to MICOA. 

The Scoping Study is a significant milestone in the ESIA approval 

process. The report contains a description of the project and the 

receiving environment and outlines the studies and consultative 

work that is proposed to be undertaken. The Scoping Study is 

used by MICOA to establish the Terms of Reference for the 

Impact Assessment Phase of the ESIA. An 18 meter long work 

barge with accommodation for work crews was completed and 

will be used as a floating platform to support vibro-core sampling 

of the river bottom.

BENGA POWER PLANT

The proposed Benga Power Plant (BPP) will be located in the Tete 

province of Mozambique in close proximity to the Benga Coal 

Project which will supply thermal coal to the plant. Under the plan, 

the BPP will be developed in 2 stages, initially involving a 500MW 

coal-fired, mine-mouth power station (Stage 1) expected to be 

completed during 2013 using existing transmission assets. 

Stage 2 involves an upgrade to a capacity of 2,000MW depending 

upon installation of the proposed transmission backbone and 

other transmission capacity. The BPP will help meet regional 

demand in Mozambique (EDM) and South Africa (Eskom) as well 

as supply the Benga Mine. As a power project, it is expected to 

have a competitive cost structure given its proximity to the mine 

and Zambezi River.

During the year, Riversdale advanced a number of important 

milestones in relation to the project. Riversdale received the 

approval from MICOA for the BPP to proceed based on the 

Environmental Impact Study (’EIS’).

Discussions with potential off-takers have progressed and a non-

binding MoU was agreed with a regional industrial group which is 

expected to be a purchaser of power from the BPP. Furthermore, 

the BPP and EDM signed an MoU that governs the process 

for the development of a transmission agreement between the 

parties. The process leading to definitive agreements outlined  

in these memoranda is expected to be advanced in the second 

half of 2010. 

ZAMBEZE COAL PROJECT (EPL946L)

(Riversdale 100%)

WISCO Memorandum of Understanding

The Company announced in June 2010 that it had signed a 

non-binding Memorandum of Understanding (’MoU’) with 

Wuhan Iron and Steel (Group) Corporation (’WISCO’) and a 

logistics partnership agreement with the China Communications 

Construction Company (’CCCC’) for the development of the 

Zambeze Coal Project (‘Zambeze’) in Mozambique.

The MoU provides for the acquisition by WISCO of 40% of 

the Zambeze Coal Project (EPL 946L) in the Tete Province of 

Mozambique for a total consideration of US$800 million to be 

paid in three tranches and subject to achievement of certain 

milestones. When completed, the transaction values Zambeze  

at US$2.0 billion.

In addition, at the date of signing of the definitive agreements, 

WISCO will be issued 8.0% of the ordinary shares in the 

Company at an agreed price of $10.00 per share.

WISCO will earn the right to purchase at least 40% of the coking 

coal produced from Zambeze, and the right to purchase at least 

10% of the coking coal produced from the Benga Project, in each 

case on market terms.

The MoU also covers the facilitation by WISCO, along with CCCC 

and other Chinese companies, of a comprehensive study of 

mine-to-ship logistics to enable the export of large tonnages of 

coal products from the Zambeze Coal Project to ports for export 

markets. WISCO will also facilitate the participation of a number 

of Chinese financial institutions in arranging the necessary  

project finance.

OPERATIONS  
AND EXPLORATION
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The MoU is non-binding, pending completion of definitive 

agreements within 120 days of signing the MoU. WISCO will 

subscribe for 8% of the ordinary shares in Riversdale Mining 

Limited upon signing of the definitive agreements. The  

US$800 million consideration for the 40% interest in  

Zambeze is subject to achievement of certain milestones  

and the consideration will take the form of three tranches:

•	 	US$200 million will be paid on completion and signing of 

the definitive agreements covering the joint venture for  

the Zambeze Coal Project; 

•	 	US$150 million will be paid on the successful completion of 

the feasibility study for Zambeze, subject to meeting agreed 

milestones including establishing the commercial viability of 

developing and operating the Zambeze Coal Project to produce 

not less than 30 million ROM tonnes of coal per annum and 

evaluation of Zambeze based on the estimated coal resources 

and reserves; and,

•	 	US$450 million will be paid on the granting of the mining 

contract, mining licence, final environmental approval and  

other necessary regulatory approvals required to proceed  

with development of the Zambeze Coal Project.

In the event that the milestones are not achieved, the 

consideration paid to date will be refunded to WISCO, less their 

share of feasibility study and project costs incurred and WISCO’s 

interest in the Zambeze project will be returned to Riversdale. 

Zambeze Coal Resources

During May 2010 the Company announced an upgrade of its 

Coal Resource estimate for EPL946L to 9.04 billion tonnes, of 

which 2.36 billion tonnes is an Indicated Resource. The geological 

structure is similar to Benga with 22 coal seams outcropping over 

a strike length of 14 kilometres across the northern portion of  

the tenement.

Mine Planning

The Zambeze Project study team have reviewed a number  

of conceptual mine plans covering the revised Indicated and  

Inferred Coal Resource of 9.0 billion tonnes. These options are 

being refined to determine the optimal approach to develop the 

mine including processing and logistics. The deposit will be able 

to support a high volume mining operation in which significant 

economies of scale can be realised. This will involve the use of 

cost efficient mining techniques including electric shovels and  

in pit crushing and conveying systems.

Detailed mine planning has progressed, including a range of 

technical workshops held to determine the best approach for the 

most effective development of the deposit. The workshops have 

addressed issues in large scale mining in the Moatize Basin, raw 

coal handling and liberation and the appropriate coal beneficiation 

technology, coupled with achievable ramp up and market 

acceptance scenarios. 

Mine Development Drilling

The laboratory analysis results from the HQ infill coring program 

across the open cut resource area in the central northern portion 

of EPL946L have been received. The results are being modelled 

on a ply by ply basis within a geological database as the key input 

into the mine planning effort.

An extensive infill drilling program has been planned, reviewed, 

and has commenced over the 25 square kilometre open cut target 

resource area for initial mining. The program also includes large 

diameter core sampling, hydrological test work, and detailed fault 

and LOX delineation. 

Drilling will continue in EPL946L throughout 2010 to enhance the 

resource status and further define the structural framework in the 

license area.

Coal Quality

At 30 June 2010, 50 cored holes have been used to analyse the coal 

quality across the Zambeze resource. Laboratory analyses indicate 

that the Zambeze resource consists of a hard coking coal and a 

secondary thermal coal fraction. The relative split between coking 

coal and thermal coal fractions is similar to the Benga resource.

The HQ infill drilling programme has commenced and will enable  

a more detailed assessment of coal quality.

OTHER RIVERSDALE EXPLORATION LICENCES (RIV 100%)

Exploration Drilling

Reconnaissance open hole drilling, and minor partial core drilling 

was undertaken across the Changara, Chitima and Cahora Basa 

Project area leases. 

Ongoing challenging geological conditions in remote locations 

posed drilling issues and at times slowed drilling production, but 

the end of the wet season in the March quarter simplified access 

and made work sites much safer.

Interpretation of the drilling results continues with some positive 

results being confirmed. Subject to completion of seam correlations 

and structural interpretation, the creation of multi lease coverage 

geological models are well advanced. These models will be 

completed during the second half of 2010 and will assist in resource 

assessment of the Changara, Chitima and Cahora Basa leases.
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The Company is committed to produce its products in an 

environmentally responsible manner, ensuring the optimal  

health and safety of all our employees, contractors and other 

interested and affected parties. Riversdale commits to the 

efficient use of natural resources and aspires to “Zero Harm”  

to people and the environment. Rehabilitation at ZAC is 

an ongoing program which is being constantly monitored 

and reviewed by management to ensure the environment 

is rehabilitated in areas where mining activities have been 

completed. 

Health and Safety Performance

During the 2009/10 financial year Riversdale Mining Limited 

consolidated its safety efforts between the South African and the 

Mozambique operations. The annual baseline safety performance 

for the group has been established following standardisation 

and centralisation of reporting and reporting standards. Uniform 

thresholds have been established utilising available historical 

information as well as international benchmarking with similar 

operations.

Where appropriate, in country regulatory frameworks were 

considered during the establishment of reporting and general 

standards. In terms of legal compliance, the South African Mine 

Health and Safety Act is used as a minimum for compliance 

measurement as mining related health and safety legislation  

in Mozambique is for the most part still being developed.

Statistics and Accident Analysis

A total of 43 accidents were reported for the financial year. 

ZAC reduced their total accidents from 19 in the previous financial 

year to 17 accidents during the period in review. Despite this 

reduction, one of the 17 accidents reported for the year included 

Mr Joseph Ndwandwe who was fatally injured in a methane gas 

explosion in Section 9 at the Deep E Shaft on the 26th of October 

2009. Internal and external investigations into the accident 

have been undertaken and all recommendations have been 

implemented.

ZAC has completed 8 months Lost Time Injuries (LTI) free and  

the last LTI was recorded on 26 of October 2009.

Riversdale in Mozambique recorded a total of 26 accidents 

during the financial year. This performance will be utilised as the 

baseline for future measurements and improvement comparisons. 

RivMoz appointed two Safety Officers and a Health and Safety 

Superintendent in January and February 2010 respectively.  

The department was also strengthened with the appointment  

of a Health and Safety Manager in June 2010.

Of all recorded accidents, 58% involved Riversdale employees 

with contractors accounting for the remaining 42%. At ZAC 

94% of all accidents were related to own employees, with 

contractor injuries being more prevalent in Mozambique. 

Contractor management has become one of the key priorities. 

A comprehensive Contractor Management System is in 

implementation phase. 

The contractor management documentation was reviewed and 

included with tender documents. Weekly contractors’ meetings 

have also been established to improve communication and safety 

awareness with contractors.

The All Injury Frequency Rate (AIFR) at 30 June 2010 on a twelve 

month rolling average basis has decreased to 9.49 from the 

previous year’s 9.90. 
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The Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) at 30 June 2010 on 

a twelve month rolling average basis has decreased to 1.32 from 

the previous year’s 1.76. This is below the threshold target of 1.69.
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Accidents were analysed to identify trends as well as potential 

focus areas. According to the Accident Category Analysis, the 

largest category of accidents occurred by Struck Against (23%). 

This category includes minor accidents where the injured was 

struck by various items resulting in minor bruises and scratches. 

The next largest category was material handling, representing  

14% of accidents. 

HEALTH, SAFETY  
AND ENVIRONmENT
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In terms of causes, non-adherence to standards and procedures 

remains the single biggest contributor to all accidents. A 

significant 52% of all accidents occurred due to non adherence 

to standards and procedures. This statistic indicates that the zero 

tolerance for at risk behaviour is not strictly enforced. Poor Hazard 

Identification was identified as an underlying factor in 27% of the 

accidents. Intense Hazard Identification, Risk Assessment and 

Control (HIRAC) training has been rolled out to all the operations. 

The HIRAC training course was completed by the entire workforce 

at ZAC and at Riversdale Mozambique. HIRAC Training for 

contractors is ongoing as site establishment takes place.

Significant Motor Incident Analysis

Numerous motor vehicle related accidents occurred in 

Mozambique, which were mostly on public roads. 

Some incidents indicated poor driving ability or poor judgment 

on the part of the driver, hence driver re-assessments has been 

put in place together with a process where driver’s permits are 

renewed at a predetermined frequency.

Speeding and the disobeying of traffic signs have also been 

highlighted as a concern, mostly amongst civilian road users in 

and around the Tete area. An awareness campaign, involving  

local authorities, employees, contractors and pedestrians has 

been embarked upon.

A traffic management plan for the Tete sites, incorporating 

additional traffic wardens, speed control systems and signage 

was also completed and implemented on the Mine for proper 

traffic control and safety.

5 Year Safety Strategy

A long term corporate safety strategy was completed in May 

2010. The transition from the current strategy to the revised  

5 year strategy includes measurement of performance against  

the revised strategy starting in the 2010/11 financial year and 

using the 2009/10 financial year as baseline.

Five critical requirements have been identified that must be 

actively pursued in order to realise a step-change in safety 

performance. These critical requirements are:

1. Zero Harm Protocols

•	 Each site to identify Zero Harm Protocols 

•	 	Two internal and one external Zero Harm Peer Review per annum

•	 Achieve 95% Zero Harm Protocol compliance by 30 June 2012.

2.  Integrated Safety, Health, Environmental and Quality (SHEQ) 

Management. To develop, implement and maintain an approved 

Integrated SHEQ Management System based on recognised 

international standards.

3. Pro-Active Participation

•	 	Implement and maintain a system aimed at the pro-active 

measurement and quantification of risks and behaviours to 

prevent personal injury

•	 	Maintain a Near Miss Reporting rate of 0.15 

(Per 1000 employees)

•	 Total reduction of 25% in the LTIFR by 30 June 2016.

4.  Contractor Management. To develop, implement and maintain  

a management system for suppliers, contractors and partners.

5. Training to be completed by 30 June 2010

•	 	Safety leadership development: Visible shop floor leadership 

training to all site management 

•	 	Risk Competency: All line management and supervisors to 

undergo Supervisor Safety Training 

•	 	HIRAC Refresher training to all Riversdale employees and 

contractors. 

Derived from the analysis of the status of safety management and 

performance throughout Riversdale, the focus for the coming year 

will include:

•	 	Behaviour based safety system implementation at all 

operations with emphasis on Safety Observations by 

supervisors in the field

•	 Continued HIRAC training for employees and contractors

•	 	Completion of legal compliance verification audits at all 

operations

•	 	Contractor management documentation and systems 

implemented and enforced

•	 	IT based Group Safety Management System identification 

and implementation

•	 	Standardization of safety standards and documentation 

between operations

Lifting

Falling Objects

Environmental 
Conditions

Struck Against
23%

Material 
Handling

14%

Trip 
and Fall

12%

Mobile
Machinery

9%

Gas 
Explosion

9%

Handling 
of tools

9%

Handling of Hazardous 
Chemicals

Housekeeping

3%

3%
3% 3%

6%

6%

Accident Category

Poor Housekeeping

Poor Management 
of change

Non Adherence 
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and Procedures
52%Poor Hazard

 Identification
27%

Unsafe
Conditions

12%6%

3%
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Community Relations and Sustainability

In South Africa, Riversdale holds 74% of both Zululand Anthracite 

Colliery (Proprietary) Limited (ZAC) and Riversdale Anthracite 

Colliery (Proprietary) Limited (RAC) with the remaining 26% of 

both companies being owned by Black Economically Empowered 

partners (BEE).

The Company elected to meet the BEE ownership requirements 

at the time of acquisition. The minority 26% BEE shareholder of 

ZAC, Maweni Mining Consortium (Proprietary) Limited, is jointly 

owned by the ZAC employees, four communities surrounding  

the mine and three independent BEE businesses.

ZAC contributes to a wide range of local community programs 

and organisations, which has a positive social impact on the 

local and regional community. ZAC provides direct and indirect 

employment and is the largest single employer in the region with 

768 employees and 302 contractors. 

Increased access to health and education for the local community 

has been provided by ZAC in the form of a mobile clinic, HIV AIDS 

education, provision of classrooms and financial contributions to 

the local authorities.

Two local community members produced outstanding matric 

results and were awarded full-time bursaries to further their 

studies at the University of Kwa-Zulu Natal in geology and  

finance respectively. 

Twenty community members received bursaries to further their 

studies in the mechanical and engineering fields at Further 

Education and Training colleges.

Five employees underwent the Learner Miner Training 

Programme, a partnership with Mining Qualifications Authority, 

with all 5 successfully completing the programme, with 4 of 

them receiving outstanding results. The position of Miner was 

previously regarded as a hard-to-fill vacancy at ZAC, however 

since the advent of this programme that situation has been 

reversed.

Education plays a key role in the fight against poverty and as such 

Adult Basic Education and Training courses are provided at the 

ABET accredited ZAC training centre at no cost to employees and 

community members.

In Mozambique, the Project Labour Agreement (’PLA’) was 

finalised and signed by Riversdale and the Construction, Wood 

and Mineworkers Union of Mozambique. 

The agreement is a comprehensive policy document which 

describes the terms and conditions for staff employed during the 

construction phase of the project. The document further supports 

the principles of giving employment preference to local labour 

and for the basis for training and developing locally recruited 

employees.

In Tete, Riversdale has developed a Labour Business 

Management Information System (LBMIS). The LBMIS is a 

database where local Mozambicans can register their personal 

details, level of education, qualifications, skills and experience.  

To date, over 23 000 locals have registered their interest in being 

trained and working for Riversdale or one of the Riversdale 

contractors. Of these 1,176 local residents have already been 

trained on basic building and constructions skills and some have 

already been employed by contractors working on the Benga 

construction projects.

The Trainee Geologist Scheme initiated 24 months ago has 

yielded positive results. Offers to work as geologists for 

Riversdale Mozambique have been made to and accepted 

by four of the Mozambican trainee geologists, who have now 

successfully completed their 24 month developmental training. 

This training initiative contributes towards local skills development 

in Mozambique and is yielding positive results.

To commemorate World Aids Day on 1 December 2009, ZAC 

provided employees with information about how to prevent 

infection as well as the spread of HIV/Aids. In Mozambique,  

a distribution of promotional information was made to employees 

to reinforce awareness in this regard. This was supported by the 

screening of a film on HIV/Aids to employees and the delivery of 

an HIV / AIDS awareness presentation at the Training Centre.  

The activities were designed to support the national campaign 

which encourages people to undergo testing.

HEALTH, SAFETY  
AND ENVIRONmENT
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Environment

The protection of the natural environment is of strategic 

importance and Riversdale’s desire to leave a legacy of  

sound environmental management practices is absolute.

The risk management team is responsible for identification, 

implementation and the review of all statutory and corporate 

requirements regarding the environment. Continuous monitoring 

of dust, surface and ground water is performed to minimise the 

impact on air quality and water resources. 

Energy consumption and other aspects affecting sustainable 

development are also recorded and communicated monthly  

to senior management and the Riversdale Board.

During the 2009/10 financial year a number of milestones were 

achieved both in Mozambique, at the Company’s Benga project as 

well as in South Africa at the Zululand Anthracite Colliery operation. 

Riversdale Mozambique Limitada was issued with an 

Environmental License for its Benga Coal Project as well as for  

the proposed Benga Power Station adjacent to the Benga mine. 

This was a positive outcome after months of dedicated effort  

from the team in Mozambique. 

The Environmental Impact Assessments submitted to the  

relevant authorities in Mozambique complied with the most 

stringent international standards, including that of the World Bank. 

The granting of the Environmental license for the mine and the 

power station affirms Riversdale’s position in Mozambique as  

that of a nationally significant player.

At ZAC in South Africa, the process of monitoring activities  

related to the approved Environmental Management Plan 

continued. ZAC has started the rehabilitation process utilising  

the detailed closure assessment. 

This assessment covers the entire mining area and ensures that 

sufficient funds are maintained for the mine’s eventual closure plan. 

ZAC prides itself with its ongoing environmental rehabilitation 

of closed operational areas. The M-Block operation situated 

approximately 45km from the mine complex has been 

successfully rehabilitated, with the rehabilitation at the mined  

out Kwa-Sheleza Shaft progressing exceptionally well. 

Continuous Compliance

Riversdale makes use of objective internal as well as external 

assessments of the real impact of the operations on the 

environment and the effectiveness of the implemented measures. 

Where applicable, all external audit functions are carried out 

utilising reputable service providers and consultants with the 

necessary expertise and experience.

Significant Events – 2009/10:

Zululand Anthracite Colliery (ZAC):

•	 	A legal compliance audit was conducted by an external party 
during mid 2009. Areas of non compliances were identified, 
addressed and recorded on the Remedial Action Plan. 
Outstanding issues are currently being addressed. 

•	 	Plant pollution control dams and discard dump have been 
upgraded.

•	 	Railway siding (partly) and old Delmas Plant area have been 
rehabilitated.

•	 	Water registration in terms of government notices has been 
submitted to government agencies on 30 August 2009.

•	 	A Joint Compliance Inspection by a number of government 
departments was conducted during 2010, with positive 
feedback received. Any sub standard conditions identified  
have been addressed and rectified accordingly.

•	 	Rehabilitation of Kwa-Sheleza defunct mine commenced on 
1 May 2010.

•	 Ongoing external and internal audits have been conducted.

Riversdale Mozambique Limitada (Benga Mine)

•	 	Submission and approval received of the Environmental 
Impact Study (EIS) for Benga mine and power station.

•	 Commenced with the EIS for the barging process.

•	 	Appointment of an Environmental Manager for the 
Riversdale group.

• Monitoring and reporting is ongoing on legal requirements.

The focus for the coming year will include;

•	 	Development, approval and implementation of a Riversdale 
Environmental Policy and Environmental Management Strategy

•	 	Development, approval, implementation and reporting on 
Environmental Strategy

•	 	Annual external audits to be conducted as well as ongoing 
internal inspections and field audits

•	 Ongoing rehabilitation of disturbed areas.

•	 Re-assessment of the ZAC discard dumps. 

Kwa-Sheleza Shaft before Rehabilitation

Kwa-Sheleza Shaft after Rehabilitation
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Benga Resettlement Action Plan

As part of phase 1 of the Benga mine development project, 

approximately 59 households need to be relocated to an area 

called Mwaladzi situated approximately 50km from the Benga 

mine site. Preparations for the relocation of the affected families 

are progressing well with construction of the host town at 

Mwaladzi on schedule. This follows official Government approval 

of the Riversdale Resettlement Action Plan (’RAP’) and the 

subsequent construction license approval by the Provincial 

Resettlement Committee.

The Mwaladzi village will eventually accommodate in excess of 

500 families relocated from the Benga concession area. 

The village will be self sufficient with schooling, agricultural 

activities and the like. The structured interactive approach with 

the community leaders in the affected area is improving steadily 

as many community activities are taking place. In addition, a social 

development committee has been established to manage several 

mutually agreed-to development projects. 

These projects have been supplemented with a good deed day 

initiative where many community incentives were celebrated with 

the involvement of all the senior Benga project team members.

Riversdale has provided a group of families directly affected by 

the RAP with agricultural inputs and expertise through its RAP 

team members. The project purpose is to assist the families being 

relocated to Mwaladzi to meet basic needs through purchasing 

vegetables locally while the hosting community benefits by  

having a market for its produce. 

The nursery will be used for cultivation of fruit trees for the 

resettled families. To date, approximately 2 hectares of tomatoes, 

cabbages, onions, carrots and other vegetables have been 

developed by the community. The objective of the program is to 

create a long term sustainable business for the resettled families.

Equal Opportunity Employer 

Riversdale provides an environment that prohibits discrimination 

on any basis not directly related to job requirements. These 

include discrimination or unfair treatment based on age, sex, race, 

colour, national or ethnic origin, pregnancy or marital status, family 

responsibilities, physical impairment, religious or political beliefs 

or sexual preference. The only grounds for hiring, promotions, 

dismissals, transfers and training opportunities are merit, ability 

and past work performance. 

This is evidenced by the senior positions Riversdale female 

employees hold. These include 2 positions on subsidiary boards 

and many senior management positions including Group General 

Manager – Human Resources, Company Secretary for the South 

African Subsidiaries, Legal Manager, Process Manager, Health 

and Safety officer and many other positions held by female 

employees. 

Riversdale has a legal and ethical responsibility to protect its 

employees from harassment. Behaviour which causes fear or 

humiliation or which prevents a person doing their job properly 

becomes harassment when it continues despite a clear indication 

that it is offensive.

If employees witness behaviour towards another person that is 

clearly unacceptable, employees should intervene. If employees 

experience such behaviour, an unequivocal statement to the 

person concerned that the behaviour is unwelcome, unacceptable 

and must stop should be made.

If harassment continues despite warnings and counselling, 

then Riversdale management regards this behaviour as serious 

misconduct. The person concerned will be subject to disciplinary 

procedures and may be summarily dismissed.

Dealing with External Parties

When dealing with external parties, the objective of Riversdale 

is to compete in the market on the basis of superior products, 

services and competitive prices. No payment in any form shall be 

made directly or indirectly to anyone for the purpose of obtaining 

or retaining business, or to obtain any other favourable action. 

No gift should be accepted from a supplier or customer unless 

the gift has insubstantial value and a refusal to accept it would be 

discourteous or otherwise harmful to Riversdale. This also applies 

to giving gifts to suppliers or customers. 

Entertainment in any form that is likely to result in an expectation 

of personal obligation should not be accepted. All correspondence 

with government bodies must be approved by a Director. 

Riversdale has a delegation of authority document that outlines 

financial and other limits that have been delegated by the board 

of Directors to management and employees. Compliance with 

the delegation of authority is reviewed by management and the 

internal audit function.

  

HEALTH, SAFETY  
AND ENVIRONmENT
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FINANCE

Net loss for the year ended 30 June 2010 after tax and minorities 

was $779,000 (2009: Profit $300,000). 

Zululand Anthracite Colliery (ZAC) operating earnings before 

interest, income tax and non-controlling interests in the current 

year was $13.4 million, compared with $17.7 million in 2009. 

Increased sale volumes during the year were offset by higher 

mining costs, royalties, and depreciation.

Interest income reduced by $7.2 million compared to the  

prior year due to lower market interest rates and reduced  

cash on hand.

The basic loss per share was 0.40 cents (2009: earnings 0.16 

cents) and directors have not declared or paid a dividend for the 

year. Consolidated Entity operating cash flow for the year was 

$28.1 million (2009: $19.3 million) and funds were invested with 

$55.9 million spent on plant and equipment and $25.7 million on 

exploration activities. 

The strong ZAC sales during the year reduced inventory levels, 

and increased cash receipts from customers resulting in the 

increased operating cash flow. This was partly offset by reduced 

cash receipts from interest income.

The balance sheet at year end is strong, with net assets totalling 

$506.1 million (2009: $506.7 million) and $247.3 million in cash 

available at 30 June 2010.

Subsequent to the year end, the Company undertook a fully 

underwritten capital raising which raised $337 million at a 

fixed offer price of $9.40 per share to facilitate accelerated 

development of the Benga Coal Project and exploration on 

Mozambique tenements.

The capital raising comprises a $102 million fully-underwritten 

institutional placement and a 1 for 8 fully-underwritten accelerated 

non-renounceable pro-rata entitlement offer to all eligible 

shareholders. The Entitlement Offer comprises an institutional 

component of approximately $174 million and a retail component 

of approximately $61 million.

OUTLOOK

With the confirmation of a 502 Mt Coal Reserve at Benga and 

funds raised in July and August 2010, there will be expedited 

development of the premium coking and thermal coal Benga 

project, with a production target of 20 Mtpa ROM by 2013.

The extra funds raised will also allow expanded exploration 

activities on the outlying tenements to better understand  

the geological potential of these licences.

The evaluation of the Benga Power Project will continue with  

a view to receiving necessary regulatory approvals. Negotiations 

with potential developers, financiers and off-take parties will  

be progressed as the final Feasibility Study is advanced.

Development alternatives for the Zambeze Project will be 

progressed and infill drilling will commence. Completion of  

the definitive agreements whereby WISCO will acquire  

40% interest will be progressed

In South Africa, the development of the Ngwabe Project 

will continue. An exploration program to evaluate additional 

opportunities in the ZAC resource area is being considered and 

the establishment of additional pit room in the current workings 

remain a priority. The mining right application submitted to the 

Department of Mineral Resources is in the process of being 

assessed and is expected to be granted during the 2010/11 

financial year. 

FINANCE  
AND OUTLOOK
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Zululand Anthracite Colliery (ZAC) (Riversdale Share 74%) as at 30 June 2009

COAL RESERVES

Area Category Percentage 
Extraction

Percentage  
Contamination

ROM 
Tonnes

Practical 
Yield 

Primary

Practical 
Yield  

Middlings

Sales 
Tonnes 
Primary

Sales 
Tonnes 

Middlings
Total Sales

(%) (%) (Mt) (%) (%) (Mt) (Mt) (Mt)
Kwa-Sheleza Proved 76 9.2 4.624 55.5 23.2 2.564 1.074 3.638

Probable 75 9.2 3.365 50.9 27.1 1.711 0.911 2.622

7.989 53.5 24.8 4.275 1.985 6.260

Mgeni

Maye Proved 75.3 9.2 0.269 62.2 15.4 0.167 0.041 0.208

75.3 9.2 0.269 62.2 15.4 0.167 0.041 0.208

Ngwabe Probable 75.0 9.2 6.704 46.2 31.4 3.095 2.108 5.203

75.0 9.2 6.704 46.2 31.4 3.095 2.108 5.203

Qongqo

Macekaneni

ZAC 75.4 9.2 14.962 50.4 27.6 7.537 4.134 11.671

COAL RESOURCES

Area Category Gross In Situ Seam Thickness Geol Loss Mineable In Situ 
tonnes

(Mt) (m) (%) (Mt)
Kwa-Sheleza Measured 8.994 1.58 38.2 5.557

Indicated 5.223 1.19 21.3 4.108

Inferred 3.215 2.08 25.0 2.411

Total 17.432 1.50 30.7 12.076

Mgeni Measured 1.271 2.64 20.0 1.017

Indicated 0.923 2.72 20.0 0.738

Inferred 4.242 1.89 28.2 3.046

Total 6.436 2.10 25.4 4.801

Maye Measured 0.436 1.33 25.0 0.327

Indicated 0.115 1.23 20.0 0.092

Inferred 4.428 1.22 20.0 3.542

Total 4.979 1.23 20.4 3.961

Ngwabe Indicated 10.232 2.09 20.0 8.186

Inferred 11.141 1.32 20.0 8.913

Total 21.374 1.60 20.0 17.099

Qongqo Indicated 2.087 0.95 18.0 1.713

Macekaneni Inferred 0.562 0.97 20.0 0.449

ZAC 52.870 1.52 24.2 40.100

COAL RESOURCES AND  
COAL RESERVES STATEmENT

Information above that relates to geology, drilling, mineralisation and Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates is based on information compiled by 
J Liebenberg, who is a member of South African Council for Natural Scientific Professions. Mr Liebenberg has sufficient experience which is relevant to 
the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person under the 
meaning of the JORC Code. Mr Liebenberg, a former employee of Zululand Anthracite Colliery (Pty) Limited has given his consent to the Public Reporting  
of these statements concerning geology, drilling and mineralisation in this format.
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Notes 
 1 Coal Resources and Coal Reserves are current as at 17 May 2010.
 2  A minimum coal ply thickness of 0.3m was used to estimate  

Coal Resources.
 3  Coal Resources adjacent to normal faults have been excluded as barren 

zones as determined from geotechnical advice. 
 4  The total Inferred Coal Resource of 2,960 Mt includes coal projected  

1 km beyond the outmost boreholes. This 1 km extrapolated zone, 
which includes 1,170 Mt of coal, is supported by the results from the 
high resolution airborne geophysics flown over the entire tenement. The 
results provide added confidence in the geology of MC3365C beyond 
the boreholes indicating the absence of transgressive igneous intrusives 
(dykes) and complex features within the tenement boundary.

 
 5  The estimate of Open Cut Coal Reserves was based on mine planning by 

Minarco MineConsult and reflects current market conditions.
 6 The products to be marketed have not been finalised at this stage. 
 7  The estimates of Coal Resources and Coal Reserves presented in this 

table have been carried out in accordance with The JORC Code. 
 8  The Proved and Probable Coal Reserves are estimated to support an initial 

20 Mtpa ROM production plan.
 9  Coal Resources and Coal Reserves have been rounded to appropriate 

levels of accuracy in accordance with The JORC Code.
 10  Coal Resources are inclusive of Coal Reserves i.e. Coal Reserves are not 

additional to Coal Resources.

The Coal Resources quoted in this announcement are based on the Competent Person Report, Coal Resources Benga Coal Project as at 17 May 2010, 
compiled by Mr Tri Yoso, who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and the Resource Geologist for Riversdale Mining 
Limited. Tri Yoso has more than 12 years experience as a coal geologist in the resources industry involving exploration and evaluation assignments at 
operating coal mines and coal exploration areas in a number of coal basins throughout the world. With this level of experience, he is adequately qualified 
as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 edition of The JORC Code. The Coal Resource estimate for the Benga Licence, (MC3365C) Mozambique 
presented in this report has been carried out in accordance with the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and 
Ore Reserves” (2004) prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of 
Geoscientists and Minerals Council of Australia. Mr Yoso consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and 
context in which it appears.

The Coal Reserves quoted in this announcement are based on Report No ADV-SY-03672 Benga Coal Project as at 17 May 2010, compiled under the 
supervision of Mr. Rob Mackenzie, who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and is a full time employee of Minarco 
MineConsult. Rob is a mining engineer with extensive experience, working for over 30 years with major mining companies. With this level of experience, 
he is adequately qualified as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 edition of The JORC Code. The Coal Reserve estimate for the Benga Licence, 
(MC3365C) Mozambique presented in this report has been carried out in accordance with the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, 
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” (2004) prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 
Australian Institute of Geoscientists and Minerals Council of Australia. Mr Mackenzie consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his 
information in the form and context in which it appears.

Riversdale Mozambique Limitada (Riversdale Share 65%) as at 30 June 2010

COAL RESOURCES COAL RESERVES

Measured Mt Indicated Mt Inferred Mt Total Mt Proved Mt Probable Mt Total Mt

Mt 710 362 2,960 4,032 346 156 502

Ash (%) @ 1% air dried moisture 43.9 44.5 44.1

 

Notes
 1 Coal Resources are current as at 31 May 2010.
 2 A minimum coal ply thickness of 0.3m was used to estimate Coal Resources.
 3 Coal Resources adjacent to normal faults have been excluded as barren zones as determined from geotechnical advice.
 4 The estimates of Coal Resources presented in this table have been carried out in accordance with The JORC Code (2004).
 5 Coal Resources have been rounded to appropriate levels of accuracy in accordance with The JORC Code (2004).

Riversdale Capital Mozambique Limitada (EPL 946L) (Riversdale Share 100%) as at 30 June 2010

Depth Increment Meters Indicated
Mt

Inferred
Mt

Total
Mt

0-500 2,116 4,015 6,131

500-750 234 2,280 2,514

>750 15 385 400

Total 2,365 6,680 9,045

The Coal Resources quoted in this announcement are based on the Competent Person Report, Coal Resources Zambeze Project as at 31 May 2010, 
compiled by Mr Tri Yoso, who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and the Resource Geologist for Riversdale Mining 
Limited. Tri Yoso has more than 12 years experience as a coal geologist in the resources industry involving exploration and evaluation assignments at 
operating coal mines and coal exploration areas in a number of coal basins throughout the world. With this level of experience, he is adequately qualified 
as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 edition of the JORC Code. The Coal Resource estimate for the Zambeze licence, (EPL946L) Mozambique 
presented in this report has been carried out in accordance with the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and 
Ore Reserves” (2004) prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of 
Geoscientists and Minerals Council of Australia. Mr Yoso consents to the inclusion in the announcement of the matters based on his information in the 
form and context in which it appears.
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During August 2007, additional tenements 
located in the Tete province in Mozambique 
were acquired. These tenements are 
contiguous with tenements already held 
by Riversdale and Vale and the combined 
tenement size now held by Riversdale 
is in excess of 250,000 hectares.

The establishment of the joint venture 
with Tata Steel (Tata) was completed 
during the December quarter 2007. Under 
the terms of the agreement, Tata paid 
$100 million to acquire a 35% Project 
Interest in two exploration tenements (the 
Benga 881L and Tete 1319L tenements) 
which cover an area of 25,000 hectares, 
as well as a 40% share of the off-take 
for coking coal at commercial terms. 

The Company’s strengthening share price 
resulted in Riversdale being included in 
the Standard & Poor’s ASX 200 Index.

EXECUTIVE CHAIRmAN
William M O’Keeffe 
B.App.Sc (Metallurgy)

Mr O’Keeffe was appointed Chairman of Riversdale on 14 of September 2004. Mr O’Keeffe 
commenced work with Mt Isa Mines in 1975. He held a series of senior operating positions, rising 
to Executive Management level in commercial activities. In 1995 he became Managing Director 
of Glencore Australia (Pty) Limited and held the position until July 2004. He has previously held 
directorships in Anaconda Nickel Limited, Mt Lyell Mining Co Limited and BMA Gold Limited.

HISTORY OF THE COmPANY AND YEAR IN REVIEw

NON EXECUTIVE INDEPENDENT DEPUTY CHAIRmAN
Andrew Love
B Com, FCA, MAICD

Mr Love was appointed as a non executive director on 24 April 2006 and was until recently  
a Senior Partner of Ferrier Hodgson Chartered Accountants. He is currently the chairman of Roc 
Oil Company Limited, and formally a non executive director of Lend Lease Primelife Limited and 
eircom Holdings Limited and a director of the Museum of Contemporary Art, Sydney. Mr Love has 
extensive experience in the energy and resource sectors both in Australia and internationally. 

mANAGING DIRECTOR
Steve Mallyon  
B Bus, MBA, Associate CPA

Mr Mallyon was appointed Managing Director on 1 August 2008 and assumed responsibility 
for the operating activities and financial performance of Riversdale and its operations and 
projects in Australia and Africa. Mr Mallyon has over 20 years experience in the natural 
resources and construction material sectors, with extensive operational, project development 
and corporate finance experience. He was previously Managing Director of RBC Capital 
Markets, and has held senior executive roles with Billiton Plc, RGC Limited and MIM Holdings 
Limited. He has had exposure to mining operations in Australia, Africa, South America and a 
number of emerging markets in Asia. Mr Mallyon does not hold any other directorships.

The Company has been listed on the ASX 
since 1986 and was recapitalised under 
new management in 2004, changing its 
name to Riversdale Mining Limited.

In May 2004, the Company entered into 
an agreement to acquire a 74% interest in 
Riversdale Anthracite Colliery (Proprietary) 
Limited (RAC), a South African 
registered company which holds rights 
to an anthracite project. Development 
options for this deposit are currently 
under consideration by the Company.

In February 2005, the Company entered 
into a conditional agreement to acquire 
74% in Zululand Anthracite Colliery 
(Proprietary) Limited (ZAC), an operating 
mine producing high quality anthracite 
in the Zululand region of South Africa. 
Following the conversion of the mineral 
rights from the Old Order Rights to the 
New Order Rights in December 2005, 
settlement of the ZAC acquisition was 
completed. The Deep E Project was 
completed in November 2006, on time 
and within budget and initial production 
from that area commenced. The 
integration of Deep E Block and Ngwabe 
reserves has extended the mine life 
considerably to approximately 2023.

The Company acquired a 100% interest 
in coal bearing tenements in Mozambique 
and settlement occurred in October 
2006. Consideration of $3.0 million in 
cash was paid, with 10 million ordinary 
shares in Riversdale and 15 million 
options issued in two allotments in 
November 2006 and January 2007.

1986-2004

2005

2006-2007

2007

in office at the date of this report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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NON EXECUTIVE INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
Gary Lawler
BA, LLB, LLM (Hons), ASIA

Mr Lawler was appointed as a non executive director on 28 January 2009. He is a leading 
Australian mergers and acquisitions lawyer who has been involved in some of Australia’s most 
notable merger and acquisition transactions. Mr Lawler has over 30 years experience as a 
practising corporate lawyer and is currently a senior partner of the legal firm Gilbert + Tobin 
whom he joined in 1995. Prior to that time he held partnerships with Clayton Utz (1981-1989)  
and Freehills (1989-1995). Mr Lawler was also previously a director of Dominion Mining Limited.

NON EXECUTIVE INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
Tony Redman 
Bsc (Mining), Msc (Mineral Production Management), London

Mr Redman was appointed a non executive director on 27 May 2009. He joined the Anglo American 
Group in 1970 and worked in the Base Metals Division and the Gold Division before joining the 
Coal Division in 1979. He held the position of CEO and Chairman of Anglo Coal in 2005 when he 
was appointed Group Technical Director of Anglo American Plc. Mr Redman retired from Anglo 
American at the end of 2008. During the recent past he held Non Executive Director positions 
with Anglo Platinum and Aricom Plc and has since resigned from both of these companies.

In March 2008 an estimate of Inferred 
Coal Resources contained in the northern 
part of the Benga Licence in Mozambique 
was identified, equivalent to 1.94 billion 
tonnes. This was significantly upgraded 
to 4.0 billion tonnes when the Company 
also announced an increased estimate of 
Coal Reserves of 502 Mt in May 2010.

The Mining Contract for the Benga Coal 
Project, located in the province of Tete, 
Mozambique was signed in May 2009 
and establishes the particular terms 
which govern the development and 
implementation of the Project. A Mining 
Concession for the project for an initial  
25 years was granted by the Mozambique 
Government at the same time. 

The Benga Feasibility Study was 
completed by the Company and  
confirmed that the project exceeds 
Riversdale’s required rate of return on 
capital costs. Development of stage  
1 of the Benga Coal Project was approved 
by Riversdale and Tata Steel in October 
2009. The study contemplates three 
principal stages of development to align 
with the completion and subsequent 
expansion of rail, port and river barging 
infrastructure in Mozambique. 

In October 2009 an Indicated Coal 
Resource of 1.70 billion tonnes was 
estimated on the Zambeze Licence  
(EPL 946L) in Mozambique, and in  
May 2010 this was significantly upgraded 
to 9.0 billion tonnes, of which 2.3 billion 
tonnes is in the Indicated and 6.7 billion 
tonnes is in the Inferred category. 

On 13 April 2010 the President of the 
Republic of Mozambique, His Excellency 
Armando Emilio Guebuza, attended 
a formal Ground Breaking Ceremony 
at the Benga Coal Project to signify 
the official opening of the mine. 

In June 2010 Riversdale announced that 
it had signed a non-binding MoU with 
WISCO for the acquisition by WISCO of 
40% of the Zambeze Coal Project for a 
total consideration of US$800 million and 
a logistics partnership agreement with the 
CCCC for the development of the Zambeze 
Coal Project in Mozambique. It is anticipated 
that the definitive agreements with WISCO 
will be concluded in October 2010.

In July and August 2010, the Company 
undertook a fully underwritten capital raising 
which raised $337 million at a fixed offer 
price of $9.40 per share. The capital raising 
comprised of a non-renounceable 1 for 8 
entitlement offer to existing shareholders and 
a share placement to institutional investors.

2008

2009

2009

2010

NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Narendra Kumar Misra 
CA India

Mr Misra was appointed a non executive director on 25 May 2010. He is the Vice President 
and Group Head (Mergers & Acquisitions) for Tata Steel Group and is a member of Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India. He has extensive experience in the mining and steel industries 
and having joined Tata Steel in 1981 he has held various positions in the Tata Group and related 
subsidiaries. Mr Misra presently holds the position of Director in Tata BlueScope Steel Limited, 
India, Tata Steel Processing and Distribution Limited, India, Tata NYK Shipping Pte Ltd, Singapore, 
Riversdale Energy Mauritius Limited, Mauritius and New Millennium Capital Corporation, Canada.
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for the year ended 30 June 2010

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Your Directors submit their report for the year ended 30 June 2010.

DIRECTORS

The names of the directors of the Company in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows:- 

Michael O’Keeffe

Steve Mallyon

Andrew Love

Gary Lawler

Tony Redman

Narendra Kumar Misra

Narendra Kumar Misra was appointed as Non Executive Independent Director on 25 May 2010.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the financial period under review and 

the number of meetings attended by each director whilst they were a director was as follows:

Directors’ Meetings Audit Committee Remuneration & Nomination 
Committee

Meetings Attended Meetings Attended Meetings Attended

M. O’Keeffe 8 8 - - 3 3

S. Mallyon 8 8 - - - -

A. Love 8 8 2 2 3 3

G. Lawler 8 8 2 2 3 2

T. Redman 8 8 2 2 - -

N. Misra 2 2 - - - -

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

Members acting on the committees of the Board at 30 June 2010 were:

Audit Committee Remuneration & Nomination Committee Compliance Committee

A. Love A. Love A. Love

G. Lawler M. O’Keeffe G. Lawler

T. Redman G. Lawler T. Redman

The Remuneration and Nomination Committees were merged on 24 May 2009. Committee meetings, as with Board of Directors’ 

meetings, require that any two directors be present to form a quorum.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

During the year, the principal activity of Riversdale Mining Limited and its subsidiaries (the Consolidated Entity) was exploration, mining 

and development of a number of resource projects in Southern Africa. There was no change in principal activity from the previous year.F
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OPERATING RESULTS

The results of the operations of the Company and the Consolidated Entity during the financial year were as follows:

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Profit/(loss) attributable to members of the Parent (779) 300

Revenue 97,520 67,784

Share price at year end (Dollars) $10.55 $5.30

Basic earnings / (loss) per share (Cents) (0.40) 0.16

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (Cents) (0.40) 0.15

DIVIDENDS

No amounts have been paid or declared by the Company by way of dividends since the commencement of the financial year (2009: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

A review of Operations and Exploration commences on page 4 of this Annual Financial Report. This, together with the Chairman’s 

Statement and the sections headed “Significant Changes in State of Affairs” and “Significant Events Subsequent to Balance Date” 

in this report, provides a review of operations of the Company during the year and subsequent to reporting date.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

The following significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity occurred during the financial year.

Non-binding agreements with joint venture partners for the development of the Zambeze Coal Project

The Company signed a non-binding Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) on the 24 June 2010 with Wuhan Iron and Steel (Group) 

Corporation (WISCO) and a logistics partnership agreement with the China Communications Construction Company (CCCC) for the 

development of the Zambeze Coal Project.

The MoU provides for the acquisition by WISCO of 40% of the Zambeze Coal Project (EPL 946L) in the Tete Province of Mozambique 

for a total consideration of US$800 million to be paid in three tranches and subject to achievement of certain milestones. When 

completed, the transaction values Zambeze at US$2.0 billion.

In addition, at the date of signing of the definitive agreements, WISCO will be issued 8.0% of the ordinary shares in the Company 

at an agreed price of $10.00.

WISCO will earn the right to purchase at least 40% of the coking coal produced from Zambeze, and the right to purchase at least 

10% of the coking coal produced from the Benga Project, in each case on market terms.

The MoU is non-binding, pending completion of definitive agreements within 120 days of signing the MoU. WISCO will subscribe for 

8% of the ordinary shares in Riversdale Mining Limited upon signing of the definitive agreements. The US$800 million consideration for 

the 40% interest in Zambeze is subject to achievement of certain milestones and the consideration will take the form of three tranches:

•	  US$200 million will be paid on completion and signing of the definitive agreements covering the joint venture for the Zambeze 

Coal Project; 

•	  US$150 million will be paid on the successful completion of the feasibility study for Zambeze, subject to meeting agreed milestones 

including establishing the commercial viability of developing and operating the Zambeze Coal Project to produce not less than 

30 million ROM tonnes of coal per annum and evaluation of Zambeze based on the estimated coal resources and reserves; and

•	  US$450 million will be paid on the granting of the mining contract, mining licence, final environmental approval and other necessary 

regulatory approvals required to proceed with development of the Zambeze Coal Project.

In the event that the milestones are not achieved, the consideration paid to date will be refunded to WISCO, less their share of feasibility 

study and project costs incurred and WISCO’s interest in the Zambeze project will be returned to Riversdale. 
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for the year ended 30 June 2010

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 15 July 2010 the Company launched a fully-underwritten entitlement offer and placement to facilitate accelerated development of the Benga 

Coal Project at a fixed offer price of $9.40 per share, to facilitate the accelerated development of Stages 2 and 3 of the Benga Coal Project.

The capital raising comprised a $102 million fully-underwritten institutional placement and a 1 for 8 fully-underwritten accelerated 

non-renounceable pro-rata entitlement offer to all eligible shareholders. The entitlement offer comprises an institutional component 

of $174 million and a retail component of $61 million. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND FUTURE RESULTS

In the opinion of the directors it is considered that, apart from general details of likely developments referred to in the Chairman’s 

Statement and the Review of Operations, it may prejudice the interests of the Consolidated Entity if information in respect of future 

plans or likely developments in the Consolidated Entity’s operations are disclosed. Therefore, information otherwise required to be 

included by Section 299 of the Corporations Act 2001 has been excluded.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE

The Consolidated Entity’s operations are subject to environmental regulation under the laws of South Africa and Mozambique. 

The directors are not aware of any breaches of the legislation during the financial year which are material in nature.

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

Qualifications and experience of Directors who were in office at the date of this report are disclosed on pages 18 and 19.

Executives 

Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary

Niall Lenahan B Comm (Hons), MBA, FCA (Ireland), 

CA (Australia)

Mr Lenahan was appointed Finance Director on 1 April 2006 and 

as Company Secretary on 10 April 2006. He has over 30 years 

experience in commercial environments, of which the majority 

have been spent in industries associated with mineral resource 

development. Mr Lenahan has previously served as the CFO 

of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited, AurionGold Limited and 

Goldfields Limited and prior to that worked for the RGC Limited 

group. Mr Lenahan has broad international experience in financial 

matters, particularly in corporate structuring and reorganisations, 

mergers and acquisitions, capital raisings in debt and equity 

markets, investor relations and corporate affairs. Mr Lenahan 

resigned as a director on 27 May 2009.

Chief Operating Officer – Africa

Andries Engelbrecht Prof. Cert. Eng – ECSA, MBA, 

GCC Mines and Works

Mr Engelbrecht joined Riversdale in August 2005 as Engineering 

Manager at its Zululand Anthracite Colliery in South Africa after 

spending 10 years at Ingwe Collieries, a division of BHP Billiton 

in various Engineering Management roles. He was appointed 

as the General Manager at ZAC in 2006 during which period he 

was instrumental in the development of new technologies and 

practices aimed at the optimisation of ultra low seam mining.

Chief Financial Officer – Africa

Steve Thomas B.Com, B.Acc., CA (SA)

Mr Thomas joined the Company in February 2005 as Chief 

Financial Officer of the South African operations. He has previously 

held senior positions in the transport industry in Southern 

Africa both in the financial and commercial fields. Mr Thomas 

has extensive experience in the commercial development and 

turnaround of businesses. Mr Thomas is currently responsible for 

the financial and logistical areas of the Group’s African operations.

Project Development Manager

Jim Coleman BE Mining (Hons), 1st Class Mgt Cert.

Mr Coleman joined the Company in January 2008. He has 

previously held senior positions in the Australian coal mining 

industry in Central Queensland (Saraji and Blackwater), New 

South Wales and Western Australia. Mr. Coleman founded and 

directed a major Australian mining consultancy firm and has 

extensive experience in exploration, feasibility studies, mine 

operation, mine development and training.

Group General Manager Human Resources 
and Industrial Relations

Roshnee Bardien B. Com, B. Com (Hons) Industrial Psychology

Ms Bardien joined the Company in November 2006, and is responsible 

for Human Resources and Industrial Relations for the Riversdale Mining 

Group. Mrs Bardien led the team that concluded ZAC’s first successful 

wage negotiations in 2007, having signed a two-year agreement. 

An industrial psychologist by profession, Mrs Bardien has held senior 

positions for large corporate and multinationals in South Africa and 

abroad. Mrs Barden’s areas of expertise extend to human resource 

development, industrial relations, policy design and development.
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SHARE OPTIONS AND RIGHTS

Details of the shares options and rights at the reporting date and at the date of this report are as follows:

Options

Grant date Expiry date Number Exercise price

21 November 2006 21 November 2010 372,500 $2.50

4 December 2006 4 December 2010 140,000 $1.86

25 January 2007 25 January 2011 150,000 $2.03

30 June 2008 30 June 2013 1,666,667 $11.39

1 July 2008 1 July 2013 2,578,333 $11.57

22 October 2008 22 October 2013 1,300,000 $9.80

19 December 2008 19 December 2013 770,000 $2.24

5 March 2010 5 March 2015 150,000 $5.30

7,127,500

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue of the Company. 

During the financial year there have been 10,595,000 ordinary shares in Riversdale Mining Limited issued due to the exercising  

of options at an average weighted exercise price of $1.79 per share. 

Share Rights

Grant date Number Settled

21 December 2009 250,000 Cash

21 December 2009 555,000 Equity

805,000

Share Appreciation Rights

Grant date Number Settled

21 December 2009 600,000 Cash

21 December 2009 1,125,000 Equity

1,725,000

The expiry dates for share rights and share appreciation rights are detailed on page 74.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the directors of Riversdale Mining Limited 

advise that its practices are largely consistent with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s principles of corporate governance and best 

practice recommendations. The Company’s corporate governance statement follows the Directors’ Report.
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for the year ended 30 June 2010

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)

The directors of the Company present the Remuneration Report prepared in Accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 

for the Company and the Consolidated Entity for the year ended 30 June 2010. 

The following persons had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Consolidated Entity, 

directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

(i) Directors 

Name Position 

M. O’Keeffe Executive Chairman 

S. Mallyon Managing Director 

A. Love Non Exec. Deputy Chairman  

G. Lawler Non Exec. Independent Director 

T. Redman Non Exec. Independent Director 

N. Misra Non Exec. Director Appointed: 25 May 10

(ii) Other key management personnel

Name Position Employer

N. Lenahan Chief Financial Officer Riversdale Mining Limited

S. Thomas Chief Financial Officer Africa Riversdale Holdings (Pty) Ltd

A. Engelbrecht Chief Operating Officer Africa Riversdale Holdings (Pty) Ltd

R. Bardien Group HR Manager Riversdale Holdings (Pty) Ltd

J. Coleman Project Development Manager Riversdale Mining Limited

Key management personnel have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company and 

Consolidated Entity, including directors of the Company and other executives. Key management personnel comprise the directors of the 

Company and executives for the Company and the Consolidated Entity including the five most highly remunerated executives.

Remuneration policy

The performance of the Consolidated Entity depends upon the quality of its directors and executives. To prosper, the Consolidated Entity 

must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled directors and executives.

The remuneration policy was initially approved by a resolution of the Board on 18 February 2004 and modified by a resolution of the 

Board on 17 August 2009.

To this end, the Consolidated Entity embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework:

•	 Provide competitive rewards to attract high calibre executives,

•	 Periodic review with reference to the relevant employment market conditions,

•	 Link executive rewards to shareholder value, and

•	 Significant portion of executive compensation is at risk through the use of options and share rights.

Following discussions with shareholders and shareholder associations the Company engaged Guerdon Associates to perform an 

independent review of directors’ and executives’ remuneration. As a result of this review and the recommendation of the Remuneration 

Committee, a new remuneration and option policy was developed during the 2008 year. This includes strategic milestones critical to 

realising the full potential of the Company’s assets with mechanisms to provide flexibility to deal with uncontrollable issues within the 

foreign operating environment. Changes in government policy have necessitated the requirement to keep the executive remuneration 

scheme under review which may result in some changes being made.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT’D)

(A) Remuneration and Nomination Committee

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Board of Directors of the Parent is responsible for determining and reviewing 

compensation arrangements for the directors and all other key management personnel and to conduct an annual review of the 

membership of the Board, review of and conclude on the independence of each director and propose candidates for board vacancies 

where appropriate.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of compensation of key 

management personnel on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring 

maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board and executive team.

(B) Compensation structure

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non executive director and executive compensation is separate 

and distinct.

(C) Non Executive Director compensation

Objective

The Board seeks to set aggregate compensation at a level that provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain directors 

of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders.

Structure

The ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate compensation of non executive directors shall be determined from time to time 

by a general meeting. An amount not exceeding the amount determined is then divided between the directors as agreed. The latest 

determination was at the Annual General Meeting held on 28 October 2009 when shareholders approved an aggregate compensation 

of $750,000 per year. Each director receives a fee for being a director of the Company which covers both Board and Board Committee 

activities. No additional fee is presently payable for any Board committee on which a director sits.

Non executive directors are encouraged by the Board to hold shares in the Company (purchased by the director on market). 

It is considered good governance for directors to have a stake in the Company on whose board they sit. 

(D) Executive compensation

Objective

The Company aims to reward executives with a level and mix of compensation commensurate with their position and responsibilities 

within the Company to:

•	 Reward executives for performance,

•	 Align the interests of executives with those of shareholders,

•	 Link rewards with the strategic goals and performance of the Company, and

•	 Ensure total compensation is competitive by market standards.

Structure

In determining the level and make-up of executive compensation, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee takes independent 

advice and considers market levels of compensation for comparable executive roles and makes its recommendations to the Board. 

Compensation consists of the following key elements:

•	 Fixed compensation,

•	 Variable compensation,

•	 Short Term Incentive (STI), and

•	 Long Term Incentive (LTI).

The proportion of fixed compensation and variable compensation (potential short term and long term incentives) is established for each 

key management personnel by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT’D)

(E) Fixed compensation

Objective

Fixed compensation is reviewed annually by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The process consists of a review 

of Company and individual performances, relevant comparative compensation in the market and internally. 

Structure

Executives are given the opportunity to receive their fixed remuneration in a variety of forms including cash and fringe benefits.

(F) Variable compensation — Short Term Incentive (STI)

Objective

The objective of the STI program is to link the achievement of the Company’s operational targets with the compensation received by 

the executives charged with meeting those targets. The total potential STI available is set at a level so as to provide sufficient incentive 

to the executive to achieve the operational targets and such that the cost to the Company is reasonable in the circumstances.

Structure

Actual STI payments granted to each key management personnel depend on the extent to which specific operating targets set at the 

beginning of the financial year are met. The operational targets consist of a number of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) covering both 

financial and non-financial measures of performance. Typically included are measures such as contribution to safety, net profit after tax, 

risk management, product management, and leadership/team contribution. The Consolidated Entity has predetermined incentive criteria 

that must be met in order to trigger payments under the STI scheme. An annual review meeting was held in December 2009 with 

each of the executive directors and executives to discuss performance and compare it against predefined KPIs and to suggest areas 

of improvement. Bonuses were paid to certain executive directors and executives during the year on the increase in Resources and 

Reserves, achievement of budget targets and project milestones. 

(G) Variable compensation — Long Term Incentive (LTI)

Objective

The objective of the LTI plan is to reward executives in a manner that aligns this element of compensation with the creation of 

shareholder wealth. As such LTI grants are only made to executives who are able to influence the generation of shareholder wealth.

Structure

LTI grants to key management personnel are delivered in the form of options and share rights. The Company engaged Guerdon 

Associates in 2008 and 2009 to perform an independent review of the Company’s LTI plan. 

When establishing the LTI plan, strategic milestones critical to realising the full value of the Company’s assets were considered as 

appropriate in the early stages of the Company’s projects. The need for a mechanism such as retesting to provide flexibility to deal with 

uncontrollable issues within the foreign operating environment has been incorporated. The split between tranches will initially favour 

the milestone measure. However, as the Company matures into a production phase, the Board may consider whether Total Shareholder 

Return (TSR) or other financial measures may be more appropriate measures. Details on options and share rights performance 

conditions are disclosed on page 31 to 35 and are currently a combination between milestones and Total Shareholder Return.

The grant of options and share rights is a direct link between directors’, executives’ and shareholder wealth. The Company does not 

permit directors and executives to use hedging instruments to protect the value of the equity based remuneration. An annual declaration 

is required from directors and executives to confirm this.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT’D)

(G) Variable compensation — Long Term Incentive (LTI) (Cont’d)

Performance of Riversdale Mining Limited

The following indices are considered when measuring the Consolidated Entity’s performance and benefits for shareholder’s wealth. 

There has been a significant increase in share price and revenue over the last 5 years.

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

Profit / (loss) attributable to members of the Parent (779) 300 92,355 5,017 25,292

Revenue 97,520 67,784 69,825 72,020 34,834

Share price at year end (Dollars) $10.55 $5.30 $11.81 $3.29 $0.88

Basic earnings / (loss) per share (Cents per share) (0.40) 0.16 54.51 3.64 31.73

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (Cents per share) (0.40) 0.15 49.76 3.52 29.81

The graph below compares the performance of the Company (RIV) to the ASX All Ordinaries (XAO) and the ASX200 Energy Index (XEJ) 

indices. The Company has significantly outperformed both indices. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT’D)

Remuneration of key management personnel

Year Ended 
30 June 2010

Short term 
 

 $ $ $

Post 
employment  

$

Equity settled 
share based  

$

Cash 
settled 

$

Total 
 
$

Performance 
related

Consisting 
of options  
& rights

Salary  
and fees

Bonus Non 
monetary

Superannuation Options  
& rights

Rights

Directors

M. O’Keeffe 500,000 200,000 69,956 45,000 2,925,554 455,340 4,195,850 85.3% 80.6%

A. Love 168,750 - - - - - 168,750 0.0% 0.0%

S. Mallyon 634,044 400,000 8,115 27,855 359,910 653,743 2,083,667 67.8% 48.6%

G. Lawler 115,000 - - 10,350 - - 125,350 0.0% 0.0%

A. Redman 115,000 - - 10,350 - - 125,350 b 0.0% 0.0%

N. Misra a 10,000 - - 900 - - 10,900 c 0.0% 0.0%

Total Directors 1,542,794 600,000 78,071 94,455 3,285,464 1,109,083 6,709,867

Executives

N. Lenahan 339,039 100,000 19,078 31,500 1,704,447 - 2,194,064 82.2% 77.7%

S. Thomas 380,877 104,359 12,662 - 157,985 - 655,883 40.0% 24.1%

A. Engelbrecht 371,036 111,813 6,070 - 157,985 - 646,904 41.7% 24.4%

R. Bardien 276,577 80,506 6,647 - 125,331 - 489,061 42.1% 25.6%

J. Coleman 354,151 100,000 38,962 34,650 486,603 - 1,014,366 57.8% 48.0%

Total Executives 1,721,680 496,678 83,419 66,150 2,632,351 - 5,000,278

a Appointed 25 May 2010 b $65,400 accrued and payable at year end c $10,900 accrued and payable at year end 

Year Ended  
30 June 2009

Short term  
 

 $ $ $ $

Post 
employment  

$

Equity settled 
share based  

$

Total 
 
$

Performance 
related

Consisting 
of options  

Salary  
and fees

Bonus Non 
monetary

Termination Superannuation Options

Directors

M. O’Keeffe 500,000 250,000 62,693 - 45,000 4,433,491 5,291,184 88.5% 83.8%

R. Potts b 16,250 - - - 1,463 30,750  48,463 63.5% 63.5%

A. Love 145,000 - - - 3,150 30,750  178,900 17.2% 17.2%

S. Mallyon c 540,534 100,000 7,527 - 43,500 351,522 1,043,083 43.3% 33.7%

G. Lawler d 41,667 - - - 3,750 -  45,417 0.0% 0.0%

A. Redman e 8,333 - - - - -  8,333 0.0% 0.0%

Total Directors 1,251,784 350,000 70,220 - 96,863 4,846,513 6,615,380

Executives

N. Lenahan 340,000 150,000 14,731 - 30,600 2,490,017  3,025,348 87.3% 82.3%

P. Snyders f 251,797 149,870 - 599,478 - 33,750  1,034,895 17.7% 3.3%

S. Thomas 267,862 119,895 - - - 63,726  451,483 40.7% 14.1%

A. Engelbrecht 286,623 104,908 - - - 29,976  421,507 32.0% 7.1%

R. Bardien 235,396 89,922 - - - 29,976  355,294 33.7% 8.4%

S. Parkhouse g 305,581 100,926 - 555,092 - -  961,599 10.5% 0.0%

J. Coleman 331,652 150,000 44,688 - 32,625 505,929 1,064,894 61.6% 47.5%

A. Monk 172,500 100,000 - - 15,525 372,590  660,615 71.5% 56.4%

J. Jonker 150,000 75,000 - - 13,500 347,278  585,778 72.1% 59.3%

Total Executives 2,341,411 1,040,521 59,419 1,154,570 92,250 3,873,242 8,561,413

b Director to 28 September 2008 c Appointed 1 August 2008 d Appointed 28 January 2009 
e Appointed 27 May 2009 f Resigned 31 March 2009 g Resigned 31 May 2009 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT’D)

Service agreements

Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. Each of these 

agreements has the provision for performance-related cash bonuses, other benefits and participation in the Company’s LTI plans.  

Major provisions of the service agreements relating to remuneration are set out below.

M. O’Keeffe – Executive Chairman

•	  Base salary and superannuation as at 30 June 2010 of $545,000 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee, with no 

fixed term of agreement and a 3 month notice period. Provision of a company car.

•	  Payment of termination benefit by the employer of 3 months annual package per year of service or on a change of control event equal 

to 2 years annual package. 

S. Mallyon – Managing Director

•	 Appointed 1 August 2008, with no fixed term of agreement and a 3 month notice period.

•	  Base salary, car allowance and superannuation as at 30 June 2010 of $661,900 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration 

Committee.

•	  Payment of termination benefit by the employer of 1 year’s annual package plus a pro-rated short term incentive or on a change of 

control event equal to 2 years annual package plus a pro-rated short term incentive. 

N. Lenahan – Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

•	  Base salary and superannuation as at 30 June 2010 of $381,500 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee, with no 

fixed term of agreement and a 3 month notice period.

•	  Payment of termination benefit by the employer of 3 months annual package per year of service or on a change of control event equal 

to 2 years annual package. 

J. Coleman – Project Development Manager 

•	  Base salary and superannuation as at 30 June 2010 of $430,550 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee, with no 

fixed term of agreement and a 1 month notice period.

•	  Payment of termination benefit by the employer of 1 month’s annual package per year of service or on a change of control event equal 

to 1 year base annual package. 

•	 A loan of $500,000, repayable in 5 years with interest payable at commercial variable rates.

S. Thomas – Chief Financial Officer - Africa

•	  Base salary as at 30 June 2010 of South African Rand 2,415,000 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee, with no 

fixed term of agreement and a 3 month notice period.

•	  Payment of termination benefit by the employer of 3 months annual package per year of service or on a change of control event equal 

to 2 years annual package. 

A. Engelbrecht – Chief Operating Officer - Africa

•	  Base salary as at 30 June 2010 of South African Rand 2,550,000 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee, with no 

fixed term of agreement and a 3 month notice period.

•	  Payment of termination benefit by the employer of 3 months annual package per year of service or on a change of control event equal 

to 1 year annual package.

R. Bardien – Group General Manager Human Resources and Industrial Relations

•	  Base salary as at 30 June 2010 of South African Rand 1,890,000 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee, with no 

fixed term of agreement and a 3 month notice period.

•	  Payment of termination benefit by the employer of 3 months annual package per year of service or on a change of control event equal 

to 1 year annual package. 
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At the date of this report the interests of the directors and executives in the shares, options and share rights of the Company and related 

bodies corporate are:

Ordinary shares Options Share Rights Share Appreciation Rights

Directors

M. O’Keeffe 3,326,499 2,350,000 100,000 250,000

S. Mallyon 5,625 1,300,000 150,000 350,000

A. Love 680,714 200,000 - -

G. Lawler 118,125 - - -

T. Redman 1,800 - - -

N. Misra - - - -

Executives

N. Lenahan 1,400,000 1,288,333 50,000 100,000

S. Thomas 20,200 270,000 50,000 100,000

A. Engelbrecht 1,690 120,000 50,000 100,000

R. Bardien - 130,000 35,000 75,000

J. Coleman 2,000 390,000 50,000 100,000

Each option and equity settled share right entitles the holder to acquire 1 ordinary share and has been issued for no consideration. 

Each equity settled share appreciation right is a right to subscribe for such number of fully paid ordinary shares, calculated as: (Market 

value at vesting date – $5.72) / Market value at vesting date. Share appreciation rights are issued for no consideration.

Details of ordinary shares in the Company provided as a result of the exercise of options to each director and other key management 

personnel of the Consolidated Entity are set out in the tables below:

2010 Date Shares issued Paid per share Share price at 
exercise date

Value of options 
exercised $

Directors

M. O’Keeffe 31 Aug 09 300,000 $1.00 $6.18 1,554,000

M. O’Keeffe 14 Sept 09 200,000 $1.00 $5.82 964,000

M. O’Keeffe 1 Mar 10 1,000,000 $1.50 $7.59 6,090,000

A. Love 10 Nov 09 100,000 $1.50 $5.55 405,000

Executives

N. Lenahan 1 Dec 09 400,000 $1.00 $6.06 2,024,000

N. Lenahan 1 Dec 09 300,000 $1.50 $6.06 1,368,000

N. Lenahan 1 Mar 10 700,000 $1.50 $7.59 4,263,000

S. Thomas 8 Mar 10 60,000 $1.86 $8.36 390,000

A. Engelbrecht 24 Feb 10 10,000 $2.24 $7.97 57,300

3,070,000 17,115,300

2009 Date Shares issued Paid per share Share price at 
exercise date

Value of options 
exercised $

Directors

M. O’Keeffe 26 May 09 500,000 $1.00 $6.50 2,750,000

A. Love 2 Oct 08 125,000 $1.00 $8.55 943,750

A. Love 20 May 09 125,000 $1.50 $6.04 567,500

R. Potts 19 Dec 08 125,000 $1.00 $2.15 143,750

R. Potts 19 Dec 08 125,000 $1.50 $2.15 81,250

R. Potts 19 Dec 08 150,000 $2.03 $2.15 18,000

Executives

N. Lenahan 4 Aug 08 100,000 $1.00 $9.42 842,000

N. Lenahan 4 Sept 08 500,000 $1.00 $9.01 4,005,000

P. Snyders 3 June 09 200,000 $1.86 $6.81 990,000

A. Monk 7 May 09 40,000 $1.86 $5.97 164,400

1,990,000 10,505,650
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT’D)

Option compensation granted and vested during the year 

Year Ended  
30 June 10

Number  
vested

Grant 
date

Fair value 
per option  

at grant date

Value of options 
granted $

Exercise 
price

First 
exercise 

date

Expiry & last 
exercise date

Directors

M. O’Keeffe 166,667 30 Jun 08 $5.75 5,750,000 $11.39 Note 1 30 Jun 13

M. O’Keeffe 233,333 1 Jul 08 $5.40 9,450,000 $11.57 Note 2 1 Jul 13

S. Mallyon 200,000 22 Oct 08 $1.07 1,605,000 $9.80 Note 2 22 Oct 13

Executives

N. Lenahan 166,667 30 Jun 08 $5.75 5,750,000 $11.39 Note 1 30 Jun 13

N. Lenahan 70,000 1 Jul 08 $5.40 2,835,000 $11.57 Note 2 1 Jul 13

S. Thomas 20,000 19 Dec 08 $1.06 159,000 $2.24 Note 2 19 Dec 13

A. Engelbrecht 20,000 19 Dec 08 $1.06 159,000 $2.24 Note 2 19 Dec 13

R. Bardien 20,000 19 Dec 08 $1.06 159,000 $2.24 Note 2 19 Dec 13

J. Coleman 40,000 1 Jul 08 $5.40 1,620,000 $11.57 Note 2 1 Jul 13

J. Coleman 20,000 19 Dec 08 $1.06 159,000 $2.24 Note 2 19 Dec 13

There were no options issued to key management during the year

Note 1: The options will vest on satisfaction of the following performance conditions:

•	 33.3% of the options on the completion of the Bankable Feasibility Study for the Benga project by 31 March 2009 

•	  33.3% of the options on commencement of commercial production within 30 months of receipt of major government approvals for 

the Benga project 

•	  33.3% of the options on achievement of an annualised production rate of 2 million tonnes per annum of export sales within one year 

of first commercial production from the Benga project 

•	  If one of the above milestones are not achieved by the target date, retesting will occur to permit 75% of the relevant number of 

options to vest if the milestone is achieved no later than 3 months after the target date, or on a second retest, to permit 50% of the 

relevant number of options to vest if the milestone is achieved no later than 6 months after the target date. If the milestone is not 

achieved 6 months after the target date, the options will lapse. 

Note 2: The options will vest on satisfaction of the following performance conditions:

•	 26.7% of the options on the completion of the Bankable Feasibility Study for the Benga project by 31 March 2009 

•	  26.7% of the options on commencement of commercial production within 30 months of receipt of major government approvals for 

the Benga project 

•	  26.6% of the options on achievement of an annualised production rate of 2 million tonnes per annum of export sales within one year 

of first commercial production from the Benga project 

•	  If one of the above milestones are not achieved by the target date, retesting will occur to permit 75% of the relevant number of 

options to vest if the milestone is achieved no later than 3 months after the target date, or on a second retest, to permit 50% of the 

relevant number of options to vest if the milestone is achieved no later than 6 months after the target date. If the milestone is not 

achieved 6 months after the target date, the options will lapse. 

•	  20% of the options will vest if the Company’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) over the period of 3 years from the date of grant of the 

options exceeds the ASX 200 Energy Index over that period. 

Except as noted above options vesting conditions require only the completion of a service period by the director or executive.
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Year Ended  
30 June 09

Number 
granted

Number 
vested

Grant date Fair value  
per option at 

grant date

Value of 
options 

granted $

Exercise 
price

First exercise 
date

Expiry & last 
exercise date

Directors

M. O’Keeffe 1,750,000 - 1 Jul 08 $5.40 9,450,000 $11.57 Note 2 1 Jul 13

S. Mallyon 1,500,000 - 22 Oct 08 $1.07 1,605,000 $9.80 Note 2 22 Oct 13

A. Love - 150,000 25 Jan 07 $0.82 123,000 $2.03 25 Jan 09 25 Jan 11

R. Potts - 150,000 25 Jan 07 $0.82 123,000 $2.03 25 Jan 09 25 Jan 11

Executives

N. Lenahan 525,000 - 1 Jul 08 $5.40 2,835,000 $11.57 Note 2 1 Jul 13

P. Snyders - 200,000 4 Dec 06 $0.81 162,000 $1.86 4 Dec 08 4 Dec 10

S. Thomas - 200,000 4 Dec 06 $0.81 162,000 $1.86 4 Dec 08 4 Dec 10

S. Thomas 150,000 - 19 Dec 08 $1.06 159,000 $2.24 Note 2 19 Dec 13

A. Engelbrecht 150,000 - 19 Dec 08 $1.06 159,000 $2.24 Note 2 19 Dec 13

R. Bardien 150,000 - 19 Dec 08 $1.06 159,000 $2.24 Note 2 19 Dec 13

S. Parkhouse 300,000 - 1 Jul 08 $5.40 1,620,000 $11.57 Note 2 1 Jul 13

S. Parkhouse 150,000 - 19 Dec 08 $1.06 159,000 $2.24 Note 2 19 Dec 13

J. Coleman 300,000 - 1 Jul 08 $5.40 1,620,000 $11.57 Note 2 1 Jul 13

J. Coleman 150,000 - 19 Dec 08 $1.06 159,000 $2.24 Note 2 19 Dec 13

A. Monk - 150,000 4 Dec 06 $0.81 121,500 $1.86 4 Dec 08 4 Dec 10

A. Monk 200,000 - 1 Jul 08 $5.40 1,080,000 $11.57 Note 2 1 Jul 13

A. Monk 150,000 - 19 Dec 08 $1.06 159,000 $2.24 Note 2 19 Dec 13

J. Jonker 200,000 - 1 Jul 08 $5.40 1,080,000 $11.57 Note 2 1 Jul 13

J. Jonker 150,000 - 19 Dec 08 $1.06 159,000 $2.24 Note 2 19 Dec 13

Refer to page 31 for note references.
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2009 Exercise 
price

Number 
granted

Grant date Vested  
in year* %

Forfeited  
in year %

Value per  
option at forfeit

Vesting 
date

Directors

M. O’Keeffe $11.39 1,000,000 30 June 08 29 15 Nil Note 1

M. O’Keeffe $11.57 1,750,000 1 Jul 08 29 12 Nil Note 2

S. Mallyon $9.80 1,500,000 22 Oct 08 22 9 Nil Note 2

A. Love $2.03 150,000 25 Jan 07 50 - - 25 Jan 09

R. Potts $2.03 150,000 25 Jan 07 50 - - 25 Jan 09

Executives

N. Lenahan $11.39 1,000,000 30 June 08 29 15 Nil Note 1

N. Lenahan $11.57 525,000 1 Jul 08 29 12 Nil Note 2

P. Snyders $1.86 200,000 4 Dec 06 50 - - 4 Dec 08

S. Thomas $1.86 200,000 4 Dec 06 50 - - 4 Dec 08

S. Thomas $2.24 150,000 19 Dec 08 19 12 $2.18 Note 2

A. Engelbrecht $2.24 150,000 19 Dec 08 19 12 $2.18 Note 2

R. Bardien $2.24 150,000 19 Dec 08 19 12 $2.18 Note 2

S. Parkhouse $11.57 300,000 1 Jul 08 - 100 Nil Note 2

S. Parkhouse $2.24 150,000 19 Dec 08 - 100 $4.02 Note 2

J. Coleman $11.57 300,000 1 Jul 08 29 12 Nil Note 2

J. Coleman $2.24 150,000 19 Dec 08 19 12 $2.18 Note 2

A. Monk $1.86 150,000 4 Dec 06 50 - - 4 Dec 08

A. Monk $11.57 200,000 1 Jul 08 29 12 Nil Note 2

A. Monk $2.24 150,000 19 Dec 08 19 12 $2.18 Note 2

J. Jonker $11.57 200,000 1 Jul 08 29 12 Nil Note 2

J. Jonker $2.24 150,000 19 Dec 08 19 12 $2.18 Note 2

* Represents the proportion of options expensed in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2009.

Refer to page 31 for note references.

Forfeited options 

The forfeited options were subject to the completion of a Bankable Feasibility Study for the Benga Project located in Mozambique 

by 31 March 2009 and on a retest by 30 June 2009. This requirement was not achieved and as a result the options lapsed and were 

cancelled. This represented 50% of the options granted.

A significant proportion of the executive directors’ remuneration is in options. This results in a link between the increase in both 

shareholder wealth and executive directors’ performance. There were no alterations to the terms and conditions of options granted 

as remuneration since their grant date.

For details on the valuation of options, including models and assumptions used, please refer note 21.F
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Share rights and share appreciation rights compensation granted during the year 

Year Ended  
30 June 10

Settlement Grant date Number share 
rights granted

Value of share 
rights granted $

Number share 
appreciation  

rights granted

Value of share 
appreciation  

rights granted $

Directors

M. O’Keeffe Cash 21 Dec 09 100,000 976,000 250,000 1,655,000

S. Mallyon Cash 21 Dec 09 150,000 1,464,000 350,000 2,317,000

Executives

N. Lenahan Equity 21 Dec 09 50,000 296,000 100,000 407,000

S. Thomas Equity 21 Dec 09 50,000 296,000 100,000 407,000

A. Engelbrecht Equity 21 Dec 09 50,000 296,000 100,000 407,000

R. Bardien Equity 21 Dec 09 35,000 207,200 75,000 305,250

J. Coleman Equity 21 Dec 09 50,000 296,000 100,000 407,000

Share rights

The fair value of the equity settled share rights at grant date was $5.92 per right. The cash settled share rights were revalued at 

30 June 2010 to $9.76 per right. The proportion of share rights expensed in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010 

was 16.7%.

The share rights will vest as follows;

•	  100% of the share rights will vest if the Company’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) ranking is at or above the 75th percentile level 

of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on that date;

•	  50% of the share rights will vest if the Company’s TSR ranking is at the 50th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index 

on that date; and

•	  if the Company’s TSR ranking is between the 50th percentile and 75th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on that date, 

the percentage of share rights that will vest increases on a straight line basis from 50% to 100% with an additional 2% of share rights 

vesting for each percentile (1%) achieved above the 50th percentile – those share rights that do not vest will immediately lapse.

If the Company’s TSR ranking is less than the 50th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on 21 December 2012, no share 

rights will vest but they will be re-tested on 21 December 2013 and the above paragraphs will apply.

Any share rights which have not vested by the 21 December 2013 will immediately lapse.
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Share appreciation rights

The fair value of the share appreciation rights at grant date was $4.27 per right. The cash settled share appreciation rights were revalued 

at 30 June 2010 to $6.62 per right. The proportion of share appreciation rights expensed in the financial statements for the year ended 

30 June 2010 was 17.6%.

The share appreciation rights will vest as follows:

•	 33.3% of the total share appreciation rights on the 21 December 2011

•	 33.3% of the total share appreciation rights on the 21 December 2012, and

•	 33.3% of the total share appreciation rights on the 21 December 2013

And the following will apply to determine vesting; 

•	  100% of the share appreciation rights will vest if the Company’s TSR ranking is at or exceeds the 75th percentile level of the  

S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on that date;

•	  50% of the share appreciation rights will vest if the Company’s TSR ranking is at the 50th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy 

Index on that date; and

•	  if the Company’s TSR ranking is between the 50th percentile and 75th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on that date, 

the percentage of share appreciation rights that will vest increases on a straight line basis from 50% to 100% with an additional 2% of 

share rights vesting for each percentile (1%) achieved above the 50th percentile – those share appreciation rights that do not vest will 

immediately lapse.

If the Company’s TSR ranking is less than the 50th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on the TSR vesting date, no share 

appreciation rights will vest but they will be re-tested 12 months after the TSR vesting date and paragraphs above will apply. (The SAR 

Last Re-testing Date). Any unvested share appreciation rights which have not vested on the SAR Last Re-testing Date will be re-tested 

6 months after that date (SAR Final Re-testing Date). 

If re-testing occurs, the number of share appreciation rights to vest on the SAR Final Re-testing Date will be calculated by applying the 

vesting percentage on that date to the number of Share Appreciation Rights which have not vested prior to that date.

Any Share Appreciation Rights which have not vested by the SAR Final Re-testing Date will immediately lapse.
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AUDIT INDEPENDENCE

Non-audit services

The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to its statutory audit duties where the auditor’s expertise 

and experience with the Company and/or the Consolidated Entity are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (Ernst & Young) for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set 

out below.

The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the audit committee, is satisfied 

that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 

Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not 

compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Parent Entity and its related practices: 

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$

2009 
$

Assurance services - Audit services

Ernst & Young Australian firm:

Audit and review of financial reports under the Corporations Act 2001 143,945 129,955

Ernst & Young African firms:

Audit and review of financial reports 336,416 352,062

Taxation services

Ernst & Young Australian firm:

Tax compliance services and review of income tax returns 12,800 34,940

Ernst & Young African firms:

Tax compliance services - 40,747
 

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 37. 

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Riversdale Mining Limited and each of its directors are parties to a deed of indemnity under which the Company indemnifies 

the directors of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred by each director in their capacities as directors of the Company. 

The indemnity operates only to the extent permitted by law.

The Company has arranged insurance policies for directors and officers liability and company reimbursement which cover all the 

directors and officers of the Company and its controlled entities. The terms of the policies prohibit disclosure of details of the amounts 

of the insurance cover, the nature thereof and the premium paid.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where rounding is applicable) 

under the option available to the Company under ASIC Class Order 98/0100. The Company is an entity to which the Class Order applies.

Signed for and on behalf of the directors in accordance with a resolution of the Board.

 

 
M. O’KEEFFE S. MALLYON

Executive Chairman Managing Director  

Dated: 23 August 2010 
Sydney, NSW

for the year ended 30 June 2010
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Riversdale Mining Limited

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Riversdale Mining Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2010, to the best of my 

knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any 

applicable code of professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

Michael Elliott

Partner

23 August 2010

AuDITOR’S  
InDEPEnDEnCE DEClARATIOn 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES 

The Company is committed to implementing the highest standards of corporate governance. In determining what those high 

standards should involve, the Company has considered the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principles 

and Recommendations. The Company is pleased to advise that its practices are largely consistent with those of the ASX guidelines. 

As a result of the Company’s size, exceptional growth and short operational history the following practices did not correlate with 

the corporate governance guidelines recommended by the Council during the year and at the date of this report: 

Independent Directors

A majority of the board should be independent directors (Recommendation 2.1). Mr Misra was appointed a non executive director on 

25 May 2010 and is the Vice President and Group Head (Mergers & Acquisitions) for Tata Steel Group, Riversdale’s largest shareholder. 

This results in Riversdale having three out of the six directors being independent. 

Independent Chairman

The Chairman should be an independent director (Recommendation 2.2). Mr O’Keeffe is both an executive and the Chairman 

of the Company. Mr Love, an independent, non executive director, was appointed as Deputy Chairman on 5 December 2006.

Details of all of the Council’s recommendations can be found on the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s website  

at htt p://w ww. asx .com.au. 

1. Board of directors

1.1 Role of the Board

The Board’s role is to govern the Company rather than to manage it. In governing the Company, the directors must act in the best 

interests of the Company as a whole. It is the role of senior management to manage the Company in accordance with the direction 

and delegations of the Board and the responsibility of the Board to oversee the activities of management in carrying out these 

delegated duties. 

In carrying out its governance role, the main task of the Board is to drive the performance of the Company. The Board must also ensure 

that the Company complies with all of its contractual, statutory and any other legal obligations, including the requirements of any 

regulatory body. The Board has the final responsibility for the successful operation of the Company. 

To assist the Board carry out its functions, it has developed a Code of Conduct to guide the directors and other key executives in the 

performance of their roles.

1.2 Composition of the Board

To add value to the Company, the Board has been formed so that it has effective composition, size, balance of skills and commitment 

to adequately discharge its responsibilities and duties. The names of the directors and their qualifications and experience are stated on 

pages 18 and 19, along with the term of office held by each of the directors. Directors are appointed based on the specific skills required 

by the Company and on the independence of their decision-making and judgment. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee assist 

the Board in identifying candidates who may be qualified to become Directors. The nomination of all new Directors is considered by 

the full Board and is assessed against a range of specific criteria including their experience, professional skills and potential conflicts 

of interest. Directors are appointed and re-elected in accordance with the Company’s Constitution, a copy of which is available on the 

Company Website (www.riversdalemining.com.au) or by request from the Company. 

The Company recognises the importance of non executive directors and the external perspective and advice that non executive directors 

can offer. At the year end there were four non executive directors in the Company. 

A non executive director will preferably meet the following criteria for independence adopted by the Company:

An independent director:

•	 is a non executive director and:

•	  is not a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a substantial shareholder 

of the Company;

•	  within the last three years has not been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or another group member, or been 

a director after ceasing to hold any such employment;

•	  within the last three years has not been a principal of a material professional adviser or a material consultant to the Company 

or another group member, or an employee materially associated with the service provider;
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1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONT’D)

1.2 Composition of the Board (Cont’d)

•	  is not a material supplier or customer of the Company or another group member, or an officer of or otherwise associated directly 

or indirectly with a material supplier or customer;

•	 has no material contractual relationship with the Company or other group member other than as a director of the Company; 

•	  has not served on the Board for a period which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the director’s 

ability to act in the best interests of the Company; and

•	  is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere 

with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company.

Applying the above criteria, the Board considers that three Non-executive Directors are independent. The Board assesses the 

independence of new Directors upon appointment and reviews the independence of other Directors as appropriate. 

1.3 Responsibilities of the Board

In general, the Board is responsible for, and has the authority to determine, all matters relating to the policies, practices, management 

and operations of the Company. It is required to do all things that may be necessary to be done in order to carry out the objectives of 

the Company. 

Without intending to limit this general role of the Board, the principal functions and responsibilities of the Board include the following;

•	  Leadership of the Organisation: overseeing the Company and establishing codes of conduct that reflect the values of the Company 

and guide the conduct of the Board, management and employees.

•	  Strategy Formulation: working with senior management to set and review the overall strategy and goals for the Company and ensuring 

that there are policies in place to govern the operation of the Company.

•	  Overseeing Planning Activities: overseeing the development of the Company’s strategic plan and approving that plan as well as the 

annual and long-term budgets.

•	  Shareholder Liaison: ensuring effective communications with shareholders through an appropriate communications policy and 

promoting participation at general meetings of the Company.

•	  Monitoring, Compliance and Risk Management: overseeing the Company’s risk management, compliance, control and accountability 

systems and monitoring and directing the financial and operational performance of the Company.

•	  Company Finances: approving expenses in excess of those approved in the annual budget and approving and monitoring acquisitions, 

divestitures and financial and other reporting.

•	  Human Resources: appointing, and, where appropriate, removing the executive directors as well as reviewing and monitoring the 

performance of the executive directors and senior management in their implementation of the Company’s strategy.

•	  Ensuring the Health, Safety and Well-Being of Employees: in conjunction with the senior management team, developing, overseeing 

and reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s occupational health and safety systems to ensure the well-being of all employees.

•	  Delegation of Authority: establishing and determining the powers and functions of the Committees of the Board and delegating 

appropriate powers to the Managing Director and other executives to ensure the effective day-to-day management of the Company. 

In carrying out this delegation the Managing Director reports routinely to the Board on the Company’s progress on achieving the short, 

medium and long term plans of the Company. The Managing Director is accountable to the Board for the authority that is delegated 

by the Board. Riversdale Policy on Delegated Authorities sets out the delegation system extending authorities to the appropriate 

management level in order to improve participation in management decision-making and to ensure role clarity.

Full details of the Board’s role and responsibilities are contained in the Company’s Corporate Governance Policies and Procedures 

Manual, a copy of which is available on the Company Website (www.riversdalemining.com.au) or by request from the Company.

1.4 Board Policies

1.4.1 Conflicts of Interest

Directors must:

•	  disclose to the Board actual or potential conflicts of interest that may or might reasonably be thought to exist between the interests 

of the director and the interests of any other parties in carrying out the activities of the Company; and 

•	  if requested by the Board, within seven days or such further period as may be permitted, take such necessary and reasonable steps 

to remove any conflict of interest.

If a director cannot or is unwilling to remove a conflict of interest then the director must abstain from voting on the matter in question. 
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

STATEMEnT OF CORPORATE  
GOVERnAnCE PRACTICES 

1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONT’D)

1.4 Board Policies (Cont’d)

1.4.2 Commitments

Each member of the Board is committed to spending sufficient time to enable them to carry out their duties as a director 

of the Company.

1.4.3 Confidentiality

In accordance with legal requirements and agreed ethical standards, directors and key executives of the Company have agreed to keep 

confidential, information received in the course of the exercise of their duties and will not disclose non-public information except where 

disclosure is authorised or legally mandated.

1.4.4 Continuous Disclosure 

The Board has designated the Company Secretary as the person responsible for overseeing and coordinating disclosure of information 

to the ASX as well as communicating with the ASX. In accordance with the ASX Listing Rules, the Company immediately notifies the 

ASX of information:

•	  concerning the Company that a reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the price or value of the Company’s 

securities; and

•	  that would, or would be likely to, influence persons who commonly invest in securities in deciding whether to acquire or dispose of 

the Company’s securities.

Upon confirmation of receipt from the ASX, the Company makes all such information available to shareholders and other interested 

parties on request.

1.4.5 Education and Induction

New directors undergo an induction process in which they are given a full briefing on the Company. This includes meetings with key 

executives, tours of the premises, an induction package and presentations. Information conveyed to new directors includes:

•	 details of the roles and responsibilities of a director with an outline of the qualities required to be a successful director; 

•	 formal policies on director appointment as well as conduct and contribution expectations; 

•	 details of all relevant legal requirements;

•	 a copy of the Company’s Corporate Governance Policies and Procedures Manual;

•	 guidelines on how the Board processes function;

•	 details of past, recent and likely future developments relating to the Board including anticipated regulatory changes;

•	 background information on and contact information for key people in the organisation including an outline of their roles and capabilities;

•	 an analysis of the Company; 

•	 a synopsis of the current strategic direction of the Company including a copy of the current strategic plan and annual budget; and

•	 a copy of the Constitution of the Company.

In order to achieve continuing improvement in Board performance, all directors are encouraged to undergo continual professional 

development. Specifically, directors are provided with the resources and training to address skills gaps where they are identified. 

1.4.6 Independent Professional Advice

The Board collectively, and each director, has the right to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense, 

up to specified limits, to assist them to carry out their responsibilities. 

1.4.7 Related Party Transactions

Related party transactions include any financial transaction between a director and the Company and will be reported in writing to each 

Board meeting. Unless there is an exemption under the Corporations Act 2001 from the requirement to obtain shareholder approval for 

the related party transaction, the Board cannot approve the transaction. 

1.4.8 Shareholder Communication

The Company respects the rights of its shareholders and to facilitate the effective exercise of those rights the Company is committed to:

•	  communicating effectively with shareholders through releases to the market via ASX, information mailed to shareholders, 

the Company website (www.riversdalemining.com.au) and the general meetings of the Company;
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1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONT’D)

1.4 Board Policies (Cont’d)

•	 giving shareholders ready access to balanced and understandable information about the Company and corporate proposals; 

•	 making it easy for shareholders to participate in general meetings of the Company; and

•	  requesting the external auditor to attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions about the 

conduct of the audit and the preparation of the auditor’s report. 

The Company also makes available a telephone number for shareholders to make enquiries of the Company. 

1.4.9 Trading in Company Shares

The Company has a Share Trading Policy under which directors and certain employees and their associates may trade in the Company’s 

securities during the 2 weeks immediately after each of the following (“trading window”):

•	 the release by the Company of its half-yearly results to the ASX;

•	 the release by the Company of its annual results to the ASX;

•	 the release by the Company of its quarterly reports to the ASX.

The Share Trading Policy also allows for individuals to trade in the Company’s securities at other times provided they advise specified 

Company officers and that such trades are consistent with the law. Officers are prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities 

while in the possession of unpublished price sensitive information concerning the Company. Unpublished price sensitive information 

is information regarding the Company of which the market is not aware and that a reasonable person would expect to have a material 

effect on the price or value of the Company’s securities.

Notice of an intention to trade must be given prior to trading in the Company’s securities as well as a confirmation that the person is not 

in possession of any unpublished price sensitive information. The completion of any such trade by a director must also be notified to the 

Company Secretary who in turn advises the ASX.

1.4.10 Performance Review/Evaluation

Each year the Board conducts an evaluation of executives and its own performance. The performance is measured against both 

qualitative and quantitative indicators. Further detail is available in the remuneration section of the director’s report on pages 24 to 35.

1.4.11 Attestations by Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer

In accordance with the Board’s policy and section 295A of the Corporations Act, the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer 

made the attestations as to the Company’s financial condition prior to the Board signing this Annual Report, including the integrity of 

the financial statements being founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is working 

effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

2. BOARD COMMITTEES

2.1 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was formed by resolution of the Board on 25 August 2003. Below is a summary of the role, composition and 

responsibilities of the Audit Committee. Further details are contained in the Company’s Corporate Governance Policies and Procedures 

Manual which includes the Audit Committee Charter available on the Company website (www.riversdalemining.com.au) or by request 

to the Company.

2.1.1 Role 

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting and overseeing the independence 

of the external auditors. 

2.1.2 Composition

The Audit Committee consists of three members. Members are appointed by the Board from the non executive directors if possible. 

The current members of the Audit Committee are Mr Love, Mr Lawler and Mr Redman. All members can read and understand financial 

statements and are otherwise financially literate. Mr Love is the Chairman of the Audit Committee with experience in financial and 

accounting matters. The details of the member’s qualifications may be found in their Director Profiles on pages 18 and 19 of this report. 

The Audit Committee held two meetings throughout the year. 
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

STATEMEnT OF CORPORATE  
GOVERnAnCE PRACTICES 

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (CONT’D)

2.1 Audit Committee (Cont’d)

2.1.3 Responsibilities

The Audit Committee reviews the audited annual and half-yearly financial statements and any reports which accompany published 

financial statements before submission to the Board and recommends their approval. 

The Audit Committee also recommends to the Board the appointment of the external auditor and reviews the appointment of the 

external auditor, their independence, the audit fee and any questions of resignation or retirement. A review is performed to ensure that 

external audit partners are not appointed for more than 5 years. 

The Audit Committee is also responsible for establishing policies on risk oversight and management and supervision of the internal 

audit function.

2.2 Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee consists of three members and the current members are Mr Love, who is the Chairman, 

Mr O’Keeffe and Mr Lawler. The committee was formed on 24 May 2009 by merger of the Remuneration and Nomination Committees 

and by a resolution of directors. 

2.2.1 Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Policy was approved by resolution of the Board on 17 August 2009.

The Company is committed to remunerating its directors and senior executives in a manner that is market competitive and consistent 

with best practice as well as supporting the interests of shareholders. Consequently, under the Senior Executive Remuneration Policy 

the remuneration of senior executive may be comprised of the following:

•	 fixed salary that is determined from a review of the market and reflects core performance requirements and expectations;

•	  a performance bonus designed to reward actual achievement by the individual of performance objectives and for materially improved 

Company performance;

•	 participation in Long Term Incentive scheme with thresholds approved by shareholders; 

•	 statutory superannuation contributions.

By remunerating senior executives through performance and long-term incentive plans in addition to their fixed remuneration the 

Company aims to align the interests of senior executives with those of shareholders and increase Company performance. Following 

discussions with shareholders and shareholder associations the Company engaged Guerdon Associates to perform an independent 

review of executive directors’ and executives’ remuneration. As a result of this review and the recommendation of the Remuneration 

Committee no further options will be issued to non executive directors and a new executive directors’ remuneration and LTI policy has 

been developed. This includes strategic milestones critical to realising the full potential of the Company’s assets with mechanisms to 

provide flexibility to deal with uncontrollable issues within the foreign operating environment. 

For further information in relation to the remuneration of directors, refer to the Directors’ Report.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee also:

•	 conducts an annual review of the membership of the Board having regard to present and future needs of the Company;

•	 conducts an annual review of and concludes on the independence of each director; and

•	 proposes candidates for board vacancies.

2.2.2 Criteria for Selection of Directors

Directors are appointed based on their experience and specific skills required by the Company. Given the size of the Company and 

the business that it operates, the Company aims at all times to have at least one director with experience in the Company’s industry, 

appropriate to the Company’s market. 

2.3  Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee was formed during May 2009 and is comprised of Non-Executive Directors, being Mr Lawler (Chairman), 

Mr Love and Mr Redman. The Compliance Committee role is to review Company releases of a material nature and, if appropriate, 

recommend these releases for approval by the Board. 
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3. COMPANY CODE OF CONDUCT

As part of its commitment to recognising the legitimate interests of stakeholders, the Company has established a Code of Conduct to 

guide compliance with legal and other obligations to legitimate stakeholders. These stakeholders include employees, clients, customers, 

government authorities, creditors and the community as a whole. The Company Code of Conduct was adopted by resolution of the 

Board on 18 February 2004 and is available on the Company website (www.riversdalemining.com.au) or by request to the Company. 

This Company Code of Conduct includes the following:

Responsibilities to Shareholders and the Financial Community Generally

The Company complies with the spirit as well as the letter of all laws and regulations that govern shareholders’ rights. The Company 

has processes in place designed to ensure the truthful and factual presentation of the Company’s financial position and prepares and 

maintains its accounts fairly and accurately in accordance with the generally accepted accounting and financial reporting standards.

Responsibilities to Clients, Customers and Consumers

Each employee has an obligation to use their best efforts to deal in a fair and responsible manner with each of the Company’s clients, 

customers and consumers. The Company for its part is committed to providing clients, customers and consumers with fair value. 

Employment Practices

The Company endeavours to provide a safe workplace in which there is equal opportunity for all employees at all levels of the Company. 

The Company does not tolerate the offering or acceptance of bribes or the misuse of Company assets or resources.

Obligations Relative to Fair Trading and Dealing

The Company aims to conduct its business fairly and to compete ethically and in accordance with relevant competition laws. 

The Company strives to deal fairly with the Company’s customers, suppliers, competitors and other employees and encourages 

its employees to strive to do the same. 

Responsibility to the Individual 

The Company is committed to keeping private information from employees, clients, customers, consumers and investors confidential 

and protected from uses other than those for which it was provided.

Conflicts of Interest

Employees and directors must avoid conflicts as well as the appearance of conflicts between personal interests and the interests 

of the Company.

4. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

The effective management of business risks is crucial to the continued growth and success of Riversdale. The purpose of the risk 

management policy statement is to emphasise Riversdale’s commitment to effective risk management as well as to communicate 

certain broad risk management principles to guide Riversdale’s businesses. Business risks are defined as ‘uncertain future events 

that could influence the achievement of the Company’s objectives’. In order to achieve those objectives and create shareholder value, 

considered risks are taken because without risk there is no reward. However, risks must be fully understood and effectively managed 

in order to minimise losses and maximise opportunities. Effective risk management considers both risk and reward and is an integral 

part of good management practice. 

Riversdale takes a structured, consistent and continuous approach to risk management. All significant risks are assessed, managed 

and reported using a uniform risk management framework. Responsibility and accountability for the management of business 

risks is with the Managing Director, who may delegate specific responsibilities as appropriate. The aim is for risk management to 

become embedded into all decision making processes including planning, operations, new projects, business acquisitions, disposals 

and closures.

Significant risks and related mitigation plans will be reported on at different levels within the organisation (including Board level) 

in accordance with a defined risk reporting process and appropriate disclosure of material risks. Compliance with this policy and 

the effectiveness of risk management processes will be monitored by the Riversdale Audit Committee and the internal audit function. 

Specific Company risks and risk management policies are outlined in note 25.
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

Note Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Revenue 3 97,520 67,784

Cost of sales (81,683) (48,590)

Gross profit 15,837 19,194

Other income 3 15,314 20,233

Administration expenses 4 (9,027) (9,235)

Other expenses 4 (19,226) (20,450)

Profit before income tax 2,898 9,742

Income tax expense 5 (1,563) (7,023)

Profit after income tax 1,335 2,719

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations (28,274) 9,024

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period (26,939) 11,743

Profit / (loss) attributable to:

Non-controlling interest 2,114 2,419

Members of the parent (779) 300

1,335 2,719

Total comprehensive income / (Loss) attributable to:

Non-controlling interest 2,114 2,419

Members of the Parent (29,053) 9,324

(26,939) 11,743

Basic earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share) 27 (0.40) 0.16

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share) 27 (0.40) 0.15

The above statement of compressive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

COnSOlIDATED STATEMEnT 
OF COMPREHEnSIVE InCOME
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at 30 June 2010

COnSOlIDATED  
STATEMEnT OF FInAnCIAl POSITIOn

Note Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 7 247,341 290,279

Trade and other receivables 8 28,030 14,049

Income tax receivable 5 3,006 229

Inventories 9 11,111 26,200

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 289,488 330,757

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other receivables 10 935 1,364

Other financial assets 11 4,253 4,183

Deferred tax assets 5 7,313 7,811

Property, plant and equipment 12 152,129 89,065

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 13 114,096 134,884

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 278,726 237,307

TOTAL ASSETS 568,214 568,064

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 14 24,899 25,492

Borrowings 15 99 103

Provisions 16 2,033 2,374

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 27,031 27,969

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables 18 1,109 -

Provisions 17 17,954 17,005

Deferred tax liabilities 5 16,038 16,378

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 35,101 33,383

TOTAL LIABILITIES 62,132 61,352

NET ASSETS 506,082 506,712

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Contributed equity 20 413,646 387,564

Retained earnings 102,060 102,839

Reserves (27,342) 238

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent 488,364 490,641

Non-controlling interest 17,718 16,071

TOTAL EQUITY 506,082 506,712

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

COnSOlIDATED STATEMEnT 
OF CHAnGES In EQuITY

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Contributed 
equity  

 

 
$’ 000

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

 
$’ 000

Share 
based 

payment 
reserve

 
$’ 000 

Option 
issue 

reserve  

 
$’ 000

Retained 
earnings 

  

 
$’ 000

Total  
 
 

 
$’ 000

Non-
controlling 

interest  

 
$’ 000

Total  
Equity 

 

 
$’ 000

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2008 383,495 (23,920) 2,026 6,388 102,539 470,528 13,652 484,180

Net profit for the period - - - - 300 300 2,419 2,719

Other comprehensive income - 9,024 - - - 9,024 - 9,024

Total comprehensive income - 9,024 - - 300 9,324 2,419 11,743

Transactions with owners in their 

capacity as owners
Issue of capital 4,069 - (958) (87) - 3,024 - 3,024

Share based payment expense - - 7,765 - - 7,765 - 7,765

Balance at 30 June 2009 387,564 (14,896) 8,833 6,301 102,839 490,641 16,071 506,712

Balance at 1 July 2009 387,564 (14,896) 8,833 6,301 102,839 490,641 16,071 506,712

Net profit / (loss) for the period - - - - (779) (779) 2,114 1,335

Other comprehensive loss - (28,274) - - - (28,274) - (28,274)

Total comprehensive  
income / (loss) - (28,274) - - (779) (29,053) 2,114 (26,939)

Transactions with owners  

in their capacity as owners
Dividends paid - - - - - - (467) (467)

Issue of capital 26,082 - (1,030) (6,089) - 18,963 - 18,963

Share based payment expense - - 7,813 - - 7,813 - 7,813

Balance at 30 June 2010 413,646 (43,170) 15,616 212 102,060 488,364 17,718 506,082

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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for the year ended 30 June 2010

COnSOlIDATED  
STATEMEnT OF CASH FlOWS

Note Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 91,954 74,957

Payments to suppliers and employees (72,464) (69,171)

Interest received from financial institutions 11,777 19,005

Income tax paid (3,139) (5,496)

Net cash from operating activities 7 28,128 19,295

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for exploration expenditure (25,970) (30,640)

Payment for property, plant and equipment (65,451) (48,784)

Net cash used in investing activities (91,421) (79,424)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from share issues 18,963 3,024

Net cash provided by financing activities 18,963 3,024

NET DECREASE IN CASH HELD (44,330) (57,105)

Cash at the beginning of the year 290,279 347,828

Effects of exchange rate movements on cash 1,392 (444)

CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR 7 247,341 290,279

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

nOTES TO AnD FORMInG PART OF 
THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS

48

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The financial report of Riversdale Mining Limited (the Company) for the year ended 30 June 2010 was authorised for issue in accordance 

with a resolution of the directors on 23 August 2010.

Riversdale Mining Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled in Australia whose shares are publicly traded 

on the Australian Stock Exchange using the ASX code RIV.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Riversdale Mining Limited and its subsidiaries  

(the Group or Consolidated Entity).

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Consolidated Entity are described in the Directors’ Report.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative announcements of the Australian Accounting 

Standards Board.

The financial report has also been prepared on an historical cost basis.

(b) Statement of compliance

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 

and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

(c) Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Consolidated Entity has the power to govern the financial and operating polices so as 

to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 

considered when assessing whether a group controls another entity.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company using consistent accounting 

policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from 

intra group transactions, have been eliminated in full. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Consolidated Entity and cease to be consolidated from 

the date on which control is transferred out of the Consolidated Entity. Where there is a loss of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated 

financial statements include the results for the part of the reporting period during which Riversdale Mining Limited has control.

Riversdale Mozambique Limitada, Riversdale Coal Proprietary Limited, Zululand Anthracite Colliery (Proprietary) Limited and Riversdale 

Anthracite Colliery (Proprietary) Limited have been included in the consolidated financial statements using the purchase method of 

accounting that measures the acquiree’s assets and liabilities at their fair value at acquisition date. The purchase consideration has been 

allocated to the assets and liabilities on the basis of fair value at the date of acquisition.

Non-controlling interest represents the portion of profit or loss and net assets in Zululand Anthracite Colliery (Proprietary) Limited and 

Riversdale Anthracite Colliery (Proprietary) Limited not held by the Consolidated Entity and are presented separately in the statement 

of financial performance and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The non-controlling interests are held by the Maweni Mining Consortium (Proprietary) Limited and Khulani Resources (Proprietary) 

Limited, both black economic empowerment entities in Zululand Anthracite Colliery (Proprietary) Limited and Riversdale Anthracite 

Colliery (Proprietary) Limited respectively.

The Consolidated Entity has an interest in a joint venture that is a jointly controlled entity. A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture 

that involves the establishment of another entity in which each venturer has an interest. The entity operates in the same way as other 

entities, except that a contractual arrangement between the venturers establishes joint control over the economic activity of the entity. 

The Consolidated Entity recognises its interest in the jointly controlled entity using the proportionate consolidation method. By applying 

this method, the Consolidated Entity recognises its share of the jointly controlled entities assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses 

within each applicable line item of the financial statements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(d) Business combinations 

Subsequent to 1 January 2009

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination shall 

be measured at fair value, which shall be calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred by the 

acquirer, the liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the equity issued by the acquirer, and the amount 

of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the 

acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Consolidated Entity acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification 

and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the Consolidated Entity’s operating or accounting 

policies and other pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts 

by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 

acquiree is remeasured at fair value as at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 

changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance 

with AASB 139 either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall 

not be remeasured.

Prior to 1 January 2009

Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase method. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition formed 

part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest (formerly known as minority interest) was measured at the proportionate share 

of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for in separate steps. Any additional interest in the acquiree acquired did not 

affect previously recognised goodwill. The goodwill amounts calculated at each step acquisition were accumulated.

When the Consolidated Entity acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the acquiree were not 

reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modified 

the cash flows that otherwise would have been required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Consolidated Entity had a present obligation, the economic outflow was 

more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration were adjusted 

against goodwill.

(e) Foreign currency translation 

Both the functional and presentation currency of Riversdale Mining Limited is Australian dollars (A$). The functional currency of the 

overseas subsidiaries is as follows:

Riversdale Holdings (Proprietary) Limited South African rand (ZAR)

Riversdale Anthracite Colliery (Proprietary) Limited  South African rand (ZAR)

Zululand Anthracite Colliery (Proprietary) Limited South African rand (ZAR)

Riversdale Connections (Proprietary) Limited South African rand (ZAR)

Riversdale Mozambique Limitada Mozambique metical (MZN)

Riversdale Capital Mozambique Limitada Mozambique metical (MZN)

Riversdale Ventures Mozambique Limitada Mozambique metical (MZN)

Riversdale Energy (Mauritius) Limited United States dollars (USD)

Carrier Holdings Limited United States dollars (USD)

Promark Services Limited  Australian dollars (A$)

Riversdale Capital (Mauritius) Limited Australian dollars (A$)

Riversdale Ventures (Mauritius) Limited Australian dollars (A$)

Aquatic Holdings (Mauritius) Limited Australian dollars (A$)

Riversdale Coal Proprietary Limited Australian dollars (A$)
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

nOTES TO AnD FORMInG PART OF 
THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Cont’d) 

Each entity in the Consolidated Entity determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each 

entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the date of the 

transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the 

balance sheet date. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the 

date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 

the date when the fair value was determined.

All exchange differences in the consolidated financial report are taken to the income statement with the exception of retranslation 

differences and differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign entity. These are 

taken directly to equity until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognised in the income statement. Tax charges 

and credits attributable to exchange differences on those borrowings are also recognised in equity.

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of Riversdale 

Mining Limited at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the income statements are translated at the average 

exchange rates for the period.

The exchange differences arising on the retranslation are taken directly to a separate component of equity namely the foreign currency 

translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign 

operation is recognised in the income statement.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 

to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(g) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the Consolidated Entity will no longer be able to collect 

the debt. Bad debts are written off when identified on a specific debt basis. 

Receivables from related parties are recognised and carried at the nominal amount due. Interest is taken up as income on an 

accrual basis.

(h) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and includes all costs 

incurred in the normal course of business including direct material and direct labour costs, and an allocation of production overheads, 

depreciation and amortisation and other costs, based on normal production capacity, incurred in bringing each product to its present 

location and condition. Inventories are categorised as follows:

•	 Run of mine: material extracted through the mining process.

•	 Finished goods: products that have passed all stages of the production process.

•	 Consumable stores: goods or supplies to be either directly or indirectly consumed in the production process.

Net realisable value represents estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any further costs expected to be incurred 

to completion and disposal.

(i)  Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are classified as either financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. 

When financial assets are recognised initially they are measured at fair value. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 

investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 

designation at each reporting date.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial 

recognition. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(i)  Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

so designated by management. The policy of management is to designate a financial asset if there exists the possibility it will be sold 

in the short term and the asset is subject to frequent changes in fair value. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless 

they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected 

to be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

They arise when the Consolidated Entity provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the 

receivable. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date 

which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the balance sheet.

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the 

Consolidated Entity’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments that are intended to be 

held-to-maturity are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated 

in this category or not classified in any of the three proceeding categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management 

intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans 

and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Realised and 

unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are 

included in the income statement in the period in which they arise. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of 

non monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity in the available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve. 

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the income 

statement as gains and losses from investment securities.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted 

securities), the Consolidated Entity establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include reference to the fair values of 

recent arm’s length transactions, involving the same instruments or other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash 

flow analysis, and option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances.

The Consolidated Entity assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 

assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 

a security below its cost is considered in determining whether the security is impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale 

financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any 

impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit and loss - is removed from equity and recognised in the income 

statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments that are classified as available for sale are not 

reversed through the income statement.

(j) Property, plant and equipment

On initial acquisition, land, property, plant and equipment are valued at cost, being the purchase price and the directly attributable costs 

of acquisition or construction required to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary for the asset to be capable of operating 

in the manner intended by management. Such cost also includes the cost of replacing part of such plant and equipment when that cost 

is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

In subsequent periods, property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value, 

whilst land is stated at cost less any impairment in value and is not depreciated.

Depreciation is provided so as to write off the cost, less estimated residual values of property, plant and equipment (based on prices 

prevailing at the balance date) on the following bases:

•	 Mine production assets are depreciated using the shorter of mine life or the remaining existing useful life of the asset. 

•	 Buildings, plant and equipment unrelated to production are depreciated using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives.
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

nOTES TO AnD FORMInG PART OF 
THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(j) Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Where significant parts of an asset have differing useful lives, depreciation is calculated on each separate part. Each item or part’s 

estimated useful life has due regard to both its own physical life limitations and the present assessment of economically recoverable 

reserves of the mine property at which the item is located, and to possible future variations in those assessments. Estimates of 

remaining useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually.

The expected useful lives are as follows:

•	 Motor vehicles up to three years

•	 Plant and equipment up to life of mine

•	 Furniture and fittings up to six years

•	 Office equipment up to five years

•	 Computer hardware up to three years

•	 Computer software up to two years

•	 Aircraft up to twenty years

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying 

value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, 

the assets or cash generating units are written down to their recoverable amount.

Impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Expenditure on major maintenance or repairs includes the cost of replacement of parts of assets and overhaul costs. Where an 

asset or part of an asset is replaced and it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will be available to the 

Consolidated Entity, the expenditure is capitalised and the carrying amount of the item replaced derecognised. Similarly, overhaul costs 

associated with major maintenance are capitalised where it is probable that future economic benefits will be available and any remaining 

carrying amounts of the cost of previous overhauls are derecognised. All other maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use 

or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 

the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised. 

(k) Exploration and evaluation costs

Exploration and evaluation expenditure relates to costs incurred on the exploration and evaluation of potential mineral reserves. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure for each area of interest (Licence area), other than that acquired from the purchase of another 

mining company, is carried forward as an asset provided that one of the following conditions is met: 

•	  such costs are expected to be recouped in full through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest or alternatively, 

by its sale; or

•	  exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment 

of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in relation to the area 

are continuing.

Purchased exploration and evaluation assets are recognised as assets at their cost of acquisition or at fair value if purchased as part 

of a business combination.

An impairment review is performed, either individually or at the cash generating unit level, when there are indicators that the carrying 

amount of the assets may exceed their recoverable amounts. To the extent that this occurs, the excess is fully provided against, in the 

financial period in which this is determined. Exploration assets are reassessed on a regular basis and these costs are carried forward 

provided that at least one of the conditions outlined above is met.

(l) Mine development costs

The cost of acquiring mineral reserves and mineral resources are capitalised on the statement of financial position as incurred. 

Capitalised costs (development expenditure) include expenditure incurred to expand the capacity of a mine and to maintain production. 

Mine development costs include acquired mineral reserves and resources at cost at acquisition date.

Mineral reserves and resources and capitalised mine development expenditure are, upon commencement of production, depreciated 

over the remaining life of mine. The net carrying amounts of mineral reserves and resources and capitalised mine development 

expenditure at each mine property are reviewed for impairment either individually or at the cash-generating unit level when events and 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. To the extent to which these values exceed their 

recoverable amounts, that excess is fully provided against in the financial year in which this is determined.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(m) Mine infrastructure

Mine plant facilities including decommissioning assets are amortised using the lesser of their useful life or units-of-production method 

based on estimated proved and probable mineral reserves. Other fixed assets, comprising vehicles and computer equipment, are 

depreciated by the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.

(n) Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of non-current assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the 

carrying value may not be recoverable. If there are indicators of impairment, a review is undertaken to determine whether the carrying 

values are in excess of their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 

to sell and its value in use. Such review is undertaken on an asset by asset basis, except where such assets do not generate cash flows 

independent of other assets, when the review is undertaken at the cash generating unit level.

Where a cash generating unit, or group of cash generating units, has goodwill allocated to it, or includes intangible assets which 

are either not available for use or which have an indefinite useful life (and which can only be tested as part of a cash generating unit), 

an impairment test is performed at least annually or whenever there is an indication that the carrying amount of such assets may 

be impaired.

If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded in the income statement to reflect the 

asset at the lower amount. In assessing recoverable amount for assets, the higher of (1) the relevant future cash flows expected to arise 

from the continuing use of such assets and from their disposal have been discounted to their present value using a market-determined 

pre-tax discount rate which reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and asset-specific risks for which the cash 

flow estimates have not been adjusted or (2) the fair value less cost to sell is used.

An impairment loss is reversed in the income statement if there is a change in estimates used to determine recoverable amount since 

the prior impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount is increased to recoverable amount but not beyond the carrying amount 

net of depreciation or amortisation which would have arisen if the prior impairment loss had not been recognised. After such a reversal 

the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a 

systematic basis over its remaining useful life. Goodwill impairments are not reversed.

(o) Derecognition of financial instruments

The derecognition of a financial instrument takes place when the Consolidated Entity no longer controls the contractual rights that 

comprise the financial instrument, which is normally the case when the instrument is sold, or all the cash flows attributable to the 

instrument are passed through to an independent third party. 

(p)  Trade and other payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the 

Consolidated Entity prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Consolidated Entity becomes obliged 

to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

(q) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated 

with the borrowing. After initial recognition interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised and as well 

as through the amortisation process.

(r) Leases

Finance leases, which transfer to the Consolidated Entity substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased 

item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 

lease payments.

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate 

of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised as an expense in profit or loss.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

nOTES TO AnD FORMInG PART OF 
THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(s) Employee leave benefits

Provision is made for the Consolidated Entity’s liability for employee entitlements, including on-costs, in respect of wages and salaries, 

annual leave and long service leave arising from service rendered by employees to balance date. 

Provisions made in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months, 

are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Provisions made in respect of other employee entitlements which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured 

as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Consolidated Entity in respect of services provided by 

employees up to the reporting date and take into account the expected future wages, experience of departures, periods of service 

and market yields.

Contributions are made by the Consolidated Entity to employee superannuation funds and are charged as expenses when incurred.

(t) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 

probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can 

be made of the amount of the obligation.

Where the Consolidated Entity expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 

reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any 

provision is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

(u) Rehabilitation and restoration costs

Provision is made for close down, restoration and for environmental rehabilitation costs (which include the dismantling and demolition 

of infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas) in the financial period when the related environmental 

disturbance occurs, based on the estimated future costs using information available at the balance sheet date. The provision is 

discounted using a current market-based pre-tax discount rate which takes into account the separate risks of the liability. The unwinding 

of the discount is included in interest expense. At the time of establishing the provision, a corresponding asset is capitalised, where 

it gives rise to a future benefit, and depreciated over future production from the mine to which it relates.

The provision is reviewed on an annual basis for changes to obligations or legislation or discount rates that effect change in cost 

estimates or life of operations. The cost of the related asset is adjusted for changes in the provision resulting from changes in the 

estimated cash flows or discount rate, and the adjusted cost of the asset is depreciated prospectively.

These estimates of the restoration obligations are based on current technology and legal requirements and future costs. Any changes 

in the estimates are adjusted on a prospective basis. In determining the restoration obligations, the entity has assumed no significant 

changes will occur in the relevant government legislation in relation to restoration of such mines in the future.

Rehabilitation trust funds holding monies committed for use in satisfying environmental obligations are included within other financial 

assets on the statement of financial position.

(v) Defined health care benefit provision

Fulltime employees of Riversdale Holdings (Proprietary) Limited employed before 1 January 2001 and who have not opted to receive 

a medical subsidy buyout are eligible for a subsidy in retirement. The provision recorded is the present value of the expected medical 

contributions to be paid in respect of these employees.

The liability accrues based on actuarial assessment in line with the Projected Unit Credit Method. The post-employment liability usually 

only vests at retirement or death in service and is generally not dependant on the length of employment. 

(w) Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity 

as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(x) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Consolidated Entity and the revenue 

can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer. 

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument) to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

(y) Taxes

Income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 

the taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable income. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 

that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 

and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences:

•	  except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 

a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	  in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, 

except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax 

losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 

carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised:

•	  except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 

profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	  in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, 

deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 

future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and recognised to the extent that it has become 

probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised 

or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balances sheet date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 

current liabilities and the deferred tax asset and liabilities related to the same taxable entity and the same tax authority.

Other taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

•	  where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST 

is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

nOTES TO AnD FORMInG PART OF 
THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(y) Taxes (Cont’d)

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 

balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and 

financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows. Commitments 

and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

(z) Share-based payment transactions

The Consolidated Entity provides benefits to employees (including key management personnel) of the Consolidated Entity in 

the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares 

(‘equity-settled transactions’).

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are 

granted. The fair value is determined using the Black & Scholes valuation model, with a Monte Carlo simulation applied to fair value the 

Total Shareholder Return (TSR) element. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other 

than conditions linked to the price of the shares of Riversdale Mining Limited (‘market conditions’).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which 

the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award 

(‘vesting date’).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to 

which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the number of transactions that, in the opinion of the Directors of the Consolidated Entity, 

will ultimately vest. This opinion is formed based on the best available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the 

likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value 

at grant date.

No expense is recognised for transactions that do not ultimately vest, except for transactions where vesting is conditional upon 

a market condition.

Equity-settled awards granted by Riversdale Mining Limited to employees of subsidiaries are recognised in the Parent’s separate 

financial statements as an additional investment in the subsidiary with the corresponding credit to equity. These amounts are eliminated 

on Consolidation. As a result, the expenses recognised by Riversdale Mining Limited in relation to equity settled awards only represent 

the expenses associated with grants to employees of the Parent. The expenses recognised by the Consolidated Entity are the total 

expenses associated with all such awards.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been 

modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, 

as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 

recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as 

a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original 

award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options and share rights is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted 

earnings per share.

The Consolidated Entity also provides benefits to executive Directors in the form of cash-settled share based payments, whereby 

Directors render services in exchange for cash, the amounts of which are determined by reference to movements in the price of the 

shares of Riversdale Mining Limited. The ultimate cost of these cash-settled transactions will be equal to the actual cash paid to the 

Directors, which will be the fair value at settlement date.

The cumulative cost recognised until settlement is a liability and the periodic determination of this liability is as follows:

•	 At each reporting date between grant and settlement, the fair value of the award is determined.

•	  During the vesting period, the liability recognised at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date multiplied 

by the expired portion of the vesting period.

•	 From the end of the vesting period until settlement, the liability recognised is the full fair value of the liability at the reporting date.

•	 All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss for the period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

The fair value of the liability is determined, initially and at each reporting date until it is settled, by applying a Black-Scholes option pricing 

model, taking into account the terms and conditions on which the award was granted, and the extent to which employees have rendered 

service to date.

(aa) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (i.e. an asset that necessarily 

takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale) are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. All other 

borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs 

in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

(ab) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 

expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity), whose operating results 

are regularly reviewed by executive management team to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 

performance and for which discrete financial information is available. This includes start up operations which are yet to earn revenues. 

Management will also consider other factors in determining operating segments such as the existence of a line manager and the level 

of segment information presented to the Board of Directors.

Operating segments have been identified based on the information provided to the executive management team.

The Consolidated Entity aggregates two or more operating segments when they have similar economic characteristics, and the 

segments are similar in each of the following respects:

•	 Nature of the products and services,

•	 Nature of the production processes,

•	 Type or class of customer for the products and services,

•	 Methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and if applicable

•	 Nature of the regulatory environment.

Operating segments that meet the quantitative criteria as prescribed by AASB 8 are reported separately. However, an operating 

segment that does not meet the quantitative criteria is still reported separately where information about the segment would be useful 

to users of the financial statements.

Information about other business activities and operating segments that are below the quantitative criteria are combined and disclosed 

in a separate category for “other”.

(ac)  Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-for-sale 

securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the 

Consolidated Entity is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined 

using valuation techniques. The Consolidated Entity uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market 

conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt 

instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining 

financial instruments. The fair value of interest-rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet date.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. 

The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current 

market interest rate that is available to the Consolidated Entity for similar financial instruments.
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

nOTES TO AnD FORMInG PART OF 
THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(ad) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding any costs of 

servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted 

for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after income 

tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of 

shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(ae)  Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires the Consolidated Entity’s management to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 

statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The determination of estimates requires 

the exercise of judgment based on various assumptions and other factors such as historical experience, current and expected economic 

conditions, and in some cases actuarial techniques. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Carrying value of assets

All mining assets are amortised over the shorter of the estimated remaining useful life or remaining mine life. For mobile and other 

equipment, the straight-line method is applied over the estimated useful life of the asset which does not exceed the estimated mine 

life based on proved and probable mineral reserves as the useful lives of these assets are considered to be limited to the life of the 

relevant mine.

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use 

calculations and fair values, less cost to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible 

that the coal price assumption may change which may then impact the estimated life of mine determinant which could result in a 

material adjustment to the carrying value of tangible assets.

The Consolidated Entity reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that 

the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely 

independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are 

prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of 

goodwill and tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a number 

of factors including reserves and production estimates, together with economic factors such as spot and future coal prices, discount 

rates, foreign currency exchange rates, estimates of costs to produce reserves and future capital expenditure. The related carrying 

amounts are disclosed in note 12.

Provision for environmental rehabilitation

The Consolidated Entity’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the protection of the 

environment. The Consolidated Entity recognises management’s best estimate for asset retirement obligations in the period in which 

they are incurred. Actual costs incurred in future periods could differ materially from the estimates. Additionally, future changes to 

environmental laws and regulations, life of mine estimates and discount rates could affect the carrying amount of this provision. Such 

changes in mineral reserves could similarly impact the useful lives of assets depreciated on a straight-line-basis, where those lives are 

limited to the life of mine. The related carrying amounts are disclosed in note 17.

Run of mine and finished goods inventory

Costs that are incurred in or benefit the productive process are accumulated for coal in stockpiles. Net realisable value tests are 

performed at least annually and represent the estimated future sales price of the product based on prevailing and long-term sale prices, 

less estimated costs to complete production and bring the product to sale. Stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of 

tonnes added and removed from the stockpile, the tonnes of contained anthracite are based on assay data, and the estimated recovery 

percentage based on the expected processing method. Stockpile tonnages are verified by periodic surveys. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(ae)  Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (Cont’d)

Although the quantities of recoverable anthracite are reconciled, the nature of the process inherently limits the ability to precisely 

monitor recoverability levels. As a result the process is constantly monitored and the engineering estimates are refined based on actual 

results over time. The related carrying amounts are disclosed in note 9.

Contingencies

By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The assessment of such 

contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgment and estimates of the outcome of future events.

Share-based payments

The Consolidated Entity measures share-based payments at fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes formula taking into 

account the terms and conditions upon which the instrument were granted. A Monte Carlo simulation is applied to fair value the 

(Total Shareholder Return) TSR element, as discussed in note 21.

Reserve and Resource estimates

The estimated quantities of economically recoverable Reserves and Resources are based upon interpretations of geological and 

geophysical models and require assumptions to be made requiring factors such as estimates of future operating performance, future 

capital requirements and short and long term coal prices. The Consolidated Entity is required to determine and report Reserves and 

Resources under the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (The JORC Code). 

The JORC Code requires the use of reasonable investment assumptions to calculate reserves and resources. Changes in reported 

Reserves and Resources can impact the carrying value of property, plant and equipment, provision for rehabilitation as well as the 

amount charged for amortisation and depreciation. 

Exploration and evaluation costs

Exploration and evaluation expenditure relates to costs incurred on the exploration and evaluation of potential mineral reserves. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure for each area of interest is carried forward as an asset provided that such costs are expected 

to be recouped in full through successful development and exploration of the area of interest or alternatively, by its sale; or exploration 

and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or 

otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in relation to the area are continuing, or planned 

for the future. This determination requires the exercise of judgment based on various assumptions and other factors such as historical 

experience, current and expected economic conditions. The related carrying amounts are disclosed in note 13.

(af)  Rounding of amounts

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) unless otherwise 

stated under the option available to the Company under ASIC Class Order 98/0100. The Company is an entity to which the Class 

Order applies.

(ag) New accounting standards and interpretations

Apart from the changes in accounting policy noted below, the accounting policies and methods of computation are the same as those 

adopted in the most recent annual financial report. Adoption of these Standards did not have any effect on the financial position or 

performance of the Consolidated Entity.

AASB 2009-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards effective 1 July 2009

The amendments are editorial amendments to AASB 5, AASB 7, AASB 107, AASB 112, AASB 136, AASB 139 and AASB Interpretation 

17 that have no major impact on the requirements of the amended pronouncements.

AASB 8 and AASB 2007-3 Operating Segments effective 1 July 2009

Operating segments are identified and segment information disclosed on the basis of internal reporting that are regularly provided 

to, or reviewed by, the executive management team.

AASB 2 share based payment effective 1 July 2009

The amendments relate to share-based payments requirements for vesting conditions and cancellations. 

AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements effective 1 July 2009

AASB 127 (revised 2008) requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without a change in control) is to be accounted 

for as a transaction with owners in their capacity as owners. Therefore such transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will 

they give rise to a gain or loss in the statement of comprehensive income. Furthermore the revised Standard changes the accounting for 

losses incurred by a partially owned subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. 
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

nOTES TO AnD FORMInG PART OF 
THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(ag) New accounting standards and interpretations (Cont’d)

The changes in AASB 3 (revised 2008) and AASB 127 (revised 2008) will affect future acquisitions, changes in, and loss of control of, 

subsidiaries and transactions with non-controlling interests.

Presentation of Financial Statements effective 1 July 2009

AASB 101 prescribes the contents and structure of the financial statements. Changes reflected in these financial statements include:

•	  the replacement of Income Statement with Statement of Comprehensive Income. Items of income and expense not in profit or loss 

are now disclosed as components of ‘other comprehensive income’. 

•	 other financial statements are renamed in accordance with the Standard.

AASB 3 (Revised) Business Combinations effective 1 July 2009

The revised standard introduces a number of changes to the accounting for business combinations, the most significant of which allows 

entities a choice for each business combination entered into – to measure a non-controlling interest (formerly a minority interest) in the 

acquiree either at its fair value or at its proportionate interest in the acquiree’s net assets. 

AASB Int. 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation effective 1 July 2009

The hedged risk in a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation is the foreign currency risk arising between the functional currency 

of the net investment and the functional currency of any parent entity. This also applies to foreign operations in the form of joint 

ventures, associates or branches.

Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been adopted 

by the Consolidated Entity for the year ended 30 June 2010. At this time the following standards and interpretations may have an 

impact, but the extent of this has not been determined:

AASB 2 share based payment effective 1 July 2010

The amendments clarify the accounting for group cash-settled share-based payment transactions.

AASB 9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 effective 1 July 2013

The revised Standard introduces a number of changes to the accounting for financial assets, the most significant of which includes: 

two categories for financial assets being amortised cost or fair value

•	 removal of the requirement to separate embedded derivatives in financial assets

•	 strict requirements to determine which financial assets can be classified as amortised cost or fair value, 

•	  an option for investments in equity instruments which are not held for trading to recognise fair value changes through other 

comprehensive income with no impairment testing and no recycling through profit or loss on derecognition

•	  reclassifications between amortised cost and fair value no longer permitted unless the entity’s business model for holding 

the asset changes

•	  changes to the accounting and additional disclosures for equity instruments classified as fair value through other 

comprehensive income

AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards effective 1 July 2011

This amendment makes numerous editorial changes to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

and the amendment to AASB 124 clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party.
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3. REVENUE 

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Revenue

Sale of goods 97,520 67,784

Other Income

Interest received 11,777 19,005

Sundry income 1,257 1,151

Foreign exchange gains 2,280 77

15,314 20,233

4. EXPENSES

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Cost of sales include

Royalties 2,403 1,413

Administration expenses include

Salaries, wages and fees 6,925 6,521

Operating lease rental expenses 614 625

Superannuation contributions 377 408

Other expenses include

ZAC business improvement process costs - 183

Share based payment expense 8,078 7,765

Rehabilitation provision 1,201 2,000

Loss on disposal and write off of plant and equipment 1,102 -

Impairment loss - Riversdale Anthracite Colliery - 1,678

Impairment loss - aircraft 878 2,887

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Included in cost of sales 8,634 6,377

Included in other expenses 881 722

Capitalised as exploration / work in progress 1,596 588

Total depreciation and amortisation 11,111 7,687

Transfers to provisions

Employee entitlements 1,738 1,589

Defined benefit provision 463 326

Rehabilitation provision 1,201 6,281F
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

5. INCOME TAX

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Major components of income tax expense for the year ended  
30 June 2010 and 2009 are:
Current income tax

Current income tax charge 350 3,584

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years 12 (3)

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination or reversal of temporary differences 2,976 3,442

Adjustments in respect of deferred tax of previous years (1,775) -

Tax expense reported in the income statement 1,563 7,023

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit before income tax multiplied by the Consolidated Entity’s 

applicable income tax rate is as follows:

Accounting profit before tax 2,898 9,742

At the income tax rate of 30% (2009: 30%) 869 2,923

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible / (taxable):

 Expenses not allowed for tax purposes 2,406 2,858

 Losses not taken to account for tax purposes 384 1,573

 Adjustments in respect of deferred tax of previous years (1,775) (3)

 Difference on overseas tax rates (321) (328)

Income tax expense reported in the income statement 1,563 7,023

Deferred tax liability

Deferred income tax liability related to the following:

 Interest receivable 844 378

 Property plant and equipment 15,194 16,000

16,038 16,378

Deferred tax asset

Deferred income tax asset at 30 June related to the following:

 Share issue expenses 1,364 2,315

 Employee benefits 2,200 2,001

 Rehabilitation 2,010 1,899

 Deferred income 882 1,678

 Tax losses 504 -

 Foreign exchange losses / (gains) 312 (106)

 Other 41 24

7,313 7,811

nOTES TO AnD FORMInG PART OF 
THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS
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5. INCOME TAX (CONT’D)

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Current income tax

 Opening balance (229) 1,686

 Charged to income 362 3,581

 Payments (3,139) (5,496)

 Closing balance receivable (3,006) (229)

Deferred income tax (Net)

 Opening balance (8,567) (3,632)

 Charged to deferred income (1,201) -

 Charged to income 504 (3,442)

 Exchange differences 539 (1,493)

 Closing balance (8,725) (8,567)

Tax expense in income statement 1,563 7,023

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

 Deferred tax asset 7,313 7,811

 Deferred tax liability (16,038) (16,378)

(8,725) (8,567)

Tax Losses

The Company was originally involved in online publishing. On the 2 September 2004 the Company was recapitalised under new 

management and re-listed on the ASX. Tax losses prior to this date have not been brought to account as there has been a substantial 

change in the Company’s business and shareholders.

At 30 June 2010 accumulated tax losses of $1,579,000 (2009: $1,195,000) relating to overseas subsidiaries of the Consolidated Entity 

had not been brought to account. These losses can be carried forward for 5 years.

Tax Consolidation

Riversdale Mining Limited and its 100% owned subsidiary, Riversdale Coal Pty Limited, formed a tax consolidated group with effect 

from the date of acquisition 8 August 2007. Riversdale Mining Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated group. 

6. DIVIDENDS PAID OR PROVIDED FOR ON ORDINARY SHARES

During the financial year, no amount has been paid or declared by the Consolidated Entity by way of dividend. 

The balance of the Company’s franking credit account is $1,407,000. (2009: $1,911,000).
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 19,725 11,417

Short term deposits 221,001 225,478

Restricted cash (i) 6,615 53,384

247,341 290,279

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between 

one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Consolidated Entity, and earn interest at the 

respective short-term deposit rates.

(i) Included in cash and short term deposits is an amount of ZAR42 million (A$6.6 million) which is held as security against a bank 

guarantee for the supply of equipment. The prior year restricted cash relates to the consideration received from Tata Steel of $100 

million, less expenditure incurred on the Benga Project to 30 June 2009. Under the Joint Venture Agreement with Tata Steel these  

funds are restricted to being used on the Benga Project and had been fully utilised at 30 June 2010.

Reconciliation of operating profit / (loss) after income tax to net cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Operating profit / (loss) after income tax 1,335 2,719

Non cash items included in profit and loss

 Depreciation and amortisation 9,515 7,099

 Share based payments 8,078 7,765

 Exchange rate movements (2,280) (77)

 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,102 -

 Impairment losses 878 4,564

Changes in Assets and Liabilities:

 Decrease / (Increase) in receivables and other assets (13,979) (5,181)

 Decrease / (Increase) in inventories 15,089 (14,944)

 Decrease / (Increase) in deferred income tax assets 498 (1,163)

 (Decrease) / Increase in deferred income tax liabilities (340) 6,097

 (Decrease) / Increase in income tax payable (2,777) (1,914)

 (Decrease) / Increase in payables and other creditors 10,401 4,615

 (Decrease) / Increase in rehabilitation provision 846 7,502

 (Decrease) / Increase in provision for employee benefits (238) 2,213

Net Cash from Operating Activities 28,128 19,295

  

nOTES TO AnD FORMInG PART OF 
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8. CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Trade receivables (i) 7,656 4,930

Other receivables (ii) 20,374 9,119

28,030 14,049

(i) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is 

objective evidence that a trade receivable is impaired. All trade receivables are current and are not considered impaired.

(ii) Other receivables include advances made to suppliers and contractors of $8.3 million (2009: Nil).

Details regarding the credit risk of current receivables are disclosed in note 25.

9. INVENTORIES

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Run of mine (At cost) 1,865 2,474

Finished goods (At cost) 6,347 21,523

Consumable stores (At cost) 2,899 2,203

11,111 26,200

10. NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Loans to non-controlling interests 422 851

Employee loans (Note 31(d)) 513 513

935 1,364

The non-controlling interest loan has been made to Maweni Mining Consortium (Proprietary) Limited. The loan is secured by a  

pledge of the MMC shares held in Zululand Anthracite Colliery (Proprietary) Limited upon release of such shares by any financiers.  

The loan is repayable solely to the extent and on such occasion that the MMC receives income from ZAC. Interest is charged at  

11.0% (2009: 11.0%).

11. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Rehabilitation deposit (Note 17(i)) 4,253 4,183

The rehabilitation deposit represents accumulated funds for the Consolidated Entity’s rehabilitation liability relating to the eventual 

closure of the Consolidated Entity’s anthracite operations. Amounts are paid out from the deposit following completion and approval of 

the rehabilitation work by the South African Department of Minerals and Energy. The contributions to the cash deposit are held in trust 

with Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited.
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

12. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Consolidated Entity

Mine 
Infrastructure 

 
$’000

Aircraft 
 
 

$’000

Property,  
plant & 

equipment 
$’000

Capital 
work in 

progress 
$’000

Total 
 
 

$’000

Year ended 30 June 2009

 Opening net book amount 2,821 - 33,639 666 37,126

 Additions 1,355 16,296 29,722 9,083 56,456

 Disposals (31) - - - (31)

 Reclassified 70 - 767 (837) -

 Depreciation expense (510) (396) (6,781) - (7,687)

 Impairment (i) - (2,887) - - (2,887)

 Foreign currency exchange differences (561) 34 6,516 99 6,088

 Closing net book amount 3,144 13,047 63,863 9,011 89,065

At 30 June 2009

 Cost 5,036 16,296 76,560 9,011 106,903

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,892) (3,249) (12,697) - (17,838)

 Net book amount 3,144 13,047 63,863 9,011 89,065

Year ended 30 June 2010

 Opening net book amount 3,144 13,047 63,863 9,011 89,065

 Additions 160 - 1,904 53,895 55,959

 Disposals - - (1,322) - (1,322)

 Transferred from exploration and evaluation - - - 40,616 40,616

 Depreciation expense (206) (596) (10,309) - (11,111)

 Impairment (i) - (878) - - (878)

 Foreign currency exchange differences (156) (835) (3,958) (15,251) (20,200)

 Closing net book amount 2,942 10,738 50,178 88,271 152,129

At 30 June 2010

 Cost 5,196 15,404 69,319 88,271 178,190

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment (2,254) (4,666) (19,141) - (26,061)

 Net book amount 2,942 10,738 50,178 88,271 152,129

(i) The impairment relates to the aircraft which has been valued at market value. This has been impaired due to the general economic 

downturn and the current depressed aircraft market.

Prior period mine infrastructure and capital work in progress balances have been reclassified between asset categories. 

nOTES TO AnD FORMInG PART OF 
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13. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE

Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in exploration and evaluation phases

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Movement for year

 Balance at beginning of year 134,884 101,026

 Transfer to capital work in progress (i) (40,616) -

 Expenditure during year 25,732 35,601

 Impairment (ii) - (1,678)

 Foreign currency exchange differences (5,904) (65)

Balance at end of year 114,096 134,884

Recoverability of the carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets is dependant on successful development and commercial 

exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective area of interest.

(i)  Exploration expenditure relating to the Benga Coal Project was transferred to capital work in progress during the year following 

approval of the development decision. 

(ii) The impairment relates to the total carrying value of the exploration assets of Riversdale Anthracite Colliery. This has been impaired 

due to the general economic downturn, the application for the mining rights has so far been declined, sales negotiations with a number 

of interested parties were not completed and the Company is now focusing on the Benga, Zambeze and Ngwabe projects. 

14. CURRENT PAYABLES

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Trade payables 12,491 12,959

Other payables and accruals 9,258 6,542

Deferred income (i) 3,150 5,991

24,899 25,492

Trade payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms. Information regarding the effective 

interest rate and credit risk of current payables is set out in note 25.

(i) Income recognition is deferred until the transfer of title is completed and significant risk and reward is transferred to the customer.

15. CURRENT BORROWINGS

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Non-controlling interest loan – Unsecured (i) 99 103

(i) The non-controlling interest loan is from Khulani Resources (Proprietary) Limited, is interest free, unsecured and has no fixed terms of 

repayment. This loan has been subordinated in favour of all other creditors.

The Consolidated Entity had an undrawn overdraft facility of ZAR 14 million at 30 June 2010 (2009: ZAR 14 million), which is secured 

over Zululand Anthracite Colliery trade receivables. 

16. CURRENT PROVISIONS

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Employee Entitlements (Note 19) 2,033 2,374

The directors are not aware of any other matters that would give rise to the creation of additional provisions. 
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

17. NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Employee entitlements (Note 19) 168 162

Rehabilitation provision (i) 12,666 11,820

Defined health care benefit provision (ii) 5,120 5,023

17,954 17,005

(i) Rehabilitation provision

Provision is made for close down, restoration and for environmental rehabilitation costs (which include the dismantling and demolition of 

infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas) in the financial period when the related environmental 

disturbance occurs, based on the estimated future costs using information available at the balance sheet date.

Rehabilitation is performed and paid for on an ongoing basis as mining areas are depleted. The majority of the rehabilitation will be 

performed at the time of final mine closure, which is dependant on production rates and exploration success, currently estimated at 

15 years.

(ii) Defined health care benefit provision

Fulltime employees of Riversdale Holdings (Proprietary) Limited employed before 1 January 2001 and who have not opted to receive a 

medical subsidy buyout are eligible for a subsidy in retirement. An independent actuarial valuation was performed as at 30 June 2010 

based on the Projected Unit Credit Method. Future benefits valued are projected using specific actuarial assumptions and the liability for 

in-serve members is accrued over expected working lifetime. The discount rate used was 9.00%, health care cost inflation of 7.50%, 

CPI inflation of 5.50% and the expected retirement age of 58 years. The plan is unfunded. 

Consolidated Entity Employee 
entitlements 

$’000

Rehabilitation 
provision 

$’000

Health benefit 
provision 

$’000

Movement in provisions

Balance at beginning of financial year 2,536 11,820 5,023

Utilised (2,003) - (209)

Arising during the year 1,738 1,201 463

Foreign exchange variation (70) (355) (157)

Balance at end of financial year 2,201 12,666 5,120

18. NON-CURRENT OTHER PAYABLES

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Cash settled share rights liability 1,109 -

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included in the financial statements is as follows:

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Provision for employee entitlements:

 Current 2,033 2,374

 Non-current 168 162

2,201 2,536

Number of employees at the end of financial year 951 790

Employees contribute to their own superannuation plans at various percentages of their salaries and wages and the end benefits are 

determined by accumulation of contributions and earnings of the fund. 
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19. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONT’D)

The Company also contributes to the Australian based staff superannuation plans at a rate as required by the Superannuation Guarantee 

Legislation. These contributions are legally enforceable only where payable in terms of a ratified award obligation or under the 

Superannuation Guarantee Legislation.

20. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

(a) Issued and Paid up ordinary shares 413,646 387,564

Ordinary fully paid shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Company, to participate in 

the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. Ordinary fully paid 

shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.

Movements in Ordinary Share Capital Number  
Of Shares

$’000

Opening Balance 1 July 2008 187,218,524 383,495

Shares issued on exercise of November 2009 options at $1.50 per share 110,000

 Proceeds received 165

 Transfer from option issue reserve 83

Shares issued on exercise of November 2010 options at $2.50 per share 5,000

 Proceeds received 12

Transfer from option issue reserve 3

Shares issued on exercise of April 2011 options at $1.00 per share 725,000

 Proceeds received 725

 Transfer from option issue reserve 255

Shares issued on exercise of May 2011 options at $1.00 per share 125,000

 Proceeds received 125

 Transfer from option issue reserve 36

Shares issued on exercise of May 2011 options at $1.50 per share 125,000

 Proceeds received 188

 Transfer from option issue reserve 10

Shares issued on exercise of January 2011 options at $2.03 per share 150,000

 Proceeds received 304

 Transfer from option issue reserve 123

Shares issued on exercise of December 2010 options at $1.86 per share 440,000

 Proceeds received 818

 Transfer from option issue reserve 356

Shares issued on exercise of April 2011 options at $1.50 per share 125,000

 Proceeds received 188

 Transfer from option issue reserve 32

Shares issued on exercise of May 2011 options at $1.00 per share 500,000

 Proceeds received 500

 Transfer from option issue reserve 146

Closing Balance 30 June 2009 189,523,524 387,564
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

20. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (CONT’D)

Movements in Ordinary Share Capital Number  
Of Shares

$’000

Opening Balance 1 July 2009 189,523,524 387,564

Shares issued on exercise of November 2009 options at $1.50 per share 1,725,000

 Proceeds received 2,588

 Transfer from option issue reserve 1,311

Shares issued on exercise of November 2010 options at $2.50 per share 1,040,000

 Proceeds received 2,600

 Transfer from option issue reserve 593

Shares issued on exercise of May 2011 options at $1.00 per share 500,000

 Proceeds received 500

 Transfer from option issue reserve 146

Shares issued on exercise of May 2011 options at $1.50 per share 1,000,000

 Proceeds received 1,500

 Transfer from option issue reserve 76

Shares issued on exercise of December 2010 options at $1.86 per share 170,000

 Proceeds received 316

 Transfer from option issue reserve 138

Shares issued on exercise of April 2011 options at $1.00 per share 400,000

 Proceeds received 400

 Transfer from option issue reserve 141

Shares issued on exercise of April 2011 options at $1.50 per share 1,000,000

 Proceeds received 1,500

 Transfer from option issue reserve 245

Shares issued on exercise of January 2010 options at $1.50 per share 2,250,000

 Proceeds received 3,375

 Transfer from option issue reserve 2,362

Shares issued on exercise of January 2011 options at $2.50 per share 2,250,000

 Proceeds received 5,625

 Transfer from option issue reserve 1,824

Shares issued on exercise of May 2012 options at $2.15 per share 250,000

 Proceeds received 537

 Transfer from option issue reserve 274

Shares issued on exercise of December 2013 options at $2.24 per share 10,000

 Proceeds received 22

 Transfer from option issue reserve 9

Closing Balance 30 June 2010 200,118,524 413,646
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21. SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLANS

Options - 2010

Grant  
date

Expiry  
date

Exercise 
price 

Balance start 
of year  

 
#

Granted 
during 
year  

#

Exercised 
during 
year  

#

Lapsed/ 
Expired 

during year 
#

Balance 
end  

of year  
#

Exercisable 
end of  
year  

#

Unlisted

9 May 06 9 May 11 $1.00 (a) 500,000 - (500,000) - - -

9 May 06 9 May 11 $1.50 (a) 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - -

30 Aug 06 1 Apr 11 $1.00 (b) 400,000 - (400,000) - - -

30 Aug 06 1 Apr 11 $1.50 (b) 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - -

4 Dec 06 4 Dec 10 $1.86 (a) 310,000 - (170,000) - 140,000 140,000

25 Jan 07 25 Jan 11 $2.03 (c) 150,000 - - - 150,000 150,000

22 May 07 22 May 12 $2.15 (d) 250,000 - (250,000) - - -

30 June 08 30 June 13 $11.39 (e) 1,666,667 - - - 1,666,667 333,333

1 July 08 1 July 13 $11.57 (f) 2,578,333 - - - 2,578,333 396,667

22 Oct 08 22 Oct 13 $9.80 (f) 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 200,000

19 Dec 08 19 Dec 13 $2.24 (f) 780,000 - (10,000) - 770,000 110,000

5 Mar 10 5 Mar 15 $5.30 (g) - 150,000 - 150,000 75,000

9,935,000 150,000 (3,330,000) - 6,755,000 1,405,000

Weighted average exercise price $6.91 $5.30 $1.43 - $9.57 $8.22

Options - 2009

Grant  
date

Expiry  
date

Exercise 
price 

Balance start 
of year  

 
#

Granted 
during 
year  

#

Exercised 
during 
year  

#

Lapsed/ 
Expired 

during year 
#

Balance 
end  

of year  
#

Exercisable 
end of  
year  

#

Unlisted

9 May 06 9 May 11 $1.00 (a) 1,125,000 - (625,000) - 500,000 500,000

9 May 06 9 May 11 $1.50 (a) 1,125,000 - (125,000) - 1,000,000 1,000,000

30 Aug 06 1 Apr 11 $1.00 (b) 1,000,000 - (600,000) - 400,000 400,000

30 Aug 06 1 Apr 11 $1.50 (b) 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1,000,000

30 Aug 06 24 Apr 11 $1.00 (b) 125,000 - (125,000) - - -

30 Aug 06 24 Apr 11 $1.50 (b) 125,000 - (125,000) - - -

4 Dec 06 4 Dec 10 $1.86 (a) 750,000 - (440,000) - 310,000 310,000

25 Jan 07 25 Jan 11 $2.03 (c) 300,000 - (150,000) - 150,000 150,000

22 May 07 22 May 12 $2.15 (d) 250,000 - - - 250,000 250,000

30 June 08 30 June 13 $11.39 (e) 2,000,000 - - (333,333) 1,666,667 -

1 July 08 1 July 13 $11.57 (f) - 3,275,000 - (696,667) 2,578,333 -

22 Oct 08 22 Oct 13 $9.80 (f) - 1,500,000 - (200,000) 1,300,000 -

19 Dec 08 19 Dec 13 $2.24 (f) - 1,050,000 - (270,000) 780,000 -

7,800,000 5,825,000 (2,190,000) (1,500,000) 9,935,000 3,610,000

Weighted average exercise price $3.97 $9.43 $1.30 $9.61 $6.91 $1.47
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

21. SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLANS (CONT’D)

(a)  The options entitle the holder to one ordinary share per option and vest two years from the date of grant.

(b)  The options entitle the holder to one ordinary share per option and vest two years from the date the holder commenced service  

with the Company.

(c)  The options entitle the holder to one ordinary share per option and are exercisable on the 25 January 2009.

(d) The options entitle the holder to one ordinary share per option and vest one year from the date of grant.

(e) The options will vest on satisfaction of the following performance conditions:

•	 33.3% of the options on the completion of the Bankable Feasibility Study for the Benga project by 31 March 2009

•	 	33.3% of the options on commencement of commercial production within 30 months of receipt of major government approvals for 

the Benga project

•	 	33.3% of the options on achievement of an annualised production rate of 2 Million tonnes per annum of export sales within one year 

of first commercial production from the Benga project

•	 	If one of the above milestones are not achieved by the target date, retesting will occur to permit 75% of the relevant number of 

options to vest if the milestone is achieved no later than 3 months after the target date, or on a second retest, to permit 50% of the 

relevant number of options to vest if the milestone is achieved no later than 6 months after the target date. If the milestone is not 

achieved 6 months after the target date, the options will lapse. 

(f)   The options will vest on satisfaction of the following performance conditions:

•	 26.7% of the options on the completion of the Bankable Feasibility Study for the Benga project by 31 March 2009 

•	 	26.7% of the options on commencement of commercial production within 30 months of receipt of major government approvals for 

the Benga project

•	 	26.6% of the options on achievement of an annualised production rate of 2 million tonnes per annum of export sales within one year 

of first commercial production from the Benga project

•	 	If one of the above milestones are not achieved by the target date, retesting will occur to permit 75% of the relevant number of 

options to vest if the milestone is achieved no later than 3 months after the target date, or on a second retest, to permit 50% of the 

relevant number of options to vest if the milestone is achieved no later than 6 months after the target date. If the milestone is not 

achieved 6 months after the target date, the options will lapse. 

•	 	20% of the options will vest if the Company’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) over the period of 3 years from the date of grant of 

the options exceeds the ASX 200 Energy Index over that period.

(g) The options will vest as follows:

•	 75,000 options on the 5 January 2010

•	 37,500 options on the 5 January 2011

•	 	37,500 options on commencement of commercial production within 30 months of receipt of major government approvals for the 

Benga project. If the milestones is not achieved by the target date, retesting will occur to permit 75% of the relevant number of 

options to vest if the milestone is achieved no later than 3 months after the target date, or on a second retest, to permit 50% of the 

relevant number of options to vest if the milestone is achieved no later than 6 months after the target date. If the milestone is not 

achieved 6 months after the target date, the options will lapse. 

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was $7.50 (2009: $6.44).

nOTES TO AnD FORMInG PART OF 
THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



73

21. SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLANS (CONT’D)

The following table lists the inputs to the option model:

Grant  
date

Expiry  
date

Exercise price Dividend  
yield

Expected 
volatility

Risk free 
interest  

rate

Expected life 
of option 

Years

Share price  
at grant  

date

Fair value 
per option at 

grant date 

9 May 06 9 May 11 $1.00 0.0 % 17.4% 5.50% 5.0 $1.10 $0.29

9 May 06 9 May 11 $1.50 0.0 % 17.4% 5.50% 5.0 $1.10 $0.08

30 Aug 06 1 Apr 11 $1.00 0.0 % 56.0% 5.50% 5.0 $1.14 $0.35

30 Aug 06 1 Apr 11 $1.50 0.0 % 56.0% 5.50% 5.0 $1.14 $0.25

30 Aug 06 24 Apr 11 $1.00 0.0 % 56.0% 5.50% 5.0 $1.14 $0.36

30 Aug 06 24 Apr 11 $1.50 0.0 % 56.0% 5.50% 5.0 $1.14 $0.25

4 Dec 06 4 Dec 10 $1.86 0.0 % 47.0% 6.25% 4.0 $1.86 $0.81

25 Jan 07 25 Jan 11 $2.03 0.0 % 47.0% 6.25% 4.0 $1.93 $0.82

22 May 07 22 May 12 $2.15 0.0 % 47.0% 6.25% 5.0 $2.29 $1.10

30 Jun 08 30 Jun 13 $11.39 0.0 % 55.0% 6.65% 2.9 $11.81 $5.09

30 Jun 08 30 Jun 13 $11.39 0.0 % 55.0% 6.65% 4.2 $11.81 $6.01

30 Jun 08 30 Jun 13 $11.39 0.0 % 55.0% 6.65% 4.7 $11.81 $6.33

1 Jul 08 1 Jul 13 $11.57 0.0 % 55.0% 6.65% 2.9 $11.50 $4.80

1 Jul 08 1 Jul 13 $11.57 0.0 % 55.0% 6.65% 4.2 $11.50 $5.72

1 Jul 08 1 Jul 13 $11.57 0.0 % 55.0% 6.65% 4.7 $11.50 $6.04

1 Jul 08 1 Jul 13 $11.57 0.0 % 55.0% 6.65% 4.0 $11.50 $4.93

22 Oct 08 22 Oct 13 $9.80 0.0 % 62.0% 4.78% 2.9 $3.93 $0.76

22 Oct 08 22 Oct 13 $9.80 0.0 % 62.0% 4.78% 4.2 $3.93 $1.15

22 Oct 08 22 Oct 13 $9.80 0.0 % 62.0% 4.78% 4.7 $3.93 $1.29

22 Oct 08 22 Oct 13 $9.80 0.0 % 62.0% 4.78% 4.0 $3.93 $1.10

19 Dec 08 19 Dec 13 $2.24 0.0 % 68.0% 3.54% 2.7 $2.15 $0.94

19 Dec 08 19 Dec 13 $2.24 0.0 % 68.0% 3.54% 3.9 $2.15 $1.12

19 Dec 08 19 Dec 13 $2.24 0.0 % 68.0% 3.54% 4.4 $2.15 $1.19

19 Dec 08 19 Dec 13 $2.24 0.0 % 68.0% 3.54% 4.0 $2.15 $0.99

5 Mar 2010 5 Mar 15 $5.30 0.0% 72.0% 4.89% 2.5 $8.33 $4.93

5 Mar 2010 5 Mar 15 $5.30 0.0% 72.0% 4.89% 2.9 $8.33 $5.13

5 Mar 2010 5 Mar 15 $5.30 0.0% 72.0% 4.89% 3.7 $8.33 $5.49

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options at 30 June 2010 is 3.05 years (2009: 3.30 years.)

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The 

expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be 

the actual outcome. For non TSR options granted on or after 30 June 2010 it is assumed that 85% (30 June 2009: 85%) of employees 

will complete the required service period and their options will vest.

No other features of options granted were incorporated into the measurement of fair value. The fair value of the options is measured at 

the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments 

were granted. A Monte Carlo simulation is applied to fair value the TSR element. The services received are recognised over the 

expected vesting period. 

Share Rights and Share Appreciation Rights

During the year the Company issued the following rights to executive directors and management:

•	 555,000 equity settled share rights

•	 250,000 cash settled share rights

•	 1,125,000 equity settled share appreciation rights

•	 600,000 cash settled share appreciation rights
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

21. SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLANS (CONT’D)

No share rights or share appreciation rights were vested at 30 June 2010. Each equity settled share right entitles the holder to acquire  

1 ordinary share and has been issued for no consideration. 

Each equity settled share appreciation right is a right to subscribe for such number of fully paid ordinary shares, calculated as:  

(Market value at vesting date – $5.72) / Market value at vesting date. Share appreciation rights are issued for no consideration. 

Cash settled share rights and share appreciation right are paid in cash on the vesting date.

 The share rights will vest as follows;

•	 	100% of the share rights will vest if the Company’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) ranking is at or above the 75th percentile level 

of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on that date;

•	 	50% of the share rights will vest if the Company’s TSR ranking is at the 50th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on 

that date; and

•	 	if the Company’s TSR ranking is between the 50th percentile and 75th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on that date, 

the percentage of share rights that will vest increases on a straight line basis from 50% to 100% with an additional 2% of share rights 

vesting for each percentile (1%) achieved above the 50th percentile – those share rights that do not vest will immediately lapse.

If the Company’s TSR ranking is less than the 50th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on 21 December 2012, no share 

rights will vest but they will be re-tested on 21 December 2013 the above paragraphs will apply.

Any share rights which have not vested by the 21 December 2013 will immediately lapse.

The share appreciation rights will vest as follows;

•	 	33.3% of the total share appreciation rights on the 21 December 2011

•	 	33.3% of the total share appreciation rights on the 21 December 2012, and

•	 	33.3% of the total share appreciation rights on the 21 December 2013

And the following will apply to determine vesting; 

•	 	100% of the share appreciation rights will vest if the Company’s TSR ranking is at or exceeds the 75th percentile level of the 

S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on that date;

•	 	50% of the share appreciation rights will vest if the Company’s TSR ranking is at the 50th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy 

Index on that date; and

•	 	if the Company’s TSR ranking is between the 50th percentile and 75th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on that date, 

the percentage of share appreciation rights that will vest increases on a straight line basis from 50% to 100% with an additional 2% of 

share rights vesting for each percentile (1%) achieved above the 50th percentile – those share appreciation rights that do not vest will 

immediately lapse.

If the Company’s TSR ranking is less than the 50th percentile level of the S&P/ASX 200 Energy Index on the TSR vesting date, no share 

appreciation rights will vest but they will be re-tested 12 months after the TSR vesting date and paragraphs above will apply (The SAR 

Last Re-testing Date). Any unvested share appreciation rights which have not vested on the SAR Last Re-testing Date will be re-tested  

6 months after that date (SAR Final Re-testing Date). 

If re-testing occurs, the number of share appreciation rights to vest on the SAR Final Re-testing Date will be calculated by applying 

the vesting percentage on that date to the number of Share Appreciation Rights which have not vested prior to that date. Any Share 

Appreciation Rights which have not vested by the SAR Final Re-testing Date will immediately lapse.
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21. SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLANS (CONT’D)

The following table lists the inputs to the share rights and share appreciation rights models:

Grant  
date

Valuation  
date

Dividend  
yield

Expected  
volatility

Risk free 
 interest rate

Share price  
at valuation 

date

Fair value  
per right at 
grant date

Share Rights

21 Dec 09 5 Feb 10 0.0% 72% 4.64% $6.96 $5.92 Equity Settled

21 Dec 09 14 Apr 10 0.0% 72% 5.28% $9.74 $8.60 Equity Settled

21 Dec 09 30 Jun 10 0.0% 73% 4.47% $10.55 $9.76 Cash Settled

Share Appreciation Rights 

21 Dec 09 5 Feb 10 0.0% 72% 4.35% $6.96 $3.59 Equity Settled

21 Dec 09 5 Feb 10 0.0% 72% 4.64% $6.96 $4.05 Equity Settled

21 Dec 09 5 Feb 10 0.0% 72% 5.01% $6.96 $4.56 Equity Settled

21 Dec 09 14 Apr 10 0.0% 72% 4.98% $9.74 $5.80 Equity Settled

21 Dec 09 14 Apr 10 0.0% 72% 5.28% $9.74 $6.33 Equity Settled

21 Dec 09 14 Apr 10 0.0% 72% 5.54% $9.74 $6.93 Equity Settled

21 Dec 09 30 Jun 10 0.0% 73% 4.44% $10.55 $6.02 Cash Settled

21 Dec 09 30 Jun 10 0.0% 73% 4.47% $10.55 $6.65 Cash Settled

21 Dec 09 30 Jun 10 0.0% 73% 4.71% $10.55 $7.19 Cash Settled

The weighted average remaining contractual life at 30 June 2010 was 2.48 years for the share rights and 2.48 years for the share 

appreciation rights.

The fair value of the share rights and share appreciation rights is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes pricing model taking 

into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. A Monte Carlo simulation is applied to fair value the 

TSR element. The services received are recognised over the expected vesting period. 

22. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE   

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

  Within 1 year 104,911 7,011

(b) Non-cancellable operating leases

Operating leases relate to office facilities and equipment:

  Within 1 year 924 495

  After 1 year but not later than 5 years 1,878 397

2,802 892

Capital commitments represent mine development expenditure committed by Riversdale Mozambique Limitada on the Benga Coal 

Project and at Zululand Anthracite Colliery on the Ngwabe Project and mining equipment. 

The operating leases are for office premises and office equipment. These escalate annually based on a set percentage rate and the  

full balance of outstanding lease payments is payable on early lease termination.

The Company’s 65% share of bank guarantees and letters of credit issued for the Benga Coal Project amounts to $10.1 million 

(2009: Nil)
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for the year ended 30 June 2010 

23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Terminations Benefits 

The Consolidated Entity has contingent liabilities in respect of termination benefits which may arise pursuant to service agreements 

entered into with executives and employees who take part in the management of the Consolidated Entity. 

The maximum amount of the contingent liability is dependent upon the circumstances in which the employment is terminated.  

No provision has been made in the accounts as no executive has been terminated and due to the nature of this contingent liability  

the Company not is not in a position to reasonably estimate this timing.

Fixed and Floating Charge

Riversdale Mining limited has entered into a fixed and floating charge with Tata Steel for a maximum amount of US$200 million, subject 

to the terms of the Joint Venture Agreements. This includes:

•	  charges in favour of Tata Steel by way of a fixed charge with full title guarantee and as a continuing security for the payment and 

discharge of the Joint Venture funding requirements, all of Riversdale Mining Limited’s present rights to and title and interest in and  

to all of the Riversdale Energy (Mauritius) Limited (REML) Shares; and

•	 floating charges on all dividends and other accretions paid in respect of or otherwise arising from REML;

•	 all of its present and future rights and benefits under each Joint Venture Agreement; and

•	 the benefit of any financial accommodation made or provided by Riversdale to REML.

Mining Contract

The mining contract for Benga Stage I was awarded to MCC Contracts Pty Limited for the provision of open pit mining for the  

Benga Coal Project and includes an early termination payment and demobilisation fee. Riversdale’s 65% share of this fee amounts  

to $14.4 million.

24. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Identification of reportable segments

The Consolidated Entity has 3 reportable segments as well as head office and other activities, as follows:

•	 Operations: Includes the operations of Zululand Anthracite Colliery located in South Africa.

•	 Development: Includes Riversdale’s 65% of the Benga Coal Project located in Mozambique (Riversdale Mozambique Limitada). 

•	  Exploration: Includes Riversdale’s other exploration activities located in Mozambique. (Riversdale Capital Mozambique Limitada  

and Riversdale Ventures Mozambique Limitada).

•	 Head Office: Includes the treasury management and head office functions located in Sydney, Australia.

•	  Other: Includes Riversdale Anthracite Colliery, located in South Africa and the remaining administration offices located in  

Mauritius and South Africa.

The Consolidated Entity has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the executive 

management team in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources. All reporting segments are measured using 

Australian Accounting Standards and the segments are determined due to diverse operational and geographical nature. No operating 

segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purposes of making decisions about resource 

allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance for the operations segment is evaluated based on operating profit or 

loss and is measured consistently with the operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Segment performance  

for the development and exploration segments is evaluated based on capital spend. 
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24. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Operating segment and major customers

Zululand Anthracite Colliery produces anthracite which is sold domestically in South Africa to the metal refining industry and exported to 

Europe, South America and Asia. 

The Company’s most significant domestic customer accounts for 30% (2009: 30%) of revenue and the most significant export 

customer accounts for 20% (2009: 24%).

(Loss) / Profit before Tax 2010 
ZAR’ 000

2009 
ZAR’ 000

Operations Segment

Revenue 654,127 452,288

Production costs (508,589) (301,713)

Depreciation and amortisation (57,844) (42,552)

EBIT from operations 87,694 108,023

$’ 000 $’ 000

EBIT from operations 13,074 16,190

Other income 3,537 1,228

Administration and other expenses (25,490) (26,681)

Consolidated EBIT (8,879) (9,263)

Interest income 11,777 19,005

2,898 9,742

Capital Spend

Operations Segment 14,974 16,399

Development Segment 42,488 38,745

Exploration Segment 23,811 12,439

Other 418 17,174

Impairment of Assets

Exploration Segment - 1,678

Other 878 2,887

Segment Assets

Operations Segment 102,553 102,486

Development Segment 109,762 87,247

Exploration Segment 39,621 12,105

Head Office 489,813 467,999

Other 269,591 226,666

Total Reportable Segment Assets 1,011,340 896,503

Eliminations (443,126) (328,439)

Consolidated 568,214 568,064
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The effective management of business risks is crucial to the continued growth and success of Riversdale. The purpose of the risk 

management policy statement is to emphasise Riversdale’s commitment to effective risk management as well as to communicate 

certain broad risk management principles to guide Riversdale’s businesses.

Business risks are defined as uncertain future events that could influence the achievement of the Company’s objectives’. In order to 

achieve these objectives and create shareholder value certain risks are taken because without risk there is no reward. However risks 

must be fully understood and effectively managed in order to minimise losses and maximise opportunities. Effective risk management 

considers both risk and reward and is an integral part of good management practice. 

Riversdale takes a structured, consistent and continuous approach to risk management. All significant risks are assessed, managed and 

reported using a uniform risk management framework. Responsibility and accountability for the management of business risks is with 

the Managing Director, who may delegate specific responsibilities as appropriate. The aim is for risk management to become embedded 

into all decision making processes including planning, operations, new projects, business acquisitions, disposals and closures.

Significant risks and related mitigation plans are reported on at different levels within the organisation (including Board level) in 

accordance with a defined risk reporting process and appropriate disclosure of material risks. Compliance with this policy and the 

effectiveness of risk management processes are monitored by the Riversdale Audit Committee and the internal audit function.

Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 

and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity 

instrument are disclosed in note 2 of the financial statements.

(1) Credit risk exposure

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Consolidated 

Entity. The Consolidated Entity has adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparts as a means of mitigating the risk of 

financial loss from defaults.

Trade receivables for the top 3 customers represent 64% (2009: 65%) of total trade receivables. A long term relationship has been 

developed with customers, who have a history of reliable debt settlement. All trade receivables outstanding at 30 June 2010 have been 

subsequently received. The Consolidated Entity has not made any provision for bad debts. 

In relation to cash and term deposits the Consolidated Entity has set counterparty limits which are set considering the institution’s credit 

rating, with lower limits set for poorer credit ratings.

At the balance sheet date the Consolidated Entity had the following mix of financial assets exposed to credit risk:

Consolidated Entity

Note 2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 7 247,341 290,279

Trade and other receivables 8 28,030 14,049

Non-current receivable 10 935 1,364

276,306 305,692

(2a) Interest rate risk exposure

 The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Consolidated Entity’s short term deposits 

with a floating interest rate. These financial assets with variable rates expose the Consolidated Entity to cash flow interest rate risk. 

The Consolidated Entity does not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage interest rate risk, instead management 

continuously analyses its exposure.
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

 At the balance sheet date the Consolidated Entity had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to variable interest rate risk:

Consolidated Entity

Note 2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 247,341 290,279

Non-current receivables 10,31(d) 513 513

247,854 290,792

The Consolidated Entity holds significant cash and short term deposit balances, with interest rates set for periods of between one day 

and three months. For sensitivity analysis an increase / decrease of 0.5% has been used as it represents two possible interest rate 

changes.

Post Tax Profit Higher / (Lower) Equity Higher / (Lower)

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Consolidated

Interest Rates plus 0.5% 866 1,016 - -

Interest Rates less 0.5% (866) (1,016) - -

(2b) Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency 

different to the functional currency of the respective group entity. The functional currency of each group entity is disclosed in note 2(e). 

The Consolidated Entity operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risks. This includes assets and liabilities held in 

South African rand, United States dollars and Mozambique metical. 

The Consolidated Entity’s sales are denominated in South African rand (2010: 66%, 2009: 55%) and United States dollars  

(2010: 34%, 2009: 45%). 

At 30 June 2010 and 2009 the Consolidated Entity had not entered into any foreign currency hedging contracts but movements in these 

foreign currencies are monitored. 

The foreign currency amounts that are different to the functional currency of the respective group entities and are not effectively hedged 

are as follows:

2010 2009

AUD 
‘000

ZAR 
‘000

USD 
’000

AUD 
‘000

ZAR 
‘000

USD 
’000

Consolidated

Cash and cash equivalents 45 48,740 7,483 63 5,882 2,921

Current receivables - - 1,250 - - -

Current payables - (5,959) (2,953) - (8,281) (200)

45 42,781 5,780 63 (2,399) 2,721F
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for the year ended 30 June 2010

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF  
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(2b) Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

The following table details the effect on profit and equity of a 10% change in the Australian dollar (AUD) to the South African rand (ZAR) 

and United States dollar (USD).

Post Tax Profit  
Higher / (Lower)

Equity  
Higher / (Lower)

2010  
$’000

2009  
$’000

2010  
$’000

2009  
$’000

Consolidated  

 AUD/FX plus 10% 1,327 300 - -

 AUD/FX less 10% (1,327) (300) - -

(2c) Commodity price risk

The Consolidated Entity’s major commodity price exposure is to the price of anthracite. The Consolidated Entity has chosen not to 

hedge against the movement in anthracite prices but enters into sales contracts with duration of more than 12 months to mitigate this 

risk. Profit would increase / decrease by $6.9 million (2009: $4.8 million) with a 10% increase / decrease in the anthracite price. 

(3) Liquidity Risk and Capital Management

The Consolidated Entity has limited loans and significant cash on hand. Long term budgets and cash forecasts are prepared regularly and 

monitored by management to ensure sufficient funds are available to support the ongoing operations. 

(4) Net Fair Values

The carrying values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximates their respective net fair 

values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

(5) Financial Assets and Liabilities by Categories

All financial assets and liabilities are considered to be loans and receivables.
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26.  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Riversdale Mining Limited (the Parent Entity) and the following 

subsidiaries:

Name of Entity Country of 
Incorporation

Group  
Equity Interest

2010 % 2009 %

Riversdale Coal Proprietary Limited Australia 100 100

Riversdale Holdings (Proprietary) Limited South Africa 100 100

Riversdale Anthracite Colliery (Proprietary) Limited South Africa 74 74

Zululand Anthracite Colliery (Proprietary) Limited South Africa 74 74

Riversdale Connections (Proprietary) Limited South Africa 100 100

Riversdale Capital Mozambique Limitada Mozambique 100 100

Riversdale Ventures Mozambique Limitada Mozambique 100 100

ProMark Services Limited Mauritius 100 100

Riversdale Capital (Mauritius) Limited Mauritius 100 100

Riversdale Ventures (Mauritius) Limited Mauritius 100 100

Carrier Holdings Limited Mauritius 100 100

Aquatic Holdings (Mauritius) Limited Mauritius 100 -

Aquatic Holdings (Mauritius) Limited was incorporated in Mauritius on 26 August 2009.

Riversdale Mozambique Limitada and Riversdale Energy (Mauritius) Limited are jointly controlled entities.

Directors’ remuneration

Details of directors’ remuneration and loans are disclosed in the Directors’ report and note 31 to the financial statements.

27. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following reflects the profit and share data used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share:

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Net profit / (loss) used in calculating basic  
and diluted gain / (loss) per share (779) 300

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue  
used in the calculation of basic earnings per share (number) Basic 196,028,096 189,907,350

Effect of dilutive securities – Share options and rights - 8,610,394

Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue  
used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share (number) Diluted 196,028,096 198,517,744

Number of potential shares considered non-dilutive 2,774,040 7,094,267

Cents per share Cents per share

Basic earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share) (0.40) 0.16

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share) (0.40) 0.15

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in 2010 and the 2009 comparative were adjusted for the rights issue made in July and 

August 2010.

Options and share rights

Options and equity settled share rights granted to employees (Including key management personnel) as described in note 31 are 

considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share to the extent they 

are dilutive. These options and share rights have not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share. 
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for the year ended 30 June 2010

28. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE SHEET DATE

Other than noted below, no matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2010 that has significantly affected, or may  

significantly affect:

 •	The Consolidated Entity’s operations in the future financial years, or

	 •	The results of those operations in future financial years, or

	 •	The Consolidated Entity’s state of affairs in future financial years.

On the 15 July 2010 the Company launched a fully-underwritten entitlement offer and placement to facilitate accelerated development 

of the Benga Coal Project at a fixed offer price of $9.40 per share, to facilitate the accelerated development of Stages 2 and 3 of the 

Benga Coal Project.

The capital raising comprised a $102 million fully-underwritten institutional placement and a 1 for 8 fully-underwritten accelerated  

non-renounceable pro-rata entitlement offer to all eligible shareholders. The entitlement offer comprises an institutional component of 

$174 million and a retail component of $61 million. 

29. JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

The Consolidated Entity is a venturer in the following jointly controlled entities:

Name of Entity Principle Activity Interest

2010 
%

2009 
%

Riversdale Mozambique Limitada Coal Exploration in Mozambique 65 65

Riversdale Energy (Mauritius) Limited Holding Company 65 65

Riversdale’s 65% share of the above jointly controlled entities has been recorded using the proportional consolidation method.  

The amounts set out below are included in the 30 June 2010 consolidated financial statements under their respective categories.

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Income Statement

Interest income 169 8

Administration expenses (1,057) (2,104)

Foreign exchange gain / (loss) 1,102 (785)

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 11,939 1,523

Trade and other receivables 11,570 2,962

Total Current Assets 23,509 4,485

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 77,971 17,304

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 19,182 57,608

Total Non-Current Assets 97,153 74,912

Total Assets 120,662 79,397

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 9,049 4,698

Net Assets 111,613 74,699

Capital Commitments 101,578 5,358

Capital commitments represent Riversdale’s 65% share of mine development expenditure committed by Riversdale Mozambique 

Limitada on the Benga Coal Project.
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30. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$

2009 
$

Total of all remuneration received or due and receivable  
by the auditors in connection with:

Audit and review of the financial report

 Ernst & Young Australian firm 143,945 129,955

 Ernst & Young South African firm 175,174 199,592

 Ernst & Young Mozambique firm 134,566 86,895

 Ernst & Young Mauritius firm 56,676 65,575

Taxation services

 Ernst & Young Australian firm 12,800 34,940

 Ernst & Young Mozambique firm - 40,747

523,161 557,704

31. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$

2009 
$

Short-term employee benefits 4,522,642 6,267,925

Post-employment benefits 160,605 189,113

Share-based payments 5,917,815 8,719,755

Cash settled share rights 1,109,083 -

11,710,145 15,176,793

(b) Transactions with key management personnel

There were no related transactions carried out during the reporting period between any of the key management personnel and  

the Company or its subsidiaries other than in connection with their role as employees or directors other than as disclosed in this  

financial report. 

Legal fees amounting to $27,359 (2009: $68,220) were paid to Gilbert + Tobin, lawyers during the financial year. Gary Lawler is  

a senior partner of Gilbert + Tobin. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



84

for the year ended 30 June 2010

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF  
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONT’D)

(c) Movements in key management personnel equity holdings

Ordinary Shares

Year Ended 
30 June 2010

Holding at  
30 June 09

Acquired Exercise of 
options

Other 
changes

Sold Holding at 
30 June 10

Directors

M. O’Keeffe 3,026,499 - 1,500,000 a - (1,200,000) 3,326,499

S. Mallyon - 5,000 - - - 5,000

A. Love 530,080 - 100,000 b - (25,000) 605,080

G. Lawler 105,000 - - - - 105,000

T. Redman - 1,800 - - - 1,800

Executives

N. Lenahan 500,000 - 1,400,000 c - (500,000) 1,400,000

S. Thomas 20,200 - 60,000 d - (60,000) 20,200

A. Engelbrecht - 1,690 10,000 e (10,000) 1,690

J. Coleman 2,000 - - - - 2,000

a  300,000 options were exercised on 31 August 2009 when the Company’s share price was $6.18, 200,000 options were 
exercised on 14 September 2009 when the Company’s share price was $5.82 and 1,000,000 options were exercised on  
1 March 2010 when the Company’s share price was $7.59.

b  100,000 options were exercised on 10 November 2009 when the Company’s share price was $5.55.
c  700,000 options were exercised on 1 December 2009 when the Company’s share price was $6.06 and 700,000 

options were exercised on 1 March 2010 when the Company’s share price was $7.59.
d  60,000 options were exercised on 8 March 2010 when the Company’s share price was $8.36.
e  10,000 options were exercised on 24 February 2010 when the Company’s share price was $7.97.
f  50,000 options were exercised on 31 August 2009 when the Company’s share price was $6.18 and 60,000 options were 

exercised on 8 March 2010 when the Company’s share price was $8.36.

Ordinary Shares

Year Ended  
30 June 2009

Holding at  
30 June 08

Acquired Exercise of 
options

Other changes Sold Holding at  
30 June 09

Directors

M. O’Keeffe 2,626,499 - 500,000 a - (100,000) 3,026,499

R. Potts 20,000 - 400,000 b (420,000) - -

A. Love 380,080 - 250,000 d - (100,000) 530,080

G. Lawler - - - 105,000 - 105,000

Executives

N. Lenahan 50,000 - 600,000 c - (150,000) 500,000

S. Thomas 8,000 12,200 - - - 20,200

J. Coleman 2,000 - - - - 2,000

A. Monk 3,000 5,000 40,000 e - (8,000) 40,000

J. Jonker - 2,000 - - - 2,000

a  500,000 options were exercised on 26 May 2009 when the Company’s share price was $6.50.
b  300,000 options were exercised on 19 December 2008 when the Company’s share price was $2.15.
c  100,000 options were exercised on 4 August 2008 when the Company’s share price was $9.42 and 500,000 options were exercised 

on 4 September 2008 when the Company’s share price was $9.01.
d  125,000 options were exercised on 2 October 2008 when the Company’s share price was $8.55 and 125,000 options were exercised 

on 20 May 2009 when the Company’s share price was $6.04.
e  40,000 options were exercised on 7 May 2009 when the Company’s share price was $5.97.
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31. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONT’D)

Options

Year Ended  
30 June 10

Holding at  
30 June 09

Acquired Exercise  
of options

Other changes Holding at  
30 June 10

Exercisable  
30 June 10

Directors

M. O’Keeffe 3,850,000 - (1,500,000) - 2,350,000 400,000

A. Love 300,000 - (100,000) - 200,000 200,000

S. Mallyon 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 200,000

Executives

N. Lenahan 2,688,333 (1,400,000) - 1,288,333 236,667

S. Thomas 330,000 - (60,000) - 270,000 160,000

A. Engelbrecht 130,000 - (10,000) - 120,000 10,000

R. Bardien 130,000 - - - 130,000 20,000

J. Coleman 390,000 - - - 390,000 60,000

Options

During the financial year options were granted as equity compensation benefits under the long-term incentive plan to certain key 

management personnel. The options were issued free of charge.

Year Ended  
30 June 09

Holding at  
30 June 08

Acquired Exercise  
of options

Other  
changes

Holding at  
30 June 09

Exercisable  
30 June 09

Directors

M. O’Keeffe 3,000,000 1,750,000 (500,000) (400,000) a 3,850,000 1,500,000

R. Potts 400,000 - (400,000) - - -

A. Love 550,000 - (250,000) - 300,000 300,000

S. Mallyon - 1,500,000 - (200,000) a 1,300,000 -

Executives

N. Lenahan 3,000,000 525,000 (600,000) (236,667) a 2,688,333 1,400,000

P. Snyders 200,000 - - (200,000) - -

S. Thomas 200,000 150,000 - (20,000) a 330,000 200,000

A. Engelbrecht - 150,000 - (20,000) a 130,000 -

R. Bardien - 150,000 - (20,000) a 130,000 -

S. Parkhouse 250,000 450,000 - (700,000) - -

J. Coleman - 450,000 - (60,000) a 390,000 -

A. Monk 150,000 350,000 (40,000) (46,667) a 413,333 110,000

J. Jonker - 350,000 - (46,667) a 303,333 -

a  These options were subject to the completion of a Bankable Feasibility Study for the Benga Project located in Mozambique by 

31 March 2009 and on a retest by 30 June 2009. This requirement was not achieved and as a result the options lapsed and were 

cancelled. The value of these options at the time of lapse is disclosed on page 33 of the director’s report.

Further details on options term, condition and vesting conditions are disclosed in the Director’s Report and in note 21.F
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for the year ended 30 June 2010

31. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONT’D)

Share Rights

During the financial year share rights were granted as equity compensation benefits under the long-term incentive plan to certain key 

management personnel. The share rights were issued free of charge.

Year Ended 
30 June 10

Holding at 
30 June 09

Acquired Holding at 
30 June 10

Exercisable 
30 June 10

Directors

M. O’Keeffe - 100,000 100,000 -

S. Mallyon - 150,000 150,000 -

Executives

N. Lenahan - 50,000 50,000 -

S. Thomas - 50,000 50,000 -

A. Engelbrecht - 50,000 50,000 -

R. Bardien - 35,000 35,000 -

J. Coleman - 50,000 50,000 -

Share Appreciation Rights

During the financial year share appreciation rights were granted as equity compensation benefits under the long-term incentive plan  

to certain key management personnel. The share appreciation rights were issued free of charge.

Year Ended 
30 June 10

Holding at  
30 June 09

Acquired Holding at 
30 June 10

Exercisable 
30 June 10

Directors

M. O’Keeffe - 250,000 250,000 -

S. Mallyon - 350,000 350,000 -

Executives

N. Lenahan - 100,000 100,000 -

S. Thomas - 100,000 100,000 -

A. Engelbrecht - 100,000 100,000 -

R. Bardien - 75,000 75,000 -

J. Coleman - 100,000 100,000 -

(d) Loans to Key Management Personnel

A loan of $500,000 was made to J. Coleman during the year ended 30 June 2008. This loan is repayable in 5 years with interest payable 

at commercial home loan variable rates. Interest charged on the loan during the year amounts to $29,405 (2009: $36,290).
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32. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

Information relating to Riversdale Mining Limited:

Consolidated Entity

2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

Current assets 212,849 284,966

Total assets 489,832 467,999

Current liabilities 1,497 2,275

Total liabilities 3,469 2,815

Issued capital 413,646 387,564

Retained earnings 56,889 62,486

Share based payment reserve 15,616 8,833

Option issue reserve 212 6,301

Total shareholders’ equity 486,363 465,184

Profit / (loss) of the parent entity (5,597) (1,360)

Total comprehensive income / (loss) of the parent entity (5,597) (1,360)

Riversdale Mining Limited has issued a letter of support to Sedgman Limited for the Consolidated Entity’s 65% of the Benga coal 

handling and processing plant.
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DIRECTORS’ 
DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Riversdale Mining Limited, we state that:

In the opinion of the directors:

 (a)  the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

   (i)  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year 

ended on that date; and

   (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001; 

 (b)  the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2; and 

 (c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 

payable. 

 (d)  this declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance with section 

295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ending 30 June 2010.

On behalf of the Board

 

M O’KEEFFE

Executive Chairman

S. MALLYON

Managing Director

Dated: 23 August 2010
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INDEpENDENT  
AuDITOR’S REpORT

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Riversdale Mining Limited

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Riversdale Mining Limited, which comprises the statement of financial position 

as at 30 June 2010, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 

year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the Directors’ declaration of the 

consolidated entity comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the 

Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility 

includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 

accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 2(b), the Directors also state that the financial report, comprising 

the financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 

Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 

engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material 

misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The 

procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, 

whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation 

and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit we have met the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We have given to the Directors of 

the Company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a copy of which is included in the Directors’ report. In addition to our audit 

of the financial report, we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The provision of 

these services has not impaired our independence.
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INDEpENDENT  
AuDITOR’S REpORT

Auditor’s Opinion

 In our opinion: 

1.  the financial report of Riversdale Mining Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

  i  giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year 

ended on that date; and

  ii  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the  

Corporations Regulations 2001.

2.  the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting  

Standards Board.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2010. The Directors of the 

Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the 

Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 

accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Riversdale Mining Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, complies with section 300A of 

the Corporations Act 2001. 

Ernst & Young

Michael Elliott

Partner

Sydney

23 August 2010

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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5 YEAR OpERATIONAL  
AND FINANCIAL HISTORY

Year ended 30 June 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

OPERATIONS* (Tonnes)

Run of mine coal production 753,600 809,259 917,622 799,196 741,144 

Saleable coal production

 Prime low ash 493,433 565,377 607,024  518,751 433,791 

 Middlings 151,536 140,971 128,193  142,466 126,996 

 Total 644,969 706,348 735,217  661,217 560,787 

Coal Sales

 Prime low ash 635,075 505,831 551,904  531,241 463,076 

 Middlings 218,014 56,965 118,432  254,754 39,627 

 Total 853,089 562,796 670,336  785,995 502,703 

Yield (%) 82.3% 83.9% 80.3% 79.6% 78.1%

Number of employees 951 790 854 817 756 

* 100%, Riversdale Share 74%

Year ended 30 June 2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue 97,520 67,784  69,825  72,020  34,834 

Cost of sales (81,683) (48,590)  (53,618)  (58,048)  (27,856)

Gross profit 15,837 19,194  16,207  13,972   6,978 

Other income 15,314 20,233  16,053   3,255  1,848 

Negative goodwill - -  -  -  33,998 

Net gain on part disposal of investment - - 83,266 - -

Administration expenses (9,027) (9,235)  (5,623)  (3,751)  (2,651)

Other expenses (19,226) (20,450)  (12,805)  (2,373)  (4,590)

Finance costs - -  (264)  (1,101)  (906)

Profit before income tax 2,898 9,742  96,834  10,002  34,677 

Income tax expense (1,563) (7,023)  (2,975)  (3,009)  (183)

Profit after income tax 1,335 2,719  93,859   6,993  34,494 

Profit / (loss) attributable to members of the parent (779) 300  92,355   5,017  25,292 

Basic earnings / (loss) per share (Cents per Share) (0.40) 0.16  54.51  3.64  31.73 

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (Cents per Share) (0.40) 0.15  49.76   3.52   29.81 

Year ended 30 June 2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

CASH FLOWS

Net cash from operating activities 28,128 19,295  16,537  18,183   2,337 

Net cash (used in) / provided by investing activities (91,421) (79,424)  49,153  (18,695)  (16,854)

Net cash (used in) / provided by financing activities 18,963 3,024  233,589  (2,910)  64,419 
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5 YEAR OpERATIONAL  
AND FINANCIAL HISTORY

At 30 June 2010 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2007 
$’000

2006 
$’000

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 247,341 290,279  347,828  49,049  53,271 

Trade and other receivables 28,030 14,049  11,530   9,535   7,614 

Inventories 11,111 26,200  11,256  10,846  14,028 

Total current assets 286,482 330,528  370,614  69,430  74,913 

Non-Current Assets

Receivables and other financial assets 5,188 5,547   3,542   7,063   7,586 

Deferred tax assets 7,313 7,811   6,649   6,293   7,557 

Property, plant and equipment 152,129 89,065   37,126   46,764  48,132 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 114,096 134,884  101,026  43,152   2,693 

Total non-current assets 278,726 237,307  148,343  103,272   65,968 

Total assets 565,208 567,835  518,957  172,702  140,881 

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 24,899 25,492  13,063  12,579   9,866 

Income tax payable / (receivable) (3,006) (229)    1,686   1,767  - 

Borrowings 99 103     85   4,838   4,586 

Provisions 2,033 2,374   1,311    1,510   1,503 

Total current liabilities 24,025 27,740  16,145  20,694  15,955 

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings - -  -     229   5,563 

Other Payables 1,109 - - - -

Provisions 17,954 17,005   8,351   9,219  10,982 

Deferred tax liabilities 16,038 16,378  10,281  12,864  13,916 

Total non-current liabilities 35,101 33,383  18,632  22,312  30,461 

Total liabilities 59,126 61,123  34,777  43,006  46,416 

Net assets 506,082 506,712  484,180  129,696  94,465 

Equity

Contributed equity 413,646 387,564  383,495  104,538  82,922 

Retained earnings 102,060 102,839  102,539  10,184   5,167 

Reserves (27,342) 238  (15,506)  2,826  (3,796)

Equity attributable holders of the parent 488,364 490,641  470,528  117,548  84,293

Non-controlling interest 17,718 16,071  13,652  12,148  10,172 

Total equity 506,082 506,712  484,180  129,696  94,465 

Number  
‘000

Number  
‘000

Number  
‘000

Number  
‘000

Number  
‘000

Ordinary shares 200,118 189,524 187,219 143,852 128,802 

Options over ordinary shares 7,128 17,573 15,553  23,725  8,825 

Share rights over ordinary shares 555 - - - -

Share appreciation rights over ordinary shares 1,125 - - - -
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SHAREHOLDER  
INFORMATION 

ORDINARY SHARES, OPTIONS AND SHARE RIGHTS

There were 236,013,688 ordinary shares, 7,127,500 options, 555,000 share rights and 1,125,000 share appreciation rights for ordinary 

shares at 17 August 2010.

(a) Distribution of Shareholders

  (i) Analysis of number of shareholders by size and holding:

Category of Shareholding Number of Shareholders Shareholding

       1 - 1,000 2,052 819,530

1,001 - 5,000 1,097 2,589,766

 5,001 - 10,000 276 1,992,084

 10,001 - 100,000 400 11,367,141

100,001 - and over 76 219,245,167

Total 3,901 236,013,688

  (ii) There are 193 holders of ordinary shares each holding less than a marketable parcel. 

(b) Top Twenty Shareholders

The twenty largest holders of ordinary fully paid shares are listed below:

Name Number %

Tata Steel Global Minerals Holdings Pte Ltd 49,909,986 21.15

CSN Europe Lda 36,835,805 15.61

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Ltd – Account 2 21,288,033 9.02

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Ltd 17,875,527 7.57

ANZ Nominees Ltd 16,321,372 6.92

Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 12,070,079 5.11

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Ltd – GSCO ECA 11,977,157 5.07

National Nominees Ltd 10,832,780 4.59

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Ltd 7,226,458 3.06

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 5,096,954 2.16

Mr William Michael O’Keeffe 3,326,499 1.41

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 2,328,278 0.99

UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 2,071,882 0.88

Mr Niall Lenahan 1,400,000 0.59

CS Fourth Nominees Pty Ltd 1,211,722 0.51

AMP Life Limited 1,104,988 0.47

Munz Custodians Pty Ltd <Munz Super Fund A/C> 1,102,488 0.47

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Ltd – Account 3 1,087,445 0.46

Mr Darren Morcombe 968,109 0.42

Mr Jose Manuel Do Rego Medeiros 955,000 0.40

Total 204,990,562 86.86

Remainder 31,023,126 13.14

236,013,688 100.00
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SHAREHOLDER 
INFORMATION 

(c) Substantial Shareholders

As at 17 August 2010, the Company had received the following substantial shareholder notices:

Date Entity Shareholding %

23 Feb 10 Tata Steel Global Minerals Holdings Pte Ltd 42,319,013 21.70%

24 Nov 09 CSN Europe Limitada 31,233,327 16.29%

28 July 10 Passport Capital 31,391,255 15.69%

(d) Voting Rights

All ordinary fully paid shares carry one vote per share without restriction.

(e) Interest in Tenements

The Company has the following interests in mining, prospecting and exploration tenements at 30 June 2010:

Location Ownership Subsidiary Size (Hectares)

Tete Province - Mozambique 65% Riversdale Mozambique 25,000

Tete Province - Mozambique 100% Riversdale Capital Mozambique 53,220

Tete Province - Mozambique 100% Riversdale Ventures Mozambique 168,280

Manica Province - Mozambique 100% Riversdale Ventures Mozambique 1,900

Niassa Province - Mozambique 100% Riversdale Ventures Mozambique 8,280

Kwa-Zulu Natal – South Africa 74% Zululand Anthracite Colliery 27,113

Kwa-Zulu Natal – South Africa 74% Riversdale Anthracite Colliery 3,008
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 CORpORATE 
DIRECTORY

REGISTERED OFFICE AND PLACE OF BUSINESS

Level 1,

50 Margaret Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Telephone: +61 2 8299 7900

Facsimile: +61 2 8299 7999

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young

Ernst & Young Centre

680 George Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

BANKERS

Westpac Banking Corporation

60 Martin Place

SYDNEY NSW 2000

HSBC Bank

580 George Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

SHARE REGISTRY

Computershare

GPO Box 2975

Melbourne VIC 8060

Telephone Aust: 1300 855 080

Telephone Outside Aust: +61 3 9415 5000

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Riversdale Mining Limited’s shares are listed on the  

Australian Stock Exchange, ASX code: RIV. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

William Michael O’Keeffe

Executive Chairman

Steve Mallyon

Managing Director

Andrew Love

Non Executive Deputy Chairman 

Gary Lawler

Non Executive Director

Tony Redman

Non Executive Director

Narendra Misra

Non Executive Director

SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Niall Lenahan

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Steve Thomas

Chief Financial Officer - Africa

Andries Engelbrecht

Chief Operating Officer - Africa

Roshnee Bardien

Group General Manager Human  

Resources and Industrial Relations

Jim Coleman

Project Development Manager

COMPANY SECRETARY

Niall Lenahan

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.riversdalemining.com.au F
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